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Unaudited
March 31,

2018
September 30,

2017

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,846,574 $ 69,640
Accounts receivable (less allowance for uncollectibles of $339,186 and $99,456,
respectively) 8,769,365 3,492,703
Materials and supplies 1,148,522 1,021,191
Gas in storage 1,867,909 7,701,894
Prepaid income taxes — 1,796,825
Interest rate swap 74,342 26,777
Other 1,825,888 1,576,574

Total current assets 18,532,600 15,685,604
UTILITY PROPERTY:

In service 208,220,936 204,223,714
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (61,341,382) (59,765,987)

In service, net 146,879,554 144,457,727
Construction work in progress 8,715,343 3,470,244

Utility plant, net 155,594,897 147,927,971
OTHER ASSETS:

Regulatory assets 11,803,415 11,796,260
Investment in unconsolidated affiliate 11,980,606 7,445,106
Interest rate swap 192,049 90,066
Other 425,339 190,064

          Total other assets 24,401,409 19,521,496
TOTAL ASSETS $ 198,528,906 $ 183,135,071
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Unaudited
March 31,

2018
September 30,

2017

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Dividends payable $ 1,235,997 $ 1,050,281
Accounts payable 5,453,483 5,122,899
Capital contributions payable 1,445,836 1,055,504
Customer credit balances 550,021 1,220,578
Income taxes payable 84,570 —
Customer deposits 1,540,157 1,471,960
Accrued expenses 2,559,454 3,006,936
Over-recovery of gas costs 2,398,780 1,438,074
Rate refund 821,343 —

Total current liabilities 16,089,641 14,366,232
LONG-TERM DEBT:

Notes payable 55,763,200 43,812,200
Line-of-credit — 17,791,760
Less unamortized debt issuance costs (272,884) (291,949)
                 Long-term debt net of unamortized debt issuance costs 55,490,316 61,312,011

DEFERRED CREDITS AND OTHER LIABILITIES:
Asset retirement obligations 6,199,822 6,069,993
Regulatory cost of retirement obligations 10,601,801 10,055,189
Benefit plan liabilities 7,701,834 8,214,326
Deferred income taxes 11,403,992 23,076,848
Regulatory liability - deferred income taxes 11,742,274 —

          Total deferred credits and other liabilities 47,649,723 47,416,356
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:

Common stock, $5 par value; authorized 10,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding
7,975,392 and 7,240,846, respectively 39,876,960 36,204,230
Preferred stock, no par, authorized 5,000,000 shares; no shares issued and
outstanding — —
Capital in excess of par value 12,617,409 292,485
Retained earnings 27,909,201 24,746,021
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1,104,344) (1,202,264)

Total stockholders’ equity 79,299,226 60,040,472
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY $ 198,528,906 $ 183,135,071

See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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  Three Months Ended March 31, Six Months Ended March 31,
  2018 2017 2018 2017

OPERATING REVENUES:
Gas utilities $ 24,608,576 $ 21,662,624 $ 43,128,570 $ 40,174,957
Other 309,397 237,389 545,454 513,641

Total operating revenues 24,917,973 21,900,013 43,674,024 40,688,598
COST OF SALES:

Gas utilities 13,743,277 10,936,248 23,304,683 20,183,100
Other 167,987 134,035 289,197 284,863

Total cost of sales 13,911,264 11,070,283 23,593,880 20,467,963
GROSS MARGIN 11,006,709 10,829,730 20,080,144 20,220,635
OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES:

Operations and maintenance 3,458,256 3,193,526 6,655,367 6,585,354
General taxes 506,857 481,268 973,179 922,342
Depreciation and amortization 1,734,878 1,565,729 3,469,756 3,141,457

Total other operating expenses 5,699,991 5,240,523 11,098,302 10,649,153
OPERATING INCOME 5,306,718 5,589,207 8,981,842 9,571,482
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliate 191,513 93,625 340,324 178,165
Other (income) expense, net (11,315) 10,570 4,817 14,282
Interest expense 633,186 469,480 1,245,831 928,001
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES 4,876,360 5,202,782 8,071,518 8,807,364
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 1,410,431 1,977,583 2,546,127 3,349,947
NET INCOME $ 3,465,929 $ 3,225,199 $ 5,525,391 $ 5,457,417
BASIC EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE $ 0.47 $ 0.45 $ 0.76 $ 0.76
DILUTED EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE $ 0.47 $ 0.45 $ 0.75 $ 0.76
DIVIDENDS DECLARED PER COMMON SHARE $ 0.1550 $ 0.1450 $ 0.3100 $ 0.2900

See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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  Three Months Ended March 31, Six Months Ended March 31,
  2018 2017 2018 2017

NET INCOME $ 3,465,929 $ 3,225,199 $ 5,525,391 $ 5,457,417
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:

Interest rate swap 61,773 3,508 106,418 98,636
Defined benefit plans (4,249) 39,742 (8,498) 79,484

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME, NET OF TAX 57,524 43,250 97,920 178,120
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME $ 3,523,453 $ 3,268,449 $ 5,623,311 $ 5,635,537

See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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  Six Months Ended March 31,
  2018 2017

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income $ 5,525,391 $ 5,457,417
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 3,531,558 3,202,180
Cost of removal of utility plant, net (126,686) (145,543)
Stock option grants — 49,188
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliate (340,324) (178,165)
Changes in assets and liabilities which used cash, exclusive of changes and noncash
transactions shown separately 2,058,589 3,259,071

Net cash provided by operating activities 10,648,528 11,644,148
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Additions to utility plant and nonutility property (10,065,690) (11,397,451)
Investment in unconsolidated affiliate (3,804,844) (920,036)
Proceeds from disposal of equipment 18,541 9,639

Net cash used in investing activities (13,851,993) (12,307,848)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from issuance of notes payable 11,951,000 8,000,000
Borrowings under line-of-credit agreement 19,533,761 21,425,539
Repayments under line-of-credit agreement (37,325,521) (27,521,746)
Debt issuance costs — (16,674)
Proceeds from issuance of stock (734,546 and 41,995 shares, respectively) 15,997,654 698,922
Cash dividends paid (2,176,495) (2,019,492)

Net cash provided by financing activities 7,980,399 566,549
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 4,776,934 (97,151)
BEGINNING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 69,640 643,252
ENDING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS $ 4,846,574 $ 546,101
SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION:

Interest paid $ 1,014,517 $ 840,843
Income taxes paid 635,000 (175,000)

See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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CONDENSED NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
UNAUDITED

1. Basis of Presentation

RGC Resources, Inc. is an energy services company primarily engaged in the sale and distribution of natural gas. The 
consolidated financial statements include the accounts of RGC Resources, Inc. ("Resources" or the "Company") and its 
wholly owned subsidiaries: Roanoke Gas Company; Diversified Energy Company; and RGC Midstream, LLC.

In the opinion of management, the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements contain all 
adjustments (consisting of only normal recurring accruals) necessary to present fairly Resources' financial position as of 
March 31, 2018 and the results of its operations, cash flows and comprehensive income for the three and six months ended 
March 31, 2018 and 2017. The results of operations for the three and six months ended March 31, 2018 are not indicative 
of the results to be expected for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2018 as quarterly earnings are affected by the highly 
seasonal nature of the business and weather conditions generally result in greater earnings during the winter months.

The unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements and condensed notes are presented as permitted under 
the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission. Pursuant to those rules, certain information and note 
disclosures normally included in the annual financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles have been condensed or omitted, although the Company believes that the disclosures are adequate to 
make the information not misleading. Therefore, the condensed consolidated financial statements and condensed notes 
should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes contained in the Company’s Form 10-K for the year 
ended September 30, 2017. The September 30, 2017 balance sheet was included in the Company’s audited financial 
statements included in Form 10-K.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of 
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

The Company’s significant accounting policies are described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements in Form 10-
K for the year ended September 30, 2017. Newly adopted and newly issued accounting standards are discussed below.

Recently Issued or Adopted Accounting Standards

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) that affects any entity that 
enters into contracts with customers for the transfer of goods or services or transfer of non-financial assets.  This guidance 
supersedes the revenue recognition requirements in Topic 605, Revenue Recognition, and most industry-specific guidance.  
The core principle of the new guidance is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or 
services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for 
those goods or services.  To achieve that core principle, an entity should apply the following steps: (1) identify the contract 
with the customer, (2) identify the performance obligations in the contract, (3) determine the transaction price, (4) allocate 
the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract, and (5) recognize revenue when, or as, the entity satisfies 
the performance obligation. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-14 that deferred the effective date of this guidance 
by one year making the standard effective for the Company's annual reporting period ending September 30, 2019 and interim 
periods within that annual period. As of March 31, 2018, the Company is not anticipating a material impact to its financial 
position, results of operations or cash flows upon adoption; however, it anticipates the potential for significant new disclosures 
as a result of the guidance. The Company plans to adopt the new guidance in the first quarter of Fiscal 2019 using the modified 
retrospective approach. 

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01, Financial Instruments - Overall: Recognition and Measurement of Financial 
Assets and Financial Liabilities. The ASU enhances the reporting model for financial instruments to provide users of the 
financial statements with more useful information through several provisions, including the following: (1) requires equity 
investments, excluding investments accounted for under the equity method, be measured at fair value with changes in fair 
value recognized in net income, (2) simplifies the impairment assessment of equity investments without readily determinable 
fair values, (3) eliminates the requirement to disclose the method(s) and significant assumptions used to estimate the fair value 
that is required to be disclosed for financial instruments measured at amortized cost on the balance sheet, (4) requires entities 
to use the exit price notion when measuring the fair value of financial instruments for disclosure purposes, and (5) requires 
separate presentation of financial assets and financial liabilities by measurement category and form of financial asset on the 
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balance sheet or the accompanying notes to the financial statements. The new guidance is effective for the Company for the 
annual reporting period ending September 30, 2019 and interim periods within that annual period. Management has not 
completed its evaluation of the new guidance. However, the Company does not currently expect the new guidance to have a 
material effect on its financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases. The ASU leaves the accounting for leases mostly unchanged for 
lessors, with the exception of targeted improvements for consistency; however, the new guidance requires lessees to recognize 
assets and liabilities for leases with terms of more than 12 months. The ASU also revises the definition of a lease as a contract, 
or part of a contract, that conveys the right to control the use of identified property, plant or equipment for a period of time 
in exchange for consideration. Consistent with current GAAP, the presentation and cash flows arising from a lease by a lessee 
will primarily depend on its classification as a finance or operating lease. In contrast, the new ASU requires both types of 
leases to be recognized on the balance sheet. In addition, the new guidance includes quantitative and qualitative disclosure 
requirements to aid financial statement users in better understanding the amount, timing and uncertainty of cash flows arising 
from leases. The new guidance is effective for the Company for the annual reporting period ending September 30, 2020 and 
interim periods within that annual period. Early adoption is permitted.  Management has not completed its evaluation of the 
new guidance; however, the Company has completed its inventory of leases and does not currently expect the new guidance 
to have a material effect on its financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-03, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections and Investments - Equity Method 
and Joint Ventures. This update adds the text of the SEC Staff Announcement, Disclosure of the Impact That Recently Issued 
Accounting Standards Will Have on the Financial Statements of a Registrant When Such Standards Are Adopted in a Future 
Period (in accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin Topic 11.M) as paragraph 250-10-S99-6. Related specifically to ASU 
2014-09, ASU 2016-02 and ASU 2016-13, an SEC registrant should evaluate ASUs that have not yet been adopted to determine 
and include appropriate financial disclosures and MD&A discussions, including consideration of additional qualitative 
disclosures, to assist financial statement readers in assessing the significance of impact on adoption. The new guidance is 
effective immediately. The nature of this guidance relates to the effectiveness and quality of disclosures related to ASUs not 
yet adopted; however, there is no effect on the Company's financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In March 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-07, Compensation - Retirement Benefits. The primary objective of this guidance 
is to improve the financial statement presentation of net periodic pension and postretirement benefit costs; however, it also 
changes which cost components are eligible for capitalization. The amendments in the ASU require that an employer report 
the service cost component in the same line item or items as other compensation costs arising from services rendered by the 
employees during the period. The other components of net benefit cost are required to be presented in the income statement 
separately from the service cost component and, if a subtotal for income from operations is presented, outside of income from 
operations.  In addition, the ASU allows only the service cost component of periodic benefit cost to be eligible for capitalization 
when applicable. This change to capitalization eligibility differs from the treatment currently applied by the Company. The 
new guidance is effective for the Company for the annual reporting period ending September 30, 2019 and interim periods 
within that annual period. Early adoption is permitted. Management is in the process of evaluating the new guidance. The 
regulatory body in the Company's service jurisdiction requires the capitalization of all cost components included in net benefit 
costs. As a result, the Company may have to establish regulatory assets for those costs now excluded from capitalization under 
this ASU. The Company is in discussions with its regulatory body, the State Corporation Commission of Virginia, regarding 
the expected treatment of those costs. Although the ultimate disposition of these other components of net periodic benefit 
costs has not been determined, management expects the new guidance may have a material effect on the Company's consolidated 
financial statements when adopted.

In August 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-12, Derivatives and Hedging: Targeted Improvements to Accounting For 
Hedging Activities. The ASU is meant to simplify recognition and presentation guidance in an effort to improve financial 
reporting of cash flow and fair value hedging relationships to better portray the economic results of an entity's risk 
management activities. This is achieved through changes to both the designation and measurement guidance for qualifying 
hedging relationships, as well as changes to the presentation of hedge results. The new guidance is effective for the 
Company for the annual reporting period ending September 30, 2020 and interim periods within that annual period. Early 
adoption is permitted. Management has not completed its evaluation of the new guidance; however, it does not currently 
expect the new guidance to have a material effect on its financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In February 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-02, Income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive Income (Topic 220) - 
Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income. The ASU provides the option to 
reclassify stranded tax effects within AOCI to retained earnings in each period in which the effects of the change in the 
U.S. federal corporate income tax rate, per the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, is recorded. The new guidance is effective for the 
Company for the annual reporting period ending September 30, 2020 and interim periods within that annual period. Early 
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adoption is permitted. Management has not completed its evaluation of the new guidance; however, it believes the new 
guidance will improve the presentation of AOCI by removing the stranded tax effects related to tax reform and transferring 
the amount to retained earnings.  Management does not currently expect the new guidance to have a material effect on its 
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Other accounting standards that have been issued by the FASB or other standard-setting bodies are not currently applicable 
to the Company or are not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or 
cash flows.

2. Stock Issue

In March 2018, the Company issued 700,000 shares of common stock resulting in proceeds of $15,114,823 net of 
underwriting and other expenses.   The Company issued the common stock to strengthen its balance sheet by increasing the 
equity component of its total capitalization ratio.  The net proceeds were invested in Roanoke Gas to supplement the 
funding of its infrastructure improvement and replacement programs.  

3. Income Taxes

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, ("Tax Act") became law.   The most significant impact of the new law 
is the reduction of the maximum corporate federal income tax rate from 35% to 21% beginning January 1, 2018.  As the 
Company is a fiscal year taxpayer, the Company will have a transition or blended rate of 24.3% determined based on the 
number of days of the Company's fiscal year at 34% and the number of days in the year at 21%.  

Under the provisions of ASC 740 - Income Taxes, the deferred tax assets and liabilities of the Company must be revalued 
to reflect the reduction in the federal tax rate. Furthermore, revaluing the deferred tax balances to the ultimate 21% federal 
tax rate required the Company to project the deferred tax activity for the balance of the year and to estimate the impact to 
current taxes based on the valuation adjustments to this activity.

In accordance with the guidance provided by the SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin ("SAB") 118, the Company has made 
reasonable estimates of the effect of the tax rate change on its deferred tax assets and liabilities.  The Company has reduced 
the net deferred tax liability by $11,533,986 to revalue the liability from a 34% federal tax rate to a 21% federal tax rate.  
$11,742,274 related to Roanoke Gas and was reclassified to a regulatory liability as discussed in Note 4, while $208,288 
was charged to income tax expense during the first quarter related to the unregulated operations of the Company.  These 
estimates are subject to further clarification of provisions of the Tax Act and regulatory approvals from Roanoke Gas' 
regulatory body. 

4. Rates and Regulatory Matters

The State Corporation Commission of Virginia (“SCC”) exercises regulatory authority over the natural gas operations of 
Roanoke Gas. Such regulation encompasses terms, conditions and rates to be charged to customers for natural gas service; 
safety standards; extension of service; and accounting and depreciation.

As referenced in Note 3, the Tax Act provides for a reduction in the federal corporate tax rate to 21%.  The Company has 
revalued its deferred tax assets and liabilities to reflect the new federal tax rate.  Under the provisions of ASC 740, the 
corresponding adjustment to deferred income taxes generally flows through to income tax expense.  For rate regulated 
entities such as Roanoke Gas, these excess deferred taxes were originally recovered from its customers based on billing 
rates derived using a federal income tax rate of 34%.  Therefore, the adjustment to the net deferred tax liabilities of 
Roanoke Gas, to the extent such net deferred tax liabilities are attributable to rate base or cost of service for customers, are 
refundable to customers. Roanoke Gas established a regulatory liability in the amount of $11,742,274 related to these 
excess deferred income taxes.

With the implementation of the Tax Act, the Company has a blended federal tax rate of 24.3% for the current fiscal year. 
On January 8, 2018, the SCC issued a directive requiring the accrual of a regulatory liability for excess revenues collected 
from customers attributable to the higher federal income tax rate, currently included as a component of customer billing 
rates, until such time as the SCC approves lower billing rates incorporating the lower tax rate.  As of March 31, 2018, the 
Company recorded a reduction to revenue and established a regulatory liability in the amount of $821,343 reflecting the 
estimated excess revenue collected from customers since October 1, 2017.  The reduction in the estimated excess revenues 
is expected to correlate with a similar reduction in corporate income tax expense for the regulated operations of Roanoke 
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Gas for the fiscal year.  However, the impact to revenues and tax expense on a quarterly basis is subject to variability and 
will result in variations in net income with the corresponding quarters in the prior fiscal year.  This refund of excess 
revenue as well as the regulatory liability related to the excess deferred taxes on Roanoke Gas are estimates based on the 
best information currently available.  These estimates will be adjusted as necessary in future financial statements once the 
SCC completes their review and issues a final order.  The amount and timing of the refunds will ultimately be determined 
by the SCC.

5. Other Investments

In October 2015, the Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, RGC Midstream, LLC ("Midstream"), acquired a 1% 
equity interest in the Mountain Valley Pipeline, LLC (the “LLC”). 

The LLC was established to construct and operate a natural gas pipeline originating in northern West Virginia and 
extending through south central Virginia. The proposed pipeline will have the capacity to transport approximately 2 million 
decatherms of natural gas per day.  The pipeline has received Federal Energy Regulatory Commission ("FERC") approval 
and construction activities are currently underway.

The total project cost is estimated to be approximately $3.5 billion.  The Company's 1% equity interest in the LLC will 
require a total estimated cash investment of approximately $35 million, by periodic capital contributions throughout the 
design and construction phases of the project.  On a quarterly basis, the LLC issues a capital call notice, which specifies 
the capital contributions to be paid over the subsequent 3 months.  As of March 31, 2018, the Company had $1,445,836 
remaining to be paid under the most recent notice. The capital contribution payable has been reflected on the Company's 
balance sheet as of March 31, 2018, with a corresponding increase to Investment in unconsolidated affiliate.  Related to 
capital contributions payable, there was a non-cash $390,332 increase in the Investment in unconsolidated affiliate in the 
six months ended March 31, 2018. Initial funding for Midstream's investment in the LLC is provided through two 
unsecured promissory notes, each with a 5-year term.

The Company is participating in the earnings of the LLC in proportion to its level of investment. The Company is utilizing 
the equity method to account for the transactions and activity of the investment.

The financial statement locations of the investment in the LLC are as follows:

Balance Sheet Location of Other Investments: March 31, 2018 September 30, 2017

Other Assets:
     Investment in unconsolidated affiliate $ 11,980,606 $ 7,445,106

Current Liabilities:
     Capital contributions payable $ 1,445,836 $ 1,055,504

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

Income Statement Location of Other Investments: March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

    Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliate $ 191,513 $ 93,625 $ 340,324 $ 178,165

6. Derivatives and Hedging

The Company’s risk management policy allows management to enter into derivatives for the purpose of managing the 
commodity and financial market risks of its business operations. The Company’s risk management policy specifically 
prohibits the use of derivatives for speculative purposes. The key market risks that the Company seeks to hedge include the 
price of natural gas and the cost of borrowed funds. 

The Company has one interest rate swap associated with its $7,000,000 term note as discussed in Note 7. Effective 
November 1, 2017, the swap agreement converted the floating rate note based on LIBOR into a fixed rate debt with a 
2.30% effective interest rate. The swap qualifies as a cash flow hedge with changes in fair value reported in other 
comprehensive income. No portion of the swap was deemed ineffective during the periods presented.
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The table below reflects the fair values of the derivative instrument and its corresponding classification in the condensed 
consolidated balance sheet:

March 31, 2018 September 30, 2017
Derivative designated as hedging instrument:
Current assets:
Interest rate swap $74,342 $26,777

Other assets:
Interest rate swap $192,049 $90,066

Total derivatives designed as hedging instruments $266,391 $116,843

The table in Note 8 reflects the effect on income and other comprehensive income of the Company's cash flow hedge.

7. Long-Term Debt

On October 2, 2017, Roanoke Gas issued ten-year unsecured notes in the principal amount of $8,000,000 with a fixed 
interest rate of 3.58% per annum.  The proceeds from the notes were used to convert a portion of the Company's line-of-
credit balance into longer-term financing. 

On March 26, 2018, Roanoke Gas entered into a new unsecured line-of-credit agreement.  This new agreement replaced 
the prior line-of-credit agreement scheduled to expire March 31, 2019.  The new agreement is for a two-year term expiring 
March 31, 2020 with a maximum borrowing limit of $25,000,000.  Amounts drawn against the new agreement are 
considered to be non-current as the balance under the line-of-credit is not subject to repayment within the next 12-month 
period.  The new agreement maintains the same variable interest rate based on 30-day LIBOR plus 100 basis points and 
availability fee of 15 basis points.  The prior agreement was replaced to revise the multi-tiered borrowing limits associated 
with the seasonal borrowing demands of the Company.  The Company's total available borrowing limits during the term of 
the new agreement range from $2,000,000 to $25,000,000. 

Roanoke Gas has a 5-year unsecured note in the principal amount of $7,000,000.  This note is variable rate with interest 
based on 30-day LIBOR plus 90 basis points with the interest rate hedged by a swap agreement which converts the 
variable rate debt into a fixed-rate instrument with an annual interest rate of 2.30%. 

On April 11, 2018, Midstream entered into the First Amendment to Credit Agreement ("Amendment") and amendments to  
the related Promissory Notes ("Notes") originally issued in December 2015.  Under the original agreements, Midstream 
had two unsecured Promissory Notes ("Notes") which provide up to a total of $25 million in borrowing limits over a 
period of 5 years, with an interest rate of 30-day LIBOR plus 160 basis points. Midstream issued the Notes to provide 
financing for capital investment in the LLC.  In accordance with the terms of the original Agreement, at such point in time 
as Midstream had borrowed $17.5 million under the Notes, Midstream would be required to provide the next $5 million 
towards its capital contributions to the  LLC. Once Midstream had completed its $5 million in contributions, it could 
resume borrowing under the Notes up to the $25 million limit.  Under the provisions of the Amendment, the total 
borrowing limits under the Notes increased to $38 million with a reduction in the interest rate to 30-day LIBOR plus 135 
basis points.  Furthermore, the Amendment removed the requirement for Midstream to provide $5 million in funding 
outside of the Notes and now allows for the entire investment in the LLC to be funded through the amended Notes.   The 
additional limits under the Notes provide Midstream with additional funding resources in the event the cost of its 
investment in the LLC exceeds current projections.

All of the debt agreements set forth certain representations, warranties and covenants to which the Company is subject, 
including financial covenants that limit consolidated long-term indebtedness to not more than 65% of total capitalization. 
All of the debt agreements, except for the line-of-credit, provide for priority indebtedness to not exceed 15% of 
consolidated total assets.

Long-term debt consists of the following:
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March 31, 2018 September 30, 2017

Principal
Unamortized Debt

Issuance Costs Principal
Unamortized Debt

Issuance Costs

Roanoke Gas Company:
Unsecured senior notes payable, at 4.26%
due on September 18, 2034 $ 30,500,000 $ 159,292 $ 30,500,000 $ 164,119
Unsecured term note payable, at 30-day
LIBOR plus 0.90%, due November 1,
2021 7,000,000 11,950 7,000,000 13,618
Unsecured term notes payable, at 3.58%
due on October 2, 2027 8,000,000 45,752 — 48,160
RGC Midstream, LLC:
Unsecured term notes payable, at 30-day
LIBOR plus 1.60%, due December 29,
2020 10,263,200 55,890 6,312,200 66,052
Total notes payable $ 55,763,200 $ 272,884 $ 43,812,200 $ 291,949
Line-of-credit, at 30-day LIBOR plus
1.00%, due March 31, 2020 $ — $ — $ 17,791,760 $ —
Total long-term debt $ 55,763,200 $ 272,884 $ 61,603,960 $ 291,949

8. Other Comprehensive Income

       A summary of other comprehensive income and loss is provided below:
 

Before-Tax
Amount

Tax
(Expense)
or Benefit

Net-of-Tax
Amount

Three Months Ended March 31, 2018
Interest rate swap:

Unrealized gains $ 90,363 $ (26,061) $ 64,302
Transfer of realized gains to interest expense (3,554) 1,025 (2,529)
Net interest rate swap 86,809 (25,036) 61,773

Defined benefit plans:
Amortization of actuarial gains (5,971) 1,722 (4,249)

Other comprehensive income $ 80,838 $ (23,314) $ 57,524
Three Months Ended March 31, 2017
Interest rate swap:

Unrealized gains $ 5,654 $ (2,146) $ 3,508
Defined benefit plans:

Amortization of actuarial losses 64,058 (24,316) 39,742
Other comprehensive income $ 69,712 $ (26,462) $ 43,250
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Before-Tax
Amount

Tax
(Expense)
or Benefit

Net-of-Tax
Amount

Six Months Ended March 31, 2018
Interest rate swap:

Unrealized gains $ 151,944 $ (43,821) $ 108,123
Transfer of realized gains to interest expense (2,396) 691 (1,705)
Net interest rate swap 149,548 (43,130) 106,418

Defined benefit plans:
Amortization of actuarial gains (11,942) 3,444 (8,498)

Other comprehensive income $ 137,606 $ (39,686) $ 97,920
Six Months Ended March 31, 2017
Interest rate swap:

Unrealized gains $ 158,988 $ (60,352) $ 98,636
Defined benefit plans:

Amortization of actuarial losses 128,116 (48,632) 79,484
Other comprehensive income $ 287,104 $ (108,984) $ 178,120

The amortization of actuarial losses is included as a component of net periodic pension and postretirement benefit cost in 
operations and maintenance expense. 

Reconciliation of Other Accumulated Comprehensive Income (Loss)

 

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Balance at September 30, 2017 $ (1,202,264)
Other comprehensive income 97,920
Balance at March 31, 2018 $ (1,104,344)

9. Commitments and Contingencies

Roanoke Gas currently holds the only franchises and/or certificates of public convenience and necessity to distribute 
natural gas in its service area. The current franchise agreements expire December 31, 2035.  The Company's certificates of 
public convenience and necessity are exclusive and are intended for perpetual duration. 

Due to the nature of the natural gas distribution business, the Company has entered into agreements with both suppliers 
and pipelines for natural gas commodity purchases, storage capacity and pipeline delivery capacity. The Company obtains 
most of its regulated natural gas supply through an asset manager. The Company utilizes an asset manager to assist in 
optimizing the use of its transportation, storage rights, and gas supply in order to provide a secure and reliable source of 
natural gas to its customers. The Company also has storage and pipeline capacity contracts to store and deliver natural gas 
to the Company’s distribution system. Roanoke Gas is served directly by two primary pipelines. These two pipelines 
deliver all of the natural gas supplied to the Company’s distribution system. Depending on weather conditions and the level 
of customer demand, failure of one or both of these transmission pipelines could have a major adverse impact on the 
Company's ability to deliver natural gas to its customers and its results of operations.

 
10. Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per common share for the three months and six months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017 were calculated by 
dividing net income by the weighted average common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per common 
share were calculated by dividing net income by the weighted average common shares outstanding during the period plus 
potential dilutive common shares. A reconciliation of basic and diluted earnings per share is presented below:
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Three Months Ended March 31, Six Months Ended March 31,
  2018 2017 2018 2017

Net Income $ 3,465,929 $ 3,225,199 $ 5,525,391 $ 5,457,417
Weighted average common shares 7,371,694 7,215,329 7,309,215 7,204,847
Effect of dilutive securities:

Options to purchase common stock 41,657 29,516 45,018 22,647
Diluted average common shares 7,413,351 7,244,845 7,354,233 7,227,494
Earnings Per Share of Common Stock:

Basic $ 0.47 $ 0.45 $ 0.76 $ 0.76
Diluted $ 0.47 $ 0.45 $ 0.75 $ 0.76

 
11. Employee Benefit Plans

The Company has both a defined benefit pension plan (the “pension plan”) and a postretirement benefit plan (the 
“postretirement plan”). The pension plan covers substantially all of the Company’s employees and provides retirement 
income based on years of service and employee compensation. The postretirement plan provides certain health care and 
supplemental life insurance benefits to retired employees who meet specific age and service requirements. Net pension 
plan and postretirement plan expense recorded by the Company is detailed as follows:

 

  Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
March 31, March 31,

  2018 2017 2018 2017

Components of net periodic pension cost:
Service cost $ 166,309 $ 176,669 $ 332,618 $ 353,338
Interest cost 272,045 248,900 544,090 497,800
Expected return on plan assets (465,710) (404,103) (931,420) (808,206)
Recognized loss 87,758 165,545 175,516 331,090
Net periodic pension cost $ 60,402 $ 187,011 $ 120,804 $ 374,022

 

  Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
March 31, March 31,

  2018 2017 2018 2017

Components of postretirement benefit cost:
Service cost $ 41,805 $ 45,817 $ 83,610 $ 91,634
Interest cost 160,151 156,706 320,302 313,412
Expected return on plan assets (155,845) (142,878) (311,690) (285,756)
Recognized loss 70,967 107,440 141,934 214,880
Net postretirement benefit cost $ 117,078 $ 167,085 $ 234,156 $ 334,170

The table below reflects the Company's actual contributions made fiscal year-to-date and the expected contributions to be 
made during the balance of the current fiscal year.

 
Fiscal Year-

to-Date
Contributions

Remaining
Fiscal Year

Contributions
Defined benefit pension plan $ 400,000 $ 1,200,000
Postretirement medical plan 150,000 450,000
Total $ 550,000 $ 1,650,000



RGC RESOURCES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

14

12. Fair Value Measurements

FASB ASC No. 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, established a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes each 
input to the valuation method used to measure fair value of financial and nonfinancial assets and liabilities that are 
measured and reported on a fair value basis into one of the following three levels:

Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has the ability to 
access at the measurement date.

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices in Level 1 that are either for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted 
prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, inputs other than quoted prices that are 
observable for the asset or liability, or inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data 
by correlation or other means.

Level 3 – Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability where there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability 
at the measurement date.

The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets (Level 1) and the lowest 
priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3).

 
The following table summarizes the Company’s financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis as required by existing guidance and the fair value measurements by level within the fair value hierarchy as of 
March 31, 2018 and September 30, 2017:

 

    Fair Value Measurements - March 31, 2018

 
Fair

Value

Quoted
Prices

in Active
Markets
(Level 1)

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)

Assets:
Interest rate swap $ 266,391 $ — $ 266,391 $ —

Total $ 266,391 $ — $ 266,391 $ —

Liabilities:
Natural gas purchases $ 443,192 $ — $ 443,192 $ —

Total $ 443,192 $ — $ 443,192 $ —

    Fair Value Measurements - September 30, 2017

 
Fair

Value

Quoted
Prices

in Active
Markets
(Level 1)

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)

Assets:
Interest rate swap $ 116,843 $ — $ 116,843 $ —
Total $ 116,843 $ — $ 116,843 $ —

Liabilities:
Natural gas purchases $ 805,159 $ — $ 805,159 $ —

Total $ 805,159 $ — $ 805,159 $ —

The fair value of the interest rate swap is determined by using the counterparty's proprietary models and certain 
assumptions regarding past, present and future market conditions.

Under the asset management contract, a timing difference can exist between the payment for natural gas purchases and the 
actual receipt of such purchases. Payments are made based on a predetermined monthly volume with the price based on 
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weighted average first of the month index prices corresponding to the month of the scheduled payment. At March 31, 2018 
and September 30, 2017, the Company had recorded in accounts payable the estimated fair value of the liability valued at 
the corresponding first of month index prices for which the liability is expected to be settled.

The Company’s nonfinancial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis consist of its asset 
retirement obligations. The asset retirement obligations are measured at fair value at initial recognition based on expected 
future cash flows required to settle the obligation. 

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable (with the exception of the timing 
difference under the asset management contract), customer credit balances and customer deposits is a reasonable estimate 
of fair value due to the short-term nature of these financial instruments.  In addition, the carrying amount of the variable 
rate line-of-credit is a reasonable approximation of its fair value.  The following table summarizes the fair value of the 
Company’s financial assets and liabilities that are not adjusted to fair value in the financial statements as of March 31, 2018 
and September 30, 2017:

 

    Fair Value Measurements - March 31, 2018

 
Carrying

Value

Quoted
Prices

in Active
Markets
(Level 1)

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)

Liabilities:
Long-term debt $ 55,763,200 $ — $ — $ 56,358,801

Total $ 55,763,200 $ — $ — $ 56,358,801

    Fair Value Measurements - September 30, 2017

 
Carrying

Value

Quoted
Prices

in Active
Markets
(Level 1)

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)

Liabilities:
Long-term debt $ 43,812,200 $ — $ — $ 45,689,238

Total $ 43,812,200 $ — $ — $ 45,689,238
 

The fair value of long-term debt is estimated by discounting the future cash flows of the debt based on current market rates 
and corresponding interest rate spread. 

FASB ASC 825, Financial Instruments, requires disclosures regarding concentrations of credit risk from financial 
instruments. Cash equivalents are investments in high-grade, short-term securities (original maturity less than three 
months), placed with financially sound institutions. Accounts receivable are from a diverse group of customers including 
individuals and small and large companies in various industries. As of March 31, 2018 and September 30, 2017, no single 
customer accounted for more than 5% of the total accounts receivable balance. The Company maintains certain credit 
standards with its customers and requires a customer deposit if such evaluation warrants.

 
13. Subsequent Events

On April 11, 2018, Midstream entered into the First Amendment to Credit Agreement and amendments to the related 
Promissory Notes associated with the funding of the Company's investment in the LLC.  These amendments increased the 
available borrowing limits, reduced the interest rate and removed certain borrowing limitations on the part of Midstream.  
Details of these changes are included in Note 7.

The Company has evaluated subsequent events through the date the financial statements were issued. There were no items 
not otherwise disclosed which would have materially impacted the Company’s condensed consolidated financial 
statements. 
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ITEM 2 – MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS
 

Forward-Looking Statements

This report contains forward-looking statements that relate to future transactions, events or expectations. In addition, RGC 
Resources, Inc. (“Resources” or the “Company”) may publish forward-looking statements relating to such matters as 
anticipated financial performance, business prospects, technological developments, new products, research and development 
activities and similar matters. These statements are based on management’s current expectations and information available at 
the time of such statements and are believed to be reasonable and are made in good faith. The Private Securities Litigation 
Reform Act of 1995 provides a safe harbor for forward-looking statements. In order to comply with the terms of the safe 
harbor, the Company notes that a variety of factors could cause the Company’s actual results and experience to differ materially 
from the anticipated results or other expectations expressed in the Company’s forward-looking statements. The risks and 
uncertainties that may affect the operations, performance, development and results of the Company’s business include, but are 
not limited to those set forth in the following discussion and within Item 1A “Risk Factors” in the Company’s 2017 Annual 
Report on Form 10-K. All of these factors are difficult to predict and many are beyond the Company’s control. Accordingly, 
while the Company believes its forward-looking statements to be reasonable, there can be no assurance that they will 
approximate actual experience or that the expectations derived from them will be realized. When used in the Company’s 
documents or news releases, the words, “anticipate,” “believe,” “intend,” “plan,” “estimate,” “expect,” “objective,” 
“projection,” “forecast,” “budget,” “assume,” “indicate” or similar words or future or conditional verbs such as “will,” 
“would,” “should,” “can,” “could” or “may” are intended to identify forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements reflect the Company’s current expectations only as of the date they are made. The Company 
assumes no duty to update these statements should expectations change or actual results differ from current expectations except 
as required by applicable laws and regulations.

The three-month and six-month earnings presented herein should not be considered as reflective of the Company’s consolidated 
financial results for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2018. The total revenues and margins realized during the first six 
months reflect higher billings due to the weather sensitive nature of the gas business. 

Overview

Resources is an energy services company primarily engaged in the regulated sale and distribution of natural gas to 
approximately 61,200 residential, commercial and industrial customers in Roanoke, Virginia and the surrounding localities 
through its Roanoke Gas Company (“Roanoke Gas”) subsidiary. Natural gas service is provided at rates and for terms and 
conditions set by the Virginia State Corporation Commission (“SCC”).

Resources also provides certain unregulated services through Roanoke Gas and its other subsidiaries. Such unregulated 
operations represent less than 2% of total revenues and margin of Resources on an annual basis.

The Company’s utility operations are regulated by the SCC, which oversees the terms, conditions, and rates to be charged to 
customers for natural gas service, safety standards, extension of service, accounting and depreciation. The Company is also 
subject to federal regulation from the Department of Transportation in regard to the construction, operation, maintenance, 
safety and integrity of its transmission and distribution pipelines. The Federal Energy Regulatory Commission ("FERC") 
regulates the prices for the transportation and delivery of natural gas to the Company’s distribution system and underground 
storage services. The Company is also subject to other regulations which are not necessarily industry specific.

On December 22, 2017, the President signed into law the Tax Cuts and Job Act ("Tax Act") which provided sweeping changes 
to the federal income tax code.  The most significant change for the Company is the reduction in the corporate maximum 
federal income tax rate from 35% to 21%.   Under the provisions of the law, the Company will apply a lower corporate income 
tax rate to earnings beginning this current fiscal year in addition to the revaluation of its deferred tax assets and liabilities 
derived from the Company's 34% corporate tax rate down to a 21% tax rate.  For the unregulated operations of the Company, 
the effect of the change in tax rate and revaluation of the deferred taxes are reflected in income tax expense.  However, for the 
regulated operations of Roanoke Gas, the net estimated deferred tax liability adjustment of $11,742,274 was transferred to a 
regulatory liability for refund to customers, and a rate refund liability in the amount of $821,343 was recorded for the estimated 
excess billings of customers during the first 6 months of the year as the Company's billing rates were designed to recover the 
operating expenses and a rate of return based on a federal tax rate of 34%.  Additional information regarding the Tax Act and its 
impact on the Company is provided under the Tax Reform and Regulatory section below.  
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Over 98% of the Company’s annual revenues are derived from the sale and delivery of natural gas to Roanoke Gas customers. 
The SCC authorizes the rates and fees the Company charges its customers for these services. These rates are designed to 
provide the Company with the opportunity to recover its gas and non-gas expenses and to earn a reasonable rate of return for 
shareholders based on normal weather. Normal weather refers to the average number of heating degree days (an industry 
measure by which the average daily temperature falls below 65 degrees Fahrenheit) over the previous 30-year period.

As the Company’s business is seasonal in nature, volatility in winter weather and the commodity price of natural gas can 
impact the effectiveness of the Company’s rates in recovering its costs and providing a reasonable return for its shareholders. In 
order to mitigate the effect of variations in weather and the cost of natural gas, the Company has certain approved rate 
mechanisms in place that help provide stability in earnings, adjust for volatility in the price of natural gas and provide a return 
on increased infrastructure investment. These mechanisms include a purchased gas adjustment factor ("PGA"), weather 
normalization adjustment factor ("WNA"), inventory carrying cost revenue ("ICC") and a Steps to Advance Virginia Energy 
("SAVE") adjustment rider.

The Company's approved billing rates include a component designed to allow for the recovery of the cost of natural gas used by 
its customers.  The cost of natural gas is considered a pass-through cost and is independent of the non-gas rates of the 
Company.  This rate component, referred to as the PGA, allows the Company to pass along to its customers increases and 
decreases in natural gas costs incurred by its regulated operations.  On a quarterly basis, or more frequently if necessary, the 
Company files a PGA rate adjustment request with the SCC to adjust the gas cost component of its rates up or down depending 
on projected price and activity.  Once administrative approval is received, the Company adjusts the gas cost component of its 
rates to reflect the approved amount.  As actual costs will differ from the projections used in establishing the PGA rate, the 
Company will either over-recover or under-recover its actual gas costs during the period.  The difference between actual costs 
incurred and costs recovered through the application of the PGA is recorded as a regulatory asset or liability.  At the end of the 
annual deferral period, the balance is amortized over an ensuing 12-month period as amounts are reflected in customer billings.

The WNA model reduces earnings volatility, related to weather variability in the heating season, by providing the Company a 
level of earnings protection when weather is warmer than normal and providing customers price protection when the weather is 
colder than normal. The WNA is based on a weather measurement band around the most recent 30-year temperature average. 
Under the WNA, the Company recovers from its customers the lost margin (excluding gas costs) for the impact of weather that 
is warmer than normal or refunds the excess margin earned for weather that is colder than normal. The WNA mechanism used 
by the Company is based on a linear regression model that determines the value of a single heating degree day. For the three 
months and six months ended March 31, 2018, the Company accrued approximately $161,000 and $124,000 under the WNA as 
a reduction in revenue and margin for weather that was 3.1% and 1.5% colder than normal, respectively.  For the same periods 
last year, the Company accrued approximately $982,000 and $1,605,000 in additional revenue and margin for weather that was 
nearly 20% and 18% warmer than normal.  The current WNA year ended on March 31, 2018 and once the SCC approves the 
billing factors, the Company will apply the WNA refund to customers' bills. 

The Company also has an approved rate structure in place that mitigates the impact of financing costs associated with its 
natural gas inventory. Under this rate structure, Roanoke Gas recognizes revenue for the financing costs, or “carrying costs,” of 
its investment in natural gas inventory. This ICC factor applied to the cost of inventory is based on the Company’s weighted-
average cost of capital including interest rates on short-term and long-term debt and the Company’s authorized return on equity. 
During times of rising gas costs and rising inventory levels, the Company recognizes ICC revenues to offset higher financing 
costs associated with higher inventory balances. Conversely, during times of decreasing gas costs and lower inventory balances, 
the Company recognizes less carrying cost revenue as financing costs are lower.  In addition, ICC revenues are impacted by the 
changes in the weighting of the components that are used to determine the weighted-average cost of capital.  The average unit 
price of gas in storage during the first six months of the current fiscal year was $0.29 per decatherm, or 10%, higher than the 
same period last year, as natural gas commodity prices were higher during the storage replenishment in 2017 as compared to 
2016.  However, because the ratio of debt to equity has increased compared to last year, the ICC factor applied to inventory 
balances decreased.  The net result is a smaller increase in ICC revenues for both the three-month and six-month periods.  The 
equity investment in Roanoke Gas will increase the weighted-average cost of capital and the ICC factor for the balance of the 
year leading to potentially higher ICC revenues.

The Company’s non-gas rates provide for the recovery of non-gas related expenses and a reasonable return to shareholders.  
These rates are determined based on the filing of a formal rate application with the SCC utilizing historical information, 
including investment in natural gas facilities.  Generally, investments related to extending service to new customers are 
recovered through the non-gas rates currently in place.  The investment in replacing and upgrading existing infrastructure is not 
recoverable until a formal rate application is filed and approved to include the additional investment in new non-gas rates.  The 
SAVE Plan, however, provides the Company with the ability to recover costs related to investments in qualified infrastructure 
projects on a prospective basis.  The SAVE Plan provides a mechanism through which the Company may recover the related 



RGC RESOURCES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

18

depreciation and expenses and provides a return on rate base for the related additional capital investments until such time that a 
formal rate application is filed.  As the Company did not file for an increase in non-gas rates during the prior four years and the 
level of capital investment continues to grow, SAVE Plan revenues have continued to increase corresponding to the growth in 
qualified SAVE related infrastructure projects.  The Company recognized approximately $1,169,000 and $2,245,000 in SAVE 
Plan revenues for the three-month and six-month periods ended March 31, 2018, compared to approximately $922,000 and 
$1,803,000 for the same periods last year.  These SAVE Plan revenues will be included as part of the new non-gas base rates 
the next time the Company files for a non-gas rate increase.

Results of Operations

Three Months Ended March 31, 2018:

Net income increased by $240,730 for the three months ended March 31, 2018, compared to the same period last year.  
Improved quarterly performance is attributable to increased revenues from the SAVE Plan, customer growth and the timing 
effect of the accrued refund for excess revenues collected from customers related to the reduction in income tax expense 
resulting from the lower federal income tax rate.  A more detailed explanation of the quarterly effect on net income related to 
the reduction in revenues mandated by the SCC and the reduction in tax expense associated with the Tax Act is provided under 
the Regulatory and Tax Reform section below.    

The tables below reflect operating revenues, volume activity and heating degree-days.
 

  Three Months Ended March 31,    

  2018 2017
Increase /
(Decrease) Percentage

Operating Revenues
Gas Utilities $ 24,608,576 $ 21,662,624 $ 2,945,952 14 %
Other 309,397 237,389 72,008 30 %
Total Operating Revenues $ 24,917,973 $ 21,900,013 $ 3,017,960 14 %

Delivered Volumes
Regulated Natural Gas (DTH)

Residential and Commercial 3,362,966 2,593,971 768,995 30 %
Transportation and Interruptible 781,428 791,038 (9,610) (1)%
Total Delivered Volumes 4,144,394 3,385,009 759,385 22 %

Heating Degree Days (Unofficial) 2,134 1,681 453 27 %

Total operating revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2018, compared to the same period last year, increased due to a 
combination of increased natural gas deliveries related to much colder weather, higher average commodity prices during the 
second quarter of fiscal 2018 and SAVE revenues more than offsetting the excess revenue adjustment.  Total delivered volumes 
increased by 22% as evidenced by the 27% increase in heating degree days.  The 2,134 heating degree days were actually 3% 
colder than normal.  The average commodity price of natural gas delivered during the current quarter was approximately 6% 
per decatherm higher than the same period last year as colder weather increased demand for natural gas.  SAVE Plan revenues 
grew by 27% due to the Company's ongoing investment in its SAVE related infrastructure replacement program.  The Company 
recorded a reserve in the amount of $358,901 associated with the estimated excess revenues billed to customers as a result of 
the reduction in the corporate federal income tax rate. 

  Three Months Ended March 31,    

  2018 2017 Increase Percentage

Gross Margin
Gas Utilities $ 10,865,299 $ 10,726,376 $ 138,923 1%
Other 141,410 103,354 38,056 37%
Total Gross Margin $ 11,006,709 $ 10,829,730 $ 176,979 2%

Regulated natural gas margins from utility operations increased from the same period last year primarily as a result of increased 
SAVE revenues and customer growth offsetting the adjustment to reduce revenues for the impact of the estimated excess 
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billings to customers as a result of the reduction in the corporate federal income tax rate.  SAVE revenues increased by 
$246,185 as discussed in more detail above.  Volumetric margins net of the WNA adjustment and customer base charge 
increased due to customer growth and increased usage by commercial customers.  Gross margin was reduced for the estimated 
excess revenues deferred to a regulatory liability related to the reduction in the federal corporate income tax rate.  More 
information is provided under the Tax Reform and Regulatory section below.   

The components of and the change in gas utility margin are summarized below:

Three Months Ended March 31,  

2018 2017
Increase /
(Decrease)

Customer Base Charge $ 3,146,489 $ 3,134,398 $ 12,091
Carrying Cost 106,162 101,986 4,176
SAVE Plan 1,168,529 922,344 246,185
Volumetric 6,921,210 5,556,428 1,364,782
WNA (160,535) 982,375 (1,142,910)
Other Gas Revenues 42,345 28,845 13,500
Excess Revenue Refund (358,901) — (358,901)
Total $ 10,865,299 $ 10,726,376 $ 138,923

Operation and maintenance expenses increased by $264,730, or 8%, from the same period last year primarily related to 
reductions in capitalized overheads partially offset by lower benefit costs.  Total capitalized overheads declined by $343,000, 
due a 33% reduction in capital expenditures subject to overhead capitalization, compared to the same period last year.  Capital 
expenditures lagged behind last year's levels due to weather conditions and the timing of certain projects; however, total capital 
expenditures for fiscal 2018 are expected to exceed fiscal 2017.  Employee benefit costs declined by $129,000 as a result of a 
$177,000 decrease in the actuarially determined expenses due to strong asset performance of both the the pension and the other 
post-retirement benefit plans, a higher discount rate for valuing the benefit plan liabilities and the previously implemented soft 
freeze of the pension plan.  The remaining $48,000 difference is primarily attributed to increase in health insurance premiums 
even though total employee head count has declined.  Reductions in operations payroll were offset by higher contracted 
services, primarily due to customer service outsourcing.

General taxes increased by $25,589, or 5%, due to higher property taxes associated with increases in utility property partially 
offset by lower payroll taxes associated with fewer employees. 
 
Depreciation expense increased by $169,149, or 11%, on a corresponding increase in utility plant investment. 

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliate increased by $97,888, more than doubling last year, due to escalation in 
construction activities requiring increased investment in the Mountain Valley Pipeline ("MVP") project.  As the corresponding 
earnings are primarily composed of allowance for funds used during construction ("AFUDC"), the increased investment will 
result in a greater level of AFUDC income.  Additional information about the Company's investment in the MVP can be found 
under the Equity Investment in Mountain Valley Pipeline section below.

Interest expense increased by $163,706, or 35%, due to a 26% increase in total average debt to finance the Company's capital 
expenditures and ongoing investment in MVP and rising interest rates on the Company's variable rate debt.  The combination of 
the issuance of the new $8,000,000 notes in October and rising interest rates on the line-of-credit and Midstream notes served 
to increase the weighted-average effective interest rate from 3.56% in the second quarter of fiscal 2017 to 3.77% during the 
second fiscal quarter of 2018.  

Income tax expense declined by $567,152, or 29%, due to lower pre-tax income and the reduction in the federal corporate 
income tax rate due to the passage of the Tax Act.  The combined state and federal tax rate declined from 37.96% to a blended 
28.84% in fiscal 2018.   The effective tax rate was 28.9% for the quarter compared to 38.0% for the same period last year.  
Additional information regarding the Tax Act and its impact on the Company is provided under the Regulatory and Tax Reform 
section below.

Six Months Ended March 31, 2018:

Net income increased by $67,974 for the six months ended March 31, 2018, compared to the same period last year due to  
higher revenues from the SAVE Plan, customer growth and the timing effect of the accrued refund for excess revenues 
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collected from customers related to the reduction in income tax expense resulting from the lower federal income tax rate.  More 
information on the effect on net income related to the reduction in revenues mandated by the SCC and the reduction in tax 
expense associated with the Tax Act is provided under the Regulatory and Tax Reform section below.

The tables below reflect operating revenues, volume activity and heating degree-days.
 

 
Six Months Ended 

 March 31,    

  2018 2017 Increase Percentage

Operating Revenues
Gas Utilities $ 43,128,570 $ 40,174,957 $ 2,953,613 7%
Other 545,454 513,641 31,813 6%
Total Operating Revenues $ 43,674,024 $ 40,688,598 $ 2,985,426 7%

Delivered Volumes
Regulated Natural Gas (DTH)

Residential and Commercial 5,579,675 4,535,468 1,044,207 23%
Transportation and Interruptible 1,518,536 1,484,036 34,500 2%
Total Delivered Volumes 7,098,211 6,019,504 1,078,707 18%

Heating Degree Days (Unofficial) 3,631 2,968 663 22%

Operating revenues for the six months ended March 31, 2018 increased over the same period last year due to significant 
increases in natural gas deliveries and SAVE revenues more than offsetting the excess revenue adjustment.  Total natural gas 
deliveries increased by 18% due to 22% more heating degree days during the period.   SAVE revenues accounted for $442,009 
of the increase, while revenues were reduced by $821,343 due to the transfer of the estimated excess revenues billed to 
customers to a regulatory liability.  Average commodity price of gas was nearly unchanged compared to the same period last 
year.

 
Six Months Ended 

 March 31,    

  2018 2017
Increase /
(Decrease) Percentage

Gross Margin
Gas Utilities $ 19,823,887 $ 19,991,857 $ (167,970) (1)%
Other 256,257 228,778 27,479 12 %
Total Gross Margin $ 20,080,144 $ 20,220,635 $ (140,491) (1)%

Regulated natural gas margins from utility operations decreased from the same period last year primarily as a result of the 
reduction in regulated revenues of Roanoke Gas due to the estimated excess revenues reserve more than offsetting greater 
SAVE revenues and increased sales due to customer growth.  The Company transferred $821,343 from revenues to a regulatory 
liability for future refund to customers for the excess revenues collected from customers due to the reduction in the federal 
income tax rate as discussed in more detail above and under the Tax Reform and Regulatory section below.  SAVE revenues 
grew by $442,009 and volumetric margin, net of the adjustment for WNA, increased by $144,514. 

The components of and the change in gas utility margin are summarized below:
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Six Months Ended 
 March 31,

2018 2017
Increase /
(Decrease)

Customer Base Charge $ 6,248,595 $ 6,218,206 $ 30,389
Carrying Cost 310,441 299,787 10,654
SAVE Plan 2,244,948 1,802,939 442,009
Volumetric 11,881,683 10,008,070 1,873,613
WNA (123,765) 1,605,334 (1,729,099)
Other Gas Revenues 83,328 57,521 25,807
Excess Revenue Refund (821,343) — (821,343)
Total $ 19,823,887 $ 19,991,857 $ (167,970)

Operation and maintenance expenses increased by $70,013, or 1%, over the same period last year primarily for the same 
reasons as reflected in the quarter: reductions in capitalized overheads partially offset by lower benefit costs.  Total capitalized 
overheads declined by $382,000 due to a 21% reduction in capital expenditures subject to overhead capitalization compared to 
the same period last year.  Capital expenditures lagged behind last year's levels due to weather conditions and the timing of 
certain projects.  Total capital expenditures for fiscal 2018 are expected to exceed fiscal 2017.  Total employee benefit costs 
declined by $368,000 primarily due to reductions in the actuarially determined expenses for both the the pension and the other 
post-retirement benefit plans.  The remaining increase relates to a variety of offsetting factors including reductions in payroll 
and increases in contracted services.

General taxes increased by $50,837, or 6%, due to higher property taxes associated with increases in utility property partially 
offset by lower payroll taxes associated with fewer employees. 
 
Depreciation expense increased by $328,299, or 10%, on higher utility plant investment. 

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliate increased by $162,159, or 91%, due to the increasing investment in the MVP 
project. Additional information about the Company's investment in the MVP can be found under the Equity Investment in 
Mountain Valley Pipeline section below.

Interest expense increased by $317,830, or 34%, due to a 27% increase in total average debt outstanding and rising interest 
rates on the Company's variable rate debt.  The weighted-average effective interest rate increased from 3.48% in the first half of 
fiscal 2017 to 3.69% during the first half of fiscal 2018.  

Income tax expense declined by $803,820, or 24%, due to lower pre-tax income and the application of lower income tax rates 
due to the passage of the Tax Act.   The effective tax rate for the first six months of fiscal 2018 was 31.5% compared to 38.0% 
for the same period last year.  The effective tax rate for the current period is higher than the blended rate of 28.84% due to the 
valuation adjustments to the net deferred tax assets of the unregulated operations.  These valuation adjustments to the deferred 
taxes of the unregulated operations are charged to income tax expense in accordance with U.S. GAAP.  Since the unregulated 
operations had a net deferred tax asset, the adjustment resulted in a charge to income tax expense of approximately $208,000.  
Excluding the $208,000 tax adjustment, the effective tax rate for the current quarter would have been 29%.  The valuation 
adjustment to the net deferred tax liability of the regulated operations of Roanoke Gas was transferred to a regulatory liability 
as discussed in Note 4 and under the Regulatory and Tax Reform section below. 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The consolidated financial statements of Resources are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America. The amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses reported in the Company’s financial 
statements are affected by accounting policies, estimates and assumptions that are necessary to comply with generally accepted 
accounting principles. Estimates used in the financial statements are derived from prior experience, statistical analysis and 
management judgments. Actual results may differ significantly from these estimates and assumptions.

The Company considers an estimate to be critical if it is material to the financial statements and it requires assumptions to be 
made that were uncertain at the time the estimate was made and changes in the estimate are reasonably likely to occur from 
period to period.  The Company's current quarter adjustments for the effect of the Tax Act includes estimates related to the 
revaluation of deferred income tax adjustments due to the blended income tax rate and the refund of excess billings to 
customers pending revisions to customer billing rates to be approved by the SCC.  The Company believes these adjustments to 
be reasonable estimates of the financial effect of the tax change based upon the best information available.  These estimates will 
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be adjusted as necessary once the SCC reviews and approves the Company's proposed rates and methodology.  There have been 
no other changes to the critical accounting policies as reflected in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year 
ended September 30, 2017.

Asset Management

Roanoke Gas uses a third-party asset manager to manage its pipeline transportation, storage rights and gas supply inventories 
and deliveries. In return for being able to utilize the excess capacities of the transportation and storage rights, the asset manager 
pays Roanoke Gas a monthly utilization fee, which is used to reduce the cost of gas for customers.  In March 2018, Roanoke 
Gas executed a new asset management agreement with the same asset manager under terms similar to the expired contract.

Equity Investment in Mountain Valley Pipeline

On October 1, 2015, the Company through its wholly-owned subsidiary, RGC Midstream, LLC ("Midstream"), entered into an 
agreement to become a 1% member in Mountain Valley Pipeline, LLC (the "LLC"). The purpose of the LLC is to construct and 
operate the MVP, a FERC regulated natural gas pipeline connecting Equitran's gathering and transmission system in northern 
West Virginia to the Transco interstate pipeline in south central Virginia. On October 13, 2017, FERC issued the MVP 
Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity, and since January 2018, FERC has issued several Notices to Proceed 
("NTP"), which granted the LLC permission to begin construction activities.   The LLC has submitted additional requests to 
FERC for NTP, which are pending approval at this time.  The LLC has received the necessary federal permits and the required 
Virginia and West Virginia environmental agency permits.  The managing partner of the LLC currently targets the in-service 
date for the MVP to be the end of calendar 2018.

Management believes the investment in the LLC will be beneficial for the Company, its shareholders and southwest Virginia. In 
addition to the potential returns from the investment in the LLC, Roanoke Gas will benefit from access to an additional source 
of natural gas to its distribution system.  Currently, Roanoke Gas is served by two pipelines and a liquefied natural gas storage 
facility.  Damage to or interruption in supply from any of these sources, especially during the winter heating season, could have 
a significant impact on the Company's ability to serve its customers.  A third pipeline would reduce the risk from such an event.  
In addition, the proposed pipeline path would provide the Company with a more economically feasible opportunity to provide 
natural gas service to previously unserved areas in southwest Virginia.

The total project cost is anticipated to be approximately $3.5 billion. As a 1% member in the LLC, Midstream's cash 
contribution is expected to be approximately $35 million. The agreement provides for a schedule of cash draws to fund the 
project. The initial payments were for the acquisition of land and materials related to the construction of the pipeline and other 
pre-construction costs.  As the NTPs are granted and construction activities progress, more significant cash draws will be 
required.  Initial funding for the investment in the LLC is provided through the Midstream credit facility, which has been 
amended, whereby Midstream may borrow up to a total of $38 million through 2020.  The increased limits provide Midstream 
with additional funding resources in the event the cost of its investment in the LLC exceeds current projections.  See Note 7 for 
more information on the borrowing facility and amendment.

Most of the current earnings from the investment in MVP relate to AFUDC income generated by the deployment of capital in 
the design, engineering, materials procurement, project management and construction of the pipeline.  AFUDC is an accounting 
method whereby the costs of debt and equity funds used to finance facility infrastructure are credited to income and charged to 
the cost of the project.  With the required federal and state approvals received, the level of investment in the MVP will 
accelerate as construction activities have begun in earnest.  As investment in the MVP grows, so will the amount of AFUDC 
recognized until the pipeline is placed in service.  Earnings after the pipeline becomes operational will be derived from the fees 
charged for transporting natural gas through the pipeline.

On April, 11, 2018, the LLC announced the MVP Southgate project ("Southgate"), which is a 70 mile pipeline that will extend 
from the Mountain Valley Pipeline mainline in Virginia to delivery points in Rockingham and Alamance counties in North 
Carolina.  The Southgate in-service date is targeted for the end of 2020.   Midstream will be a participant in this project.

Tax Reform and Regulatory

On December 22, 2017, the President signed into law the Tax Cuts and Job Act (the "Tax Act"), which provided sweeping 
changes to the federal income tax code.  The most significant change to corporate entities was the reduction of the maximum 
federal income tax rate from 35% to 21%.  Another significant change included the elimination of bonus depreciation for 
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utilities in exchange for retaining full deductibility of utility related interest expense.  There were several other changes to the 
tax code under the Tax Act that will have lesser effects on the Company.

As the tax rate change became effective January 1, 2018, the Company is using a blended tax rate calculated on the average 
number of days each tax rate is in effect during the current fiscal year.  The Company's calculated federal tax rate during fiscal 
2018 is 24.3% with an overall effective rate including state income tax of 28.84%.   The overall effective rate will decline to 
25.74% beginning in fiscal 2019.

As a result of the tax rate change, the Company is impacted by both an adjustment to the valuation of deferred tax assets and 
liabilities and a lower tax rate used in calculating net income.  ASC 740, Income Taxes, requires entities to revalue their 
deferred tax assets and liabilities based on changes in tax rates and record the change in income tax expense.   The Company's 
deferred income taxes had been calculated based on a 34% federal tax rate and have been adjusted to the new federal tax rate of 
21%.  In order to fairly value the deferred taxes at the appropriate rates, the Company had to project deferred activity for the 
balance of the fiscal year to estimate the impact to tax expense for the valuation adjustment.  The Company is utilizing the 
guidance provided under the SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin ("SAB") 118 and recording reasonable estimates of the effect of 
the tax rate change on its deferred tax assets and liabilities and the corresponding impact to income tax expense and regulatory 
liabilities.   

The  accounting guidance under ASC 740 - Income Taxes requires the adjustment to deferred income taxes due to the 
revaluation be recorded as a component of income tax expense from continuing operations.  Furthermore, the revaluation of 
deferred taxes associated with components of other comprehensive income is also recorded as a component of income tax 
expense and not as an adjustment to other comprehensive income.  However, the deferred income taxes of Roanoke Gas were 
accumulated based on customer billing rates derived utilizing a 34% federal income tax rate assumption. Therefore, any 
reduction in the net deferred tax liabilities should be refunded to its customers and not reflected as an adjustment to income tax 
expense.  The Company reclassified the revaluation adjustments associated with Roanoke Gas' deferred income taxes to a 
regulatory liability. 

As discussed above, Roanoke Gas' billing rates include a provision for federal income taxes at a 34% rate.  Since the beginning 
of the current fiscal year, the Company has been recovering from its customers at the higher 34% tax rate as opposed to the 
blended 24.3% federal tax rate currently in effect.  On January 8, 2018, the SCC issued a directive requiring the accrual of a 
regulatory liability for the excess revenues collected from Roanoke Gas customers.  The directive remains in place until such 
time as the SCC approves and the Company implements, lower billing rates incorporating the lower federal income tax rate.  

For the six-months ended March 31, 2018, the Company recorded an estimated reduction to revenue and established a 
regulatory liability in the amount of $821,343 to remove the excess revenues collected from customers.  On an annualized 
basis, the reduction for the excess revenues included in the Company's billing rates should approximate the reduction in income 
tax expense resulting from the lower federal income tax rate.  However, on a quarter-to-quarter basis, the reduction in income 
tax expense reflected in the financial statements will exceed the amount of revenue deferral during the first six months, thereby 
increasing net income in comparison to the prior year.  Conversely, over the last six months of the fiscal year, the revenue 
deferral will exceed the reduction in income tax expense resulting in a reduction in net income during the final two quarters 
when compared to the same periods last year. The reason for the timing difference between the reduction in revenues and the 
reduction in income tax expense relates to the seasonality of Roanoke Gas' business.  During the first six months of the year, 
the Company realizes approximately 60% of its annual regulated margin while at the same time it recognizes more than 80% of 
its pre-tax income for the year.  Therefore, the Company has recorded 60% of its excess revenue deferral, while reflecting 80% 
of the annual reduction in income tax expense.  During the last six months of the fiscal year, the scenario reverses and nearly 
20% of the annual reduction in income tax expense will be reflected while 40% of the excess revenue will be deferred.  

The estimated refund will be revised as necessary once the SCC reviews and approves the adjustment calculations and 
methodology for determining the refund.  The method, amount and timing of the refunds will be determined by the SCC.

The Company continues to recover the costs of its infrastructure replacement program through its SAVE Plan.  On September 
28, 2017, the Company received SCC approval to implement new SAVE rates related to the proposed qualifying SAVE 
investments in calendar 2018.  These new SAVE rates are designed to recover the additional expenses of the SAVE investment 
in addition to a return on the increase in rate base.  The 2018 SAVE Plan continues to focus on the replacement of the pre-1973 
plastic pipe and includes the replacement of one custody transfer station. 

Capital Resources and Liquidity
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Due to the capital intensive nature of the utility business, as well as the related weather sensitivity, the Company’s primary 
capital needs are the funding of its utility plant capital projects, investment in the MVP, the seasonal funding of its natural gas 
inventories and accounts receivable and the payment of dividends. To meet these needs, the Company relies on its operating 
cash flows, line-of-credit agreement, long-term debt and equity capital.

Cash and cash equivalents increased by $4,776,934 for the six-month period ended March 31, 2018, compared to a $97,151 
decrease for the same period last year.  The following table summarizes the sources and uses of cash:
 

 
Six Months Ended 

 March 31,
  2018 2017

Cash Flow Summary Six Months Ended
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 10,648,528 $ 11,644,148
Net cash used in investing activities (13,851,993) (12,307,848)
Net cash provided by financing activities 7,980,399 566,549

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ 4,776,934 $ (97,151)

The seasonal nature of the natural gas business causes operating cash flows to fluctuate significantly during the year as well as 
from year to year. Factors, including weather, energy prices, natural gas storage levels and customer collections, contribute to 
working capital levels and the related cash flows. Generally, operating cash flows are positive during the second and third 
quarters as a combination of earnings, declining storage gas levels and collections on customer accounts all contribute to higher 
cash levels. During the first and fourth quarters, operating cash flows generally decrease due to increases in natural gas storage 
levels, rising customer receivable balances and construction activity.

Cash flow provided by operations is primarily driven by net income, depreciation, reductions in natural gas storage inventory 
and increases in accounts receivable during the first six months of the fiscal year.  Cash flow from operating activities 
decreased from the same period last year by $995,620, primarily due to a smaller increase in gas cost over-collections partially 
offset by a much smaller WNA receivable.  The smaller increase in gas cost over-collections resulted from lower commodity 
prices on natural gas during the the second quarter of fiscal 2017.  When the quarterly PGA factor was established in December 
2016 for the subsequent quarter, the natural gas future prices used in developing the PGA rate for customer billing purposes 
were higher than the actual commodity prices realized.  As a result, over-collections increased by $3,426,366 for the first six 
months of fiscal 2017 compared $960,706 for the first six months of fiscal 2018. For the six months ended March 31, 2018, the 
WNA receivable included in accounts receivable decreased by $123,765 to a balance of $125,075 on weather that was 1.5% 
colder than normal, while the WNA receivable for the same six month period last year increased by $1,605,334 associated with 
weather that was 18% warmer than normal.  A summary of the cash provided by operations is listed below:

 
Six Months Ended 

 March 31,

Cash Flow From Operating Activities: 2018 2017
Increase /
(Decrease)

Net income $ 5,525,391 $ 5,457,417 $ 67,974
Depreciation 3,531,558 3,202,180 329,378
Increase in over-collections 960,706 3,426,366 (2,465,660)
Increase in accounts receivable (5,516,423) (7,027,343) 1,510,920
Other 6,147,296 6,585,528 (438,232)

Net Cash Provided by Operations $ 10,648,528 $ 11,644,148 $ (995,620)

Investing activities are generally composed of expenditures related to investment in the Company's utility plant projects, which 
includes replacing aging natural gas pipe with new plastic or coated steel pipe, improvements to the LNG plant and distribution 
system facilities, expanding the natural gas system to meet the demands of customer growth, as well as the continued 
investment in the MVP.   The Company is continuing its focus on SAVE infrastructure replacement projects including the 
replacement of pre-1973 first generation plastic pipe and replacement of a natural gas transfer station. Total capital 
expenditures for the first six months were $10.1 million, which represented a $1.3 million reduction from the same period last 
year.  The decrease is attributable in part to expenditures made last year related to the installation of an automated meter 
reading system ("AMR") completed in fiscal 2017 and inclement weather conditions during the current year,  Current 
projections indicate that total 2018 capital expenditures should exceed last year. 
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Investing cash flows also includes the Company's funding of its participation in the MVP, with a total cash investment of 
$3,804,844 for the six months ended March 31, 2018.  With FERC approval and the issuance of several NTPs, construction 
activities have escalated with staging areas in place, tree clearing underway and pipeline construction scheduled to begin 
shortly. The Company will increase its utilization of the Midstream credit facility to meet the accelerating funding 
requirements.    

Financing activities generally consist of long-term notes payable and line-of-credit borrowings and repayments, issuance of 
stock and the payment of dividends. Cash flows provided by financing activities were $7,980,399 for the current period 
compared to $566,549 for the same period last year.  The increase in financing cash flows is attributable to higher non line-of-
credit borrowings and proceeds from an equity issue.  The Company borrowed $3,951,000 under the Midstream credit facility 
compared to $2,264,000 for the same period last year. In addition, Roanoke Gas issued $8,000,000 in notes in October 2017 
compared to a $7,000,000 bank note issued during the prior year.  These notes were used to refinance part of the line-of-credit 
balance that provided capital expenditure bridge financing.  The Company also realized more than $15,000,0000 in net 
proceeds from the issuance of 700,000 shares of common stock in March 2018.  $15,000,000 of the equity issue was invested 
directly into Roanoke Gas to supplement the funding of its infrastructure improvement program.  Resources long-term 
capitalization ratio improved from 46.7% equity and 53.3% debt at December 31, 2017 to 58.7% equity and 41.3% debt at 
March 31, 2018.  The Company uses its line-of-credit arrangement to fund seasonal working capital needs as well as provide 
temporary financing for capital projects.  The issuance of both the $8,000,000 in notes and the $15,000,000 equity investment 
in Roanoke has temporarily eliminated the balance on the line-of-credit.  Based on current projections for capital expenditures 
as well as working capital funding needs, the Company anticipates to begin utilizing the line-of-credit again by the summer. 

The Tax Act is expected to have liquidity impact to the Company.  As mentioned under the Tax Reform and Regulatory section, 
the Tax Act eliminated the bonus depreciation deduction for taxes.  Even though the federal tax rate is lower as a result of the 
Tax Act, the elimination of the accelerated deductions provided by bonus depreciation will increase taxable income more than 
offsetting the benefits of a lower tax rate.  Furthermore, the excess revenues billed to Roanoke Gas customers, as well as the 
establishment of a regulatory liability for the adjustment to deferred income taxes, will be refunded to customers.  The timing 
and method of returning these amounts back to customers has yet to be determined and will be subject to approval by the SCC.   
The settlement of these obligations could result in lower operating cash flows and/or increased borrowing.

On March 26, 2018,  Roanoke Gas entered into a new unsecured revolving line-of-credit note agreement.  The new line-of-
credit agreement is for a two-year term expiring March 31, 2020, replacing the prior two-year agreement scheduled to expire on 
March 31, 2019.  The new agreement maintains the same variable interest rate based on 30-day LIBOR plus 100 basis points 
and availability fee of 15 basis points applied to the unused balance on the note.  The agreement also maintains the multi-tiered 
borrowing limits to accommodate seasonal borrowing demands and minimize borrowing costs.  The total available borrowing 
limits during the term of the agreement range from $2,000,000 to $25,000,000.  As the  agreement is for a two-year term, 
amounts drawn against the new agreement are generally considered to be non-current. 

On April 11, 2018, Midstream entered into the First Amendment to Credit Agreement ("Amendment") and amendments to the 
related Promissory Notes ("Notes") originally issued in December 2015.  Under the provisions of the Amendment, the total 
borrowing limits under the Notes increased to $38,000,000 with a reduction in the interest rate to 30-day LIBOR plus 135 basis 
points.  Furthermore, the Amendment removed the requirement for Midstream to provide $5,000,000 in funding outside of the 
Notes and now allows for the entire investment in the LLC to be funded through these amended Notes.   The additional limits 
under the Notes provide Midstream with additional funding resources in the event the cost of its investment in the LLC exceeds 
current projections. 
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ITEM 3 – QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The Company is exposed to market risks associated with interest rates and commodity prices. Interest rate risk is related to the 
Company’s outstanding variable rate debt including Roanoke Gas' line-of-credit and the Midstream credit facility. Commodity 
price risk is experienced by the Company’s regulated natural gas operations. The Company’s risk management policy, as 
authorized by the Company’s Board of Directors, allows management to enter into derivatives for the purpose of managing 
commodity and financial market risks of its business operations.

Interest Rate Risk

The Company is exposed to market risk related to changes in interest rates associated with its borrowing activities. At March 
31, 2018, the Company had no outstanding balance under its variable rate line-of-credit with an average balance outstanding 
during the six-month period of $11,140,390.  The Company also had $10,263,200 outstanding under a 5-year variable-rate term 
credit facility.   A hypothetical 100 basis point increase in market interest rates applicable to the Company’s variable-rate debt 
outstanding during the period would have resulted in an increase for the current period of approximately $103,000.  The 
Company's other long-term debt is at fixed rates or is hedged with an interest rate swap.

Commodity Price Risk

The Company manages the price risk associated with purchases of natural gas by using a combination of liquefied natural gas 
(LNG) storage, underground storage gas, fixed price contracts, spot market purchases and derivative commodity instruments 
including futures, price caps, swaps and collars.

At March 31, 2018, the Company had no outstanding derivative instruments to hedge the price of natural gas. The Company 
had 514,917 decatherms of gas in storage, including LNG, at an average price of $3.63 per decatherm, compared to 671,479 
decatherms at an average price of $3.19 per decatherm last year. The SCC currently allows for full recovery of prudent costs 
associated with natural gas purchases, as any additional costs or benefits associated with the settlement of derivative contracts 
and other price hedging techniques are passed through to customers when realized through the PGA mechanism.
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ITEM 4 – CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) that are designed to be effective in providing reasonable assurance 
that information required to be disclosed in reports under the Exchange Act are recorded, processed, summarized and reported 
within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the Securities and Exchange Commission, and that such information 
is accumulated and communicated to management to allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

As of March 31, 2018, the Company completed an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of management, 
including the chief executive officer and the chief financial officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the 
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures. Based upon that evaluation, the chief executive officer and chief financial 
officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level as of 
March 31, 2018.

Management routinely reviews the Company’s internal control over financial reporting and makes changes, as necessary, to 
enhance the effectiveness of the internal controls over financial reporting. There were no changes in the internal controls over 
financial reporting during the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2018, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to 
materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
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Part II – Other Information

ITEM 1 – LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

None.

ITEM 1A – RISK FACTORS

No changes.

ITEM 2 – UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

None.

ITEM 3 – DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

None.

ITEM 4 – MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

ITEM 5 – OTHER INFORMATION

None.

ITEM 6 – EXHIBITS
 

Number    Description

10.1* Third Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Mountain Valley Pipeline, LLC dated 
April 6, 2018.

10.2 Guaranty Agreement by RGC Resources, Inc. in favor of Mountain Valley Pipeline, LLC,.
10.3 Natural Gas Asset Management Agreement by and between Roanoke Gas Company and Sequent Energy 

Management, LP effective April 1, 2018 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed on March 27, 2018)

10.4 Parental Guaranty by RGC Resources, Inc. in favor of Sequent Energy Management, LP effective April 1, 2018 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 27, 
2018)

10.5 Revolving Line of Credit Note in the original principal amount of $25,000,000 by Roanoke Gas Company in 
favor of Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. dated as of March 26, 2018 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the 
Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 27, 2018)

10.6 Second Amendment to Credit Agreement by and between Roanoke Gas Company and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. 
dated as of March 26, 2018 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 
8-K filed on March 27, 2018)

10.7 First Amendment to Credit Agreement between RGC Midstream, LLC and the lenders Union Bank & Trust and 
Branch Bank and Trust dated April 11, 2018 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed on April 12, 2018)

10.8 Amended and Restated Note in the principal amount of $22,800,000 in favor of Union Bank & Trust due 
December 29, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K 
filed on April 12, 2018)

10.9 Amended and Restated Note in the principal amount of $15,200,000 in favor of Branch Banking and Trust due 
December 29, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K 
filed on April 12, 2018)

10.10 Underwriting Agreement, dated as of March 15, 2018, among the Company and the Underwriters (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 19, 2018) 

31.1 Rule 13a–14(a)/15d–14(a) Certification of Principal Executive Officer.
31.2 Rule 13a–14(a)/15d–14(a) Certification of Principal Financial Officer.
32.1** Section 1350 Certification of Principal Executive Officer.
32.2** Section 1350 Certification of Principal Financial Officer.
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101 The following materials from the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31,
2018, formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) Condensed Consolidated Balance
Sheets at March 31, 2018 and September 30, 2017, (ii) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income for the
three months and six months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017; (iii) Condensed Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Income for the three months and six months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017; (iv) Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the six months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, and (v) Condensed
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

 

* Confidentiality treatment has been requested with respect to portions of this exhibit, indicated by asterisks, which have
been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission

** These certifications are being furnished solely to accompany this quarterly report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
and are not being filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and are not to be
incorporated by reference into any filing of the Registrant, whether made before or after the date hereof, regardless of
any general incorporation language in such filing.  
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on 
its behalf by the undersigned there unto duly authorized.
 

    RGC Resources, Inc.

Date: May 7, 2018     By:   /s/ Paul W. Nester
      Paul W. Nester

     
Vice President, Secretary,  Treasurer and
CFO
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THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED
LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY AGREEMENT 

OF 
MOUNTAIN VALLEY PIPELINE, LLC

This THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY 
AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) OF MOUNTAIN VALLEY PIPELINE, LLC, dated as of April 
6, 2018 (the “Effective Date”), is adopted and agreed to by Mountain Valley Pipeline, LLC, a 
Delaware limited liability company (the “Company”), MVP Holdco, LLC, a Delaware limited 
liability company (“EQT”), US Marcellus Gas Infrastructure, LLC, a Delaware limited liability 
company (“USG”), VED NPI IV, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Vega Carryco”), 
WGL Midstream, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“WGL”), RGC Midstream, LLC, a Virginia limited 
liability company (“Roanoke”), and Con Edison Gas Pipeline and Storage, LLC, a New York limited 
liability company (“Con Edison”), and each Person from time to time admitted to the Company as 
a Member in accordance with the terms hereof. 

RECITALS

WHEREAS, on August 22, 2014, the Company was formed upon the filing of the Delaware 
Certificate (as hereinafter defined) in accordance with the Act (as hereinafter defined) for the purpose 
of developing, constructing, owning, and operating the Mainline Facilities (as defined herein) and 
EQT, as the Company’s initial member, entered into a written agreement governing the affairs of 
the Company and the conduct of its business (the “Initial Agreement”);

WHEREAS, on August 28, 2014, EQT, USG and the Company entered into that certain 
First Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of the Company (the “First 
Amended and Restated Agreement”) to make certain provisions regarding the affairs of the 
Company and the conduct of its business and the rights and obligations of the Members on the terms 
and subject to the conditions set forth therein;

WHEREAS, on March 10, 2015, EQT, USG, Vega Midstream MVP LLC (“Vega”), Vega 
Carryco, WGL and the Company entered into that certain Second Amended and Restated Limited 
Liability Company Agreement of the Company (the “Second Amended and Restated Agreement”) 
to (a) admit Vega, Vega Carryco and WGL as Members of the Company and (b) make certain 
additional provisions regarding the affairs of the Company and the conduct of its business and the 
rights and obligations of the Members on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth therein;

WHEREAS, on January 21, 2016, in connection with the execution and delivery by Con 
Edison of a joinder to the Second Amended and Restated Agreement (the “Con Edison Joinder”), 
pursuant to which Con Edison became a Member of the Company, EQT, USG and the Company 
entered into that certain First Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability 
Company Agreement of the Company (the “First Amendment”) to, among other things, [***];

WHEREAS, on October 24, 2016, in connection with the consummation of the Disposition 
by Vega of its Membership Interest to WGL, WGL, Vega and Vega Carryco, and EQT, USG and 
the Company, entered into that certain Second Amendment to Second Amended and Restated 
Limited Liability Company Agreement of the Company (the “Second Amendment”) to revise, 
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among other things, certain distribution rights contained in Section 5.01 of the Second Amended 
and Restated Agreement; 

WHEREAS, on April 6, 2018, the Delaware Certificate was amended and restated in order 
to add a provision related to designating the Company a “series” limited liability company in 
accordance with the Act; and

WHEREAS, the Members desire to amend and restate the Second Amended and Restated 
Agreement to, among other things, (a) provide for the ability to construct, own, operate or lease 
Additional Transportation Facilities (as hereinafter defined) in addition to the Mainline Facilities, 
(b) modify the capital structure of the Company to create different Series of Membership Interests 
with respect to the Mainline Facilities and any Additional Transportation Facilities and to allow for 
the issuance of such Series of Membership Interests and (c) make certain additional provisions 
regarding the affairs of the Company and the conduct of its business and the rights and obligations 
of the Members on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein.

NOW THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of 
which are hereby acknowledged, the Company and the Members agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1
DEFINITIONS

1.01 Definitions. As used in this Agreement, the following terms have the respective 
meanings set forth below or set forth in the Sections referred to below:

AAA – has the meaning set forth in Section 11.05(a).

Act – means the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act.

Additional Contribution/Loan – has the meaning set forth in Section 4.06(a)(ii).

Additional Contribution/Loan Members – has the meaning set forth in Section 
4.06(a)(ii).

Additional Series – has the meaning set forth in Section 3.01(c).

Additional Series Management Committee – has the meaning sets forth in 
Section 6.02.

Additional Series Management Committee Member – has the meaning set forth in 
Section 6.02.

Additional Series Member – has the meaning set forth in Section 3.01(c).

Additional Transportation Facilities – means additional pipeline, compression and 
related facilities developed, constructed, owned and managed by the Company or a Series other 
than the Mainline Facilities or any such facilities that have been previously approved in accordance 
with the terms of this Agreement.
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Adjusted Capital Account – means, with respect to each Series, the Capital Account 
maintained for each Member as provided in Section 4.05, (a) increased by (i) an amount equal to 
such Member’s allocable share of Minimum Gain, with respect to each Series, as computed in 
accordance with the applicable Treasury Regulations, and (ii) the amount that such Member is 
deemed to be obligated to restore, with respect to each Series, pursuant to Treasury Regulation 
Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(c), if any, and (b) reduced by the adjustments provided for in Treasury 
Regulation Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d)(4)-(6), with respect to such Series. The foregoing definition 
of Adjusted Capital Account is intended to comply with the provisions of Treasury Regulation 
Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d) and shall be interpreted consistently therewith.

Affected Facilities – has the meaning set forth in Section 6.03(c).

Affiliate – means, (a) with respect to any Person, (i) each entity that such Person 
Controls; (ii) each Person that Controls such Person, including, in the case of a Member, such 
Member’s Parent; and (iii) each entity that is under common Control with such Person, including, 
in the case of a Member, each entity that is Controlled by such Member’s Parent; provided that, 
with respect to any Member, an Affiliate shall include (x) a limited partnership or a Person Controlled 
by a limited partnership if such Member’s Parent has the power to appoint the general partner of 
such limited partnership, or such general partner is otherwise is Controlled by such Member’s Parent, 
or (y) a limited liability company or a Person controlled by a limited liability company if such 
Member’s Parent has the power to appoint the managing member or manager (or, if more than one 
manager, a majority of managers) of the limited liability company, or such managing member or 
manager(s) are Controlled by such Member’s Parent; provided, further, that, for purposes of this 
Agreement, the Company shall not be an Affiliate of any Member; and (b) specifically with respect 
to EQT, (i) EQT Corporation, a Pennsylvania corporation, and those Persons referred to in clause 
(a) hereof with respect to EQT Corporation and (ii) EQM and those Persons referred to in clause 
(a) hereof with respect to EQM.

Affiliate’s Outside Activities – has the meaning set forth in Section 6.05(a).

Agreement – has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

Alternate Representative – means, with respect to a given Management Committee 
Member, an additional senior officer of such Management Committee Member identified by such 
Management Committee Member to the other Management Committee Member(s).

Applicable Adjustment Series – has the meaning set forth in Section 4.06(a)(ii).

Appraiser – has the meaning set forth in Section 13.11(c).

Approved Precedent Agreement – means each Precedent Agreement approved by 
the applicable Management Committee in accordance with the applicable provisions of Schedule 
I.

Arbitration – has the meaning set forth in Section 11.05(a).

Arbitration Invoking Party – has the meaning set forth in Section 11.05(b).
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Arbitration Notice – has the meaning set forth in Section 11.05(b).

Arbitration Noticed Party – has the meaning set forth in Section 11.05(b).

Assignee – means any Person that acquires a Membership Interest or any portion 
thereof through a Disposition; provided, that an Assignee shall have no right to be admitted to the 
Company as a Member except in accordance with Section 3.03(b)(iii). Subject to the Preferential 
Rights set forth in Section 3.03(b)(ii), the Assignee of a dissolved Member is the shareholder, partner, 
member or other equity owner or owners of the dissolved Member to whom such Member’s 
Membership Interest is assigned by the Person conducting the liquidation or winding-up of such 
Member. The Assignee of a Bankrupt Member is (a) the Person or Persons (if any) to whom such 
Bankrupt Member’s Membership Interest is assigned by order of the bankruptcy court or other 
Governmental Authority having jurisdiction over such Bankruptcy, or (b) in the event of a general 
assignment for the benefit of creditors, the creditor to which such Membership Interest is assigned.

ATF FERC Application – means, with respect to a given Additional Transportation 
Facility, the document pursuant to which application for a certificate(s) of public convenience and 
necessity is made under Section 7 of the NGA to the FERC by the Company for authority to construct, 
own, acquire and operate, and provide service on, such Additional Transportation Facility. 

ATF FERC Certificate – means, with respect to a given ATF FERC Application, a 
FERC Certificate issued by the FERC pursuant to such ATF FERC Application.

ATF FERC Response Date – means, with respect to a given ATF FERC Certificate, 
the date that is 30 Days following the date upon which the FERC has issued such ATF FERC 
Certificate.

Authorizations – means licenses, certificates, permits, orders, approvals, 
determinations and authorizations from Governmental Authorities having valid jurisdiction.

Available Cash – means, with respect to each Series and with respect to any Quarter 
ending prior to the termination of such Series, and without duplication:

(a) the sum of all cash and cash equivalents with respect to such Series 
on hand at the end of such Quarter (excluding any Capital Contributions received by such 
Series from the Members), less

(b) the amount of any cash reserves with respect to such Series that is 
necessary or appropriate in the reasonable discretion of the Management Committee of such 
Series to (i) provide for the proper conduct of the business of such Series (including reserves 
for future maintenance capital expenditures and for anticipated future credit needs of such 
Series), [***] or (ii) comply with applicable law or any loan agreement, security agreement, 
mortgage, debt instrument or other agreement or obligation to which such Series, or the 
Company with respect to such Series, is a party or by which it is bound or its assets are 
subject.
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Notwithstanding the foregoing, “Available Cash” with respect to the Quarter in which 
a termination of the Series occurs and any subsequent Quarter shall be deemed to equal zero. For 
the avoidance of doubt, Available Cash with respect to a Series shall be determined without regard 
to Available Cash with respect to any other Series or any of the items set forth in clauses (a) and 
(b) with respect to the Company but not any Series.

Bankruptcy or Bankrupt – means, with respect to any Person, that (a) such Person 
(i) makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors; (ii) files a voluntary bankruptcy petition; 
(iii) becomes the subject of an order for relief or is declared insolvent in any federal or state 
bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings; (iv) files a petition or answer seeking for such Person a 
reorganization, arrangement, composition, readjustment, liquidation, dissolution, or similar relief 
under any Law; (v) files an answer or other pleading admitting or failing to contest the material 
allegations of a petition filed against such Person in a proceeding of the type described in subclauses 
(i) through (iv) of this clause (a); or (vi) seeks, consents to, or acquiesces in the appointment of a 
trustee, receiver, or liquidator of such Person or of all or any substantial part of such Person’s 
properties; or (b) against such Person, a proceeding seeking reorganization, arrangement, 
composition, readjustment, liquidation, dissolution, or similar relief under any Law has been 
commenced and 120 Days have expired without dismissal thereof or with respect to which, without 
such Person’s consent or acquiescence, a trustee, receiver, or liquidator of such Person or of all or 
any substantial part of such Person’s properties has been appointed and 90 Days have expired without 
the appointment’s having been vacated or stayed, or 90 Days have expired after the date of expiration 
of a stay, if the appointment has not previously been vacated.

Book Depreciation – means, with respect to any Company or Series asset for each 
fiscal year or other period, an amount equal to the depreciation, amortization or other cost recovery 
deduction allowable with respect to such asset for such year or other period for federal income tax 
purposes, except that if the Book Value of an asset differs from its adjusted basis for federal income 
tax purposes at the beginning of such year or other period, Book Depreciation shall be an amount 
which bears the same ratio to such beginning Book Value as the federal income tax depreciation, 
amortization or other cost recovery deduction for such year or other period bears to such beginning 
adjusted tax basis; provided, however, that, if the adjusted tax basis of the asset is zero, Book 
Depreciation shall be determined under any reasonable method selected by the Management 
Committee; provided, further, if such asset is subject to adjustments under the remedial allocation 
method of Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-3(d), Book Depreciation shall be determined under 
Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-3(d)(2).

Book Value – means, with respect to any Company or Series asset, such asset’s 
adjusted basis for U.S. federal income tax purposes, except as follows:

(a) the initial Book Value of any asset contributed by a Member to the Series 
shall be the net agreed gross fair market value of such asset;

(b) the respective Book Values of all Company assets with respect to a Series 
shall be adjusted to equal their gross fair market values, as determined pursuant to Section 4.05(b), 
as of the time of any Revaluation Event with respect to such Series;
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(c) the Book Value of any Company or Series asset distributed to any Member 
shall be the net agreed gross fair market value of such asset on the date of distribution;

(d) the Book Values of Company or Series assets shall be increased (or decreased) 
to reflect any adjustments to the adjusted basis of such assets pursuant to Section 734(b) or Section 
743(b) of the Code, but only to the extent that such adjustments are taken into account in determining 
Capital Accounts pursuant to Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(m); provided, however, 
that Book Values shall not be adjusted pursuant to this subsection (d) to the extent an adjustment 
occurs pursuant to subsection (b) as a result of a Revaluation Event in connection with a transaction 
that would otherwise result in an adjustment pursuant to this subsection (d); and

(e) if the Book Value of an asset has been determined or adjusted pursuant to 
subsections (a), (b) or (d) above, such Book Value shall thereafter be adjusted by the Book 
Depreciation taken into account with respect to such asset for purposes of computing Net Profit 
and Net Loss (rather than by the depreciation, amortization or other cost recovery deduction 
computed for federal income tax purposes).

Breaching Member – means a Member that, as of any date, (a) has committed a 
failure or breach of the type described in the definition of “Default,” (b) has received a written 
notice with respect to such failure or breach of the type described in such definition of “Default,” 
and (c) has not cured such failure or breach as of the applicable cure period set forth in such definition 
of “Default.”

Business Day – means any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday, or a holiday on 
which national banking associations in the State of Delaware are closed.

[***]

Capital Account – means, with respect to each Series, the account maintained by 
the Company for each Member of such Series in accordance with Section 4.05.

Capital Budget – means, with respect to each Series, (a) the Construction Budget 
for any Facilities applicable to such Series, (b) the capital budget associated with the Facilities 
applicable to such Series covered by any Approved Precedent Agreement, and (c) the annual capital 
budget for the Series relating to the Facilities applicable to such Series that is approved (or deemed 
approved) by the applicable Management Committee in accordance with this Agreement. Each 
Capital Budget shall cover all items that are classified as capital items under Required Accounting 
Practices.

Capital Call – has the meaning set forth in Section 4.01(a)(i).

Capital Contribution – means, with respect to a Member and in respect of a Series, 
the amount of money and the net agreed fair market value of any property (other than money) 
contributed to such Series by such Member. Any reference in this Agreement to the Capital 
Contribution(s) of a Member shall include a Capital Contribution(s) of its predecessors in interest. 
For the avoidance of doubt, the Capital Contributions of a Member in respect of a Series shall be 
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determined without regard to the Capital Contributions of a Member with respect to other Series 
of Membership Interests held by such Member.

Certified Public Accountants – means a nationally recognized independent public 
accounting firm selected from time to time by the Management Committee.

Change of Control – means:

(a) with respect to any Member, the sale of substantially all of the assets 
of such Member or an event (such as a Disposition of voting securities or other equity 
interests of such Member) that causes such Member to cease to be Controlled by such 
Member’s then Parent; provided that the term “Change of Control” shall not include any of 
the following events:

(i) with respect to a Founding Member of a given Series, an event 
that causes such Member’s then Parent to be Controlled by another Person; 
provided, however, that such an event shall constitute a “Change of Control” 
with respect to any Series of which such Member is a Member but is not a 
Founding Member;

(ii) a Disposition of the Membership Interests held by, or the 
equity or assets of, such Member to an Affiliate of such Member or such 
Member’s then Parent, or any other event, including any corporate 
reorganization, merger, combination or similar transaction, that results in 
such Member being Controlled by an Affiliate of such Member’s then Parent, 
including, in each case, a Disposition to a limited partnership whose general 
partner is Controlled by an Affiliate of such Member or its then Parent; 

(iii) in the case of a Member that is a publicly traded partnership 
or is Controlled by a publicly traded partnership, any Disposition of units or 
issuance of new units representing limited partner interests by such publicly 
traded partnership, whether to an Affiliate or an unrelated party and whether 
or not such units or interests are listed on a national securities exchange or 
quotation service so long as the general partner of such publicly traded 
partnership is Controlled by an Affiliate of such Member or its Parent; and

(iv) [***]; 

(b) with respect to an Operator, an event (such as a Disposition of voting 
securities or other equity interests of substantially all the assets of such Operator) that causes, 
directly or indirectly, such Operator to be Controlled by another Person, subject to Section 
3.03(b)(v)(D). With respect to an Operator, “Change of Control” shall not include an event 
(i) that causes such Operator to be Controlled by an Affiliate of such Operator or an Affiliate 
of such Operator’s then Parent or (ii) that causes the Parent of such Operator to be Controlled 
by another Person so long as with respect to clause (ii) above the applicable Management 
Committee determines, [***] that, after giving effect to such event, such Operator has the 
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experience, safety record, creditworthiness, and financial wherewithal generally acceptable 
within the midstream natural gas industry and is and will be able to perform its obligations 
under the applicable COM Agreement; and

(c) notwithstanding the foregoing, and for the avoidance of doubt, any 
event that (i) constitutes a Change of Control under clause (a) of this definition of Change 
of Control or (ii) is expressly excluded from this definition of Change of Control pursuant 
to clauses (a)(i), (a)(ii), (a)(iii) or (a)(iv) above shall not be deemed a Disposition for purposes 
of Section 3.03 of this Agreement, other than for purposes of Section 3.03(b)(iv); provided, 
however, that Dispositions or issuances described in clause (a)(iii) shall not be deemed a 
Disposition for purposes of Section 3.03(b)(iv).

Change Exercise Notice – has the meaning set forth in Section 3.03(b)(v)(A).

Change Purchasing Member – has the meaning set forth in Section 3.03(b)(v)(A).

Change Unexercised Portion – has the meaning set forth in Section 3.03(b)(v)(A).

Changing Member – has the meaning set forth in Section 3.03(b)(v)(A).

Claim – means any and all judgments, claims, causes of action, demands, lawsuits, 
suits, proceedings, Governmental investigations or audits, losses, assessments, fines, penalties, 
administrative orders, obligations, costs, expenses, liabilities and damages (whether actual, 
consequential or punitive), including interest, penalties, reasonable attorney’s fees, disbursements 
and costs of investigations, deficiencies, levies, duties, imposts, remediation and cleanup costs, and 
natural resources damages.

Code – means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

COM Agreement – means (a) with respect to Series A, the Existing COM Agreement 
and (b) with respect to any other Series, any agreement entered into from time to time by such Series 
or the Company on behalf of such Series relating to the construction, operation and management 
of any of the Facilities owned by or allocated to such Series as specified on the Series Schedule 
(which, for the avoidance of doubt, may be the same COM Agreement applicable with respect to 
another Series).

COM Approval Matters – means (a) with respect to the Existing COM Agreement, 
all matters requiring the approval of the Company or providing for the exercise of rights by the 
Company, including, without limitation, those set forth in Sections 3.1, 3.2, 3.4, 3.5, 3.6, 4.2, 4.4, 
5.1, 5.2, 7.1(b), 7.2, 8.2, and 8.3, Article 9, Sections 13.2 and 13.4, Article 15, Article 17, Section 
18.6 and 18.9, Exhibit A, and Exhibit B thereto and (b) with respect to any other COM Agreement, 
any matters designated as “COM Approval Matters” in the applicable COM Agreement.

Company – has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

Con Edison – has the meaning set forth in the Preamble, or any permitted transferee 
of any of Con Edison’s Membership Interest pursuant to Article 3 of this Agreement.
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Con Edison Joinder – has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

Confidential Information – means all information and data (including all copies 
thereof) that is furnished or submitted by any of the Members, their Affiliates, or Operator, whether 
oral, written, or electronic, to the other Members, their Affiliates, or Operator in connection with 
the Facilities and the resulting information and data obtained from those studies, including market 
evaluations, market proposals, service designs and pricing, pipeline system design and routing, cost 
estimating, rate studies, identification of permits, strategic plans, legal documents, environmental 
studies and requirements, public and governmental relations planning, identification of regulatory 
issues and development of related strategies, legal analysis and documentation, financial planning, 
gas reserves and deliverability data, studies of the natural gas supplies for the Facilities, and other 
studies and activities to determine the potential viability of the Facilities and their design 
characteristics, and identification of key issues. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the term 
“Confidential Information” shall not include any information that:

(a) is in the public domain at the time of its disclosure or thereafter, other 
than as a result of a disclosure directly or indirectly by a Member or its Affiliates in 
contravention of this Agreement;

(b) as to any Member or its Affiliates, was in the possession of such 
Member or its Affiliates prior to the execution of this Agreement and not subject to a separate 
confidentiality restriction; 

(c) has been independently acquired or developed by a Member or its 
Affiliates without violating any of the obligations of such Member or its Affiliates under 
this Agreement; or

(d) is received from a third-party source on a non-confidential basis, 
provided that such third-party source is not known to be subject to an obligation of 
confidentiality and would not reasonably have been expected to know that the information 
was to be kept confidential from the applicable party. 

Construction Budget – means, with respect to a Series, the then-approved capital 
budget covering the design, engineering, procurement, construction and installation of the Facilities 
applicable to such Series, as may be amended from time to time.

Contributing/Loan Member – has the meaning set forth in Section 4.06(a).

Control, Controls or Controlled – means the possession, directly or indirectly, 
through one or more intermediaries, of the following:

(a) (i) in the case of a corporation, 50% or more of the outstanding voting 
securities thereof; (ii) in the case of a limited liability company, general partnership or 
venture, the right to 50% or more of the distributions therefrom (including liquidating 
distributions); (iii) in the case of a trust or estate, including a statutory trust, 50% or more 
of the beneficial interest therein; (iv) in the case of a limited partnership (A) the right to 
50% or more of the distributions therefrom (including liquidating distributions), (B) where 
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the general partner of such limited partnership is a corporation, ownership of 50% or more 
of the outstanding voting securities of such corporate general partner, (C) where the general 
partner of such limited partnership is a partnership, limited liability company or other entity 
(other than a corporation or limited partnership), the right to 50% or more of the distributions 
(including liquidating distributions) from such general partner entity, or (D) where the 
general partner of such limited partnership is a limited partnership, Control of the general 
partner of such general partner in the manner described under subclause (B) or (C) of this 
clause, or (v) in the case of any other entity, 50% or more of the economic or beneficial 
interest therein; or

(b) in the case of any entity, the power or authority, through ownership 
of voting securities, by contract or otherwise, to exercise predominant control over the 
management of the entity.

Control Notice – has the meaning set forth in Section 3.03(b)(v)(A).

Covered Person – has the meaning set forth in Section 6.07(a).

Credit Assurance – has the meaning set forth in Section 4.07(a).

Day – means a calendar day, provided that if any period of Days referred to in this 
Agreement shall end on a Day that is not a Business Day, then the expiration of such period shall 
be automatically extended until the end of the next occurring Business Day.

Deadlock – has the meaning set forth in Section 11.01.

Default – means, with respect to any Member: 

(a) the failure of such Member to contribute, within [***] Days of the 
date required pursuant to Section 4.06, all or any portion of a Capital Contribution that such 
Member is required to make to a Series as provided in this Agreement; or

(b) the failure of a Member to comply in any material respect with any 
of its other agreements, covenants or obligations under this Agreement, or the failure of any 
representation or warranty made by a Member in this Agreement to have been true and 
correct in all material respects at the time it was made; 

in the case of each of clause (a) and (b) above if such breach is not cured by the applicable Member 
within [***] Days of its receiving written notice of such breach from any other Member (or, if a 
breach of clause (b) is not capable of being cured within such [***]-Day period, if such Member 
fails to promptly commence substantial efforts to cure such breach or to prosecute such curative 
efforts to completion with continuity and diligence). The Management Committee governing matters 
with respect to the Series to which such failure relates may, but shall have no obligation to, extend 
the foregoing [***]-Day and [***]-Day periods, as determined in the Sole Discretion of the 
Representatives of such Management Committee. 

Default Rate – means a rate per annum equal to the lesser of (a) a varying rate per 
annum equal to the sum of (i) the prime rate as published in The Wall Street Journal, with adjustments 



 

11

in that varying rate to be made on the same date as any change in that rate is so published, plus (ii) 
[***]% per annum, and (b) the maximum rate permitted by Law.

Delaware Certificate – means the Certificate of Formation of the Company that was 
filed with the Office of the Secretary of State of Delaware on August 22, 2014, as amended on 
December 22, 2014, as amended and restated on or about March 10, 2015, as further amended and 
restated on or about the date hereof, and as may be further amended from time to time.

Delaware Courts – has the meaning set forth in Section 11.03.

Demand Event – has the meaning set forth in Section 4.07(b).

Diluted Member – has the meaning set forth in Section 3.03(b)(ii)(B).  

Dispose, Disposing, or Disposition – means, with respect to any asset (including a 
Membership Interest or any portion thereof), a sale, assignment, transfer, conveyance, gift, exchange 
or other disposition of such asset, whether such disposition be voluntary, involuntary or by operation 
of Law (and, with respect to a Membership Interest, any derivative or similar arrangement whereby 
a portion or all of the economic interests in, or risk of loss or opportunity for gain with respect to, 
such Membership Interest is transferred or shifted to another Person), including the following: (a) 
in the case of an asset owned by a natural person, a transfer of such asset upon the death of its owner, 
whether by will, intestate succession or otherwise; (b) in the case of an asset owned by an entity, 
(i) a merger or consolidation of such entity (other than where such entity is the survivor thereof) or 
(ii) a distribution of such asset by such entity to its shareholders, partners, members, or other equity 
owners, including in connection with the dissolution, liquidation, winding-up or termination of such 
entity (unless, in the case of dissolution, such entity’s business is continued without the 
commencement of liquidation or winding-up); and (c) a disposition in connection with, or in lieu 
of, a foreclosure of an Encumbrance; but such terms shall not include the creation of an Encumbrance.

Disposing Member – has the meaning set forth in Section 3.03(b)(ii)(A).

Disposition Notice – has the meaning set forth in Section 3.03(b)(ii)(A).

Dispute – has the meaning set forth in Section 11.01.

Disputing Member – has the meaning set forth in Section 11.01.

Dissolution Event – has the meaning set forth in Section 12.01.

Economic Risk of Loss – has the meaning assigned to that term in Treasury 
Regulation Section 1.752-2(a).

Effective Date – has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

Encumber, Encumbering, or Encumbrance – means the creation of a security 
interest, lien, pledge, mortgage or other encumbrance, other than a Permitted Encumbrance, whether 
such encumbrance be voluntary, involuntary or by operation of Law.
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EQM – means EQT Midstream Partners, LP, a Delaware limited partnership.

EQT – has the meaning set forth in the Preamble, or any permitted transferee of any 
of EQT’s Membership Interest pursuant to Article 3 of this Agreement.

[***]

Exchange – means any public exchange, such as the New York Stock Exchange, 
American Stock Exchange, The NASDAQ Stock Market or other similar listed securities exchange.

Existing COM Agreement – means the Amended and Restated Construction, 
Operation and Management Agreement between the Company and EQM Gathering Opco, LLC, 
dated June 16, 2015, as may be amended or restated from time to time.

Existing Operator – means EQM Gathering Opco, LLC, a Delaware limited liability 
company, or any successor thereto.

Facilities – means the Mainline Facilities and any Additional Transportation 
Facilities, and “Facility” shall refer to any one of the foregoing.

Fair Market Value – means (a) the fair market cash value of the Membership Interest 
of the Changing Member as determined pursuant to the terms of Section 13.11(b) or (c), as applicable, 
or (b) the fair market cash value of the consideration to be paid to the Disposing Member pursuant 
to the proposed Disposition as determined pursuant to the terms of Section 13.11(a) or (c), as 
applicable.

FERC – means the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission or any Governmental 
Authority succeeding to the powers of such commission.

FERC Certificate – means the certificate(s) of public convenience and necessity 
issued by the FERC. 

Financing Commitment – means the definitive agreements between one or more 
financial institutions or other Persons and the Company or the Financing Entity pursuant to which 
such financial institutions or other Persons agree, subject to the conditions set forth therein, to lend 
money to, or purchase securities of, the Company or the Financing Entity, the proceeds of which 
shall be used to finance all or a portion of the Mainline Facilities or any Additional Transportation 
Facility or to repay loans made by the Members pursuant to Section 4.02.

Financing Entity – means a corporation, limited liability company, trust, or other 
entity that may be organized for the purpose of issuing securities, the proceeds from which are to 
be advanced directly or indirectly to the Company to finance all or a portion of the Mainline Facilities 
or any Additional Transportation Facility.

First Amended and Restated Agreement – has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

First Amendment – has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.
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FMV Notice – has the meaning set forth in Section 13.11(c).

Founding Members – means (a) with respect to Series A, EQT, USG and any of 
their respective Affiliates that are Members of Series A (and any limited partnership or master 
limited partnership to which such Members’ Membership Interests have been assigned pursuant to 
Section 3.03(e) or Section 3.03(f) of this Agreement) and (b) with respect to any other Series, each 
Member designated as such on the applicable Series Schedule and any of their respective Affiliates 
that are Members of such Series; provided, however, that, in each case, a Member shall automatically 
cease to constitute a Founding Member or have any of the rights applicable to Founding Members 
as set forth in this Agreement with respect to such Series from and after the time that such Member 
and its Affiliates that are Members of such Series collectively own Membership Interests of such 
Series having a Sharing Ratio with respect to such Series of less than [***]%.

FPL – has the meaning set forth in Section 6.05(f).

GAAP – means United States generally accepted accounting principles.

Gas Transportation Service Agreements – means the gas transportation service 
agreements by and between the Company or its designee and the Shippers for the transportation of 
natural gas through the Mainline Facilities or any Additional Transportation Facility.

General Buy-out Right – has the meaning set forth in Section 3.03(b)(v)(A).

General Preferential Right – has the meaning set forth in Section 3.03(b)(ii)(A).

Governmental Authority (or Governmental) – means a federal, state, local or foreign 
governmental authority; a state, province, commonwealth, territory or district thereof; a county or 
parish; a city, town, township, village or other municipality; a district, ward or other subdivision of 
any of the foregoing; any executive, legislative or other governing body of any of the foregoing; 
any agency, authority, board, department, system, service, office, commission, committee, council 
or other administrative or regulatory body of any of the foregoing; including the FERC, any 
Exchange, any court or other judicial body; and any officer, official or other representative of any 
of the foregoing.

[***]

Indebtedness – means any amount (absolute or contingent) payable by the Company 
or any Series as debtor, borrower, issuer, guarantor or otherwise, pursuant to (a) an agreement or 
instrument involving or evidencing money borrowed, the advance of credit, a conditional sale or a 
transfer with recourse or with an obligation to repurchase; (b) indebtedness of a third party 
guaranteed by or secured by (or for which the holder of such indebtedness has an existing right, 
contingent or otherwise, to be secured by) any lien on assets owned or acquired by the Company 
or any Series, whether or not the indebtedness secured thereby has been assumed; (c) purchase-
money indebtedness and capital lease obligations; (d) an interest rate protection agreement, foreign 
currency exchange agreement or other hedging arrangement; or (e) a letter of credit issued for the 
account of the Company or any Series. 
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Indemnified Body – has the meaning set forth in Section 3.01(h).

Indemnifying Series – has the meaning set forth in Section 3.01(h).

Initial Agreement – has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

Initial Operating Budget – means, (a) with respect to Series A, an Operating Budget 
covering the 12-month period following the In-Service Date with respect to the Mainline Facilities, 
as approved by the Series A Management Committee on February 11, 2015, and (b) with respect 
to any other Series, an Operating Budget Covering the 12-month period following the In-Service 
Date with respect to such Additional Transportation Facility applicable to such Series, as approved 
by the applicable Management Committee in connection with the approval of such Additional 
Transportation Facility, in each case as may be amended from time to time.

Investment Grade – means, with respect to any Person, having debt rated as 
investment grade by at least two of the three nationally-recognized ratings agencies, being at least 
[***] for Moody’s Investor Services and at least [***] for each of Standard & Poor’s and Fitch 
Ratings.

In-Service Date – means, with respect to a Facility, the date of the placing of such 
Facility in service.

Law – means any applicable constitutional provision, statute, act (including the Act), 
code (including the Code), law, regulation, rule, ordinance, order, decree, ruling, proclamation, 
resolution, judgment, decision, declaration, or interpretative or advisory opinion or letter of a 
Governmental Authority having valid jurisdiction.

Letter of Credit – means an irrevocable, unconditional, transferable standby letter 
of credit in form and substance satisfactory to the applicable Management Committee for the benefit 
of the Company or any Series, issued by a United States bank or a foreign bank with a United States 
branch, with United States based assets of at least $10,000,000,000 and a rating of “[***]” or better 
from Standard & Poor’s Ratings Service or a rating of “[***]” from Moody’s Investor Service.

Mainline Facilities – means (a) approximately 300 miles of pipeline having a 
capacity of approximately 2.0 Bcf/day and expected to be 42 inches in diameter and certain 
compression facilities, as described in the FERC Certificate for such facilities, if and as amended 
from time to time, together with any upgrades thereto, extending from the tailgate of the MarkWest 
Mobley plant in Smithfield, West Virginia to Transco Station 165 near Chatham, Virginia; 
(b) constructing or installing any pipeline that would loop (as such term is commonly used in the 
natural gas pipeline industry) the facilities described in clause (a) above; (c) installing or upgrading 
any compression with respect to the facilities described in clause (a) above; and (d) increasing the 
transportation capacity of the facilities described in clause (a) above through the installation of 
greater capacity pipe, looping, or similar improvements.

Management Committee – means the Series A Management Committee or any 
Additional Series Management Committee, as the context requires.
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Management Committee Member – means any Series A Management Committee 
Member or any Additional Series Management Committee Member, as the context requires.

Material Contracts – means any of the following contracts, agreements, letter 
agreements or other instruments to which the Company or any Series is or becomes a party after 
the Effective Date: engineering, procurement and construction contracts, contracts for the 
construction of the Facilities, contracts for the procurement of pipe, compression and associated 
equipment and any other contracts that require expenditures by the Company or any Series in excess 
of [***] Dollars ($[***]) in the aggregate or provide for revenue to the Company or any Series in 
excess of [***] Dollars ($[***]), in each case, subject to the approval of the Management 
Committee(s) governing matters with respect to the Facility or Facilities to which such contracts, 
agreements, letter agreements or other agreements relate, in each case in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of the Series Schedules.

Matured Financing Obligation – means the Company’s or a Series’ debt for 
borrowed money (including any related interest, costs, fees, hedge unwind costs or other repayment 
obligations) that has become due (including by acceleration or any full or partial mandatory 
prepayment thereof) under any Financing Commitment.

Member – means any Person executing this Agreement as of the date of this 
Agreement as a member of a Series or hereafter admitted to a Series as a member as provided in 
this Agreement, but such term does not include any Person who has ceased to be a member in the 
Company. For the avoidance of doubt, a Member must be a Member with respect to at least one 
Series, and no Person shall own a Membership Interest with respect to the Company only. Members 
of a Series shall be deemed to be members of the Company for purposes of the Act having such 
rights, powers and obligations as set forth herein with respect to each Series in which such Member 
owns a Membership Interest.

Member Nonrecourse Debt – has the meaning assigned to the term “partner 
nonrecourse debt” in Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-2(b)(4).

Member Nonrecourse Debt Minimum Gain – has the meaning assigned to the term 
“partner nonrecourse debt minimum gain” in Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-2(i)(2).

Member Nonrecourse Deductions – has the meaning assigned to the term “partner 
nonrecourse deductions” in Treasury Regulation Sections 1.704-2(i)(1) and 1.704-2(i)(2).

Membership Interests – has the meaning set forth in Section 3.01(a).

Minimum Gain – means, with respect to each Series, (a) with respect to Nonrecourse 
Liabilities associated with the Series, the amount of gain that would be realized by the Company 
with respect to the Series if it disposed of (in a taxable transaction) all Company properties with 
respect to the Series that are subject to the Nonrecourse Liabilities in full satisfaction of the 
Nonrecourse Liabilities, computed in accordance with Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-2(d), or 
(b) with respect to each Member Nonrecourse Debt, the amount of gain that would be realized by 
the Company with respect to the Series if it disposed of (in a taxable transaction) the Company 
property with respect to the Series that is subject to such Member Nonrecourse Debt in full 
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satisfaction of such Member Nonrecourse Debt, computed in accordance with Treasury Regulation 
Section 1.704-2(i).

Necessary Regulatory Approvals – means all Authorizations as may be required 
(but excluding Authorizations of a nature not customarily obtained prior to commencement of 
construction of facilities) in connection with (a) the formation of the Company; (b) with respect to 
the Mainline Facilities, (i) the construction, acquisition and operation of the Mainline Facilities and 
(ii) the transportation of the natural gas to be transported under the applicable Gas Transportation 
Service Agreements through the Mainline Facilities, including the FERC Certificate for the Mainline 
Facilities; and (c) with respect to an Additional Transportation Facility, (i) the construction, 
acquisition and operation of such Additional Transportation Facility and (ii) the transportation of 
natural gas to be transported under the applicable Gas Transportation Service Agreements through 
such Additional Transportation Facility, including the ATF FERC Certificate relating to such 
Additional Transportation Facility.

Net Profit or Net Loss – means, with respect to any fiscal year or other period and 
with respect to a Series, the net income or net loss of such Series for such period determined in 
accordance with U.S. federal income tax accounting principles and Section 703(a) of the Code 
(including any items that are separately stated for purposes of Section 702(a) of the Code), with the 
following adjustments (without duplication):

(a) any income of such Series that is exempt from U.S. federal income tax shall 
be included as income;

(b) any expenditures of such Series that are described in Section 705(a)(2)(B) 
of the Code or treated as so described pursuant to Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(i) 
shall be treated as current expenses;

(c) if such Series’ assets are distributed to the Members in kind, such distributions 
shall be treated as sales of such assets for cash at their respective fair market values in determining 
Net Profit and Net Loss; 

(d) in the event the Book Value of any asset of such Series is adjusted pursuant 
to a Revaluation Event, the amount of such adjustment shall be taken into account as gain or loss 
from the disposition of such asset for purposes of computing Net Profit or Net Loss for the fiscal 
year or other relevant period in which such adjustment occurs;

(e) to the extent an adjustment to the adjusted tax basis of any asset of such 
Series pursuant to Section 734(b) of the Code is required pursuant to Treasury Regulation Section 
1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(m)(4) to be taken into account in determining Capital Accounts as a result of a 
distribution other than in liquidation of a Member’s Membership Interest, the amount of such 
adjustment shall be treated as an item of gain (if the adjustment increases the basis of the asset) or 
loss (if the adjustment decreases the basis of the asset) from the disposition of the asset and shall 
be taken into account in computing Net Profit and Net Loss;

(f) gain or loss resulting from any disposition of any asset of such Series with 
respect to which gain or loss is recognized for federal income tax purposes shall be computed by 
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reference to the Book Value of the asset disposed of, notwithstanding that the adjusted tax basis of 
such property differs from its Book Value;

(g) in lieu of the depreciation, amortization and other cost recovery deductions 
taken into account in computing federal taxable income or loss, there shall be taken into account 
Book Depreciation for such fiscal year or other period; and

(h) all items of income, gain, loss or deduction specially allocated pursuant to 
Section 5.02(b) shall be excluded from the determination of Net Profit or Net Loss.

To the extent Net Profit or Net Loss, or items thereof, are not allocable to any particular Series, 
such items should be allocated among the various Series by the Series A Management Committee 
in its discretion.

New Member – means a Person admitted as a Member after the Effective Date 
pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

NGA – means the Natural Gas Act of 1938, as amended.

Non-Changing Founding Member – has the meaning set forth in Section 3.03(b)
(v)(D).

Non-Contributing/Loan Member – has the meaning set forth in Section 4.06(a).

Non-Disposing Founding Member – has the meaning set forth in Section 3.03(b)
(ii)(A).

Nonrecourse Deductions – has the meaning assigned that term in Treasury 
Regulation Sections 1.704-2(b) and 1.704-2(c).

Nonrecourse Liabilities – means, with respect to any Series, nonrecourse liabilities 
(or portions thereof) associated with the Series for which no Member bears the economic risk of 
loss, as determined under Treasury Regulation Sections 1.704-2(b)(3) and 1.752-1(a)(2).

Operating Budget – means, with respect to a Series, the Initial Operating Budget 
and each subsequent annual operating budget for the Series that is approved (or deemed approved) 
by the applicable Management Committee in accordance with this Agreement. Each Operating 
Budget shall cover all items that are classified as non-capital items under Required Accounting 
Practices.

Operator – means the Existing Operator and/or any other operator designated under 
a COM Agreement. The Operator under each COM Agreement shall be the same as the Operator 
under the Existing COM Agreement unless the Operator under the Existing COM Agreement 
consents otherwise.

[***]

Operator Preferential Right – has the meaning set forth in Section 3.03(b)(ii)(D).
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Outstanding Capital Contributions – means, with respect to each Series and with 
respect to any Member as of the time of any determination and with respect to each Series, the 
excess, if any, of (a) the aggregate Capital Contributions previously made by such Member with 
respect to the Series, over (b) the aggregate distributions previously made by the Company to such 
Member with respect to the Series pursuant to Article 5.

Owner Performance Rights – means (a) with respect to the Existing COM 
Agreement, the matters set forth in Section 4.4 thereto and (b) with respect to any other COM 
Agreement, any matters designated as “Owner Performance Rights” in the applicable COM 
Agreement for such Series.

Parent – means (a) with respect to a Member, the Person that directly or indirectly 
ultimately Controls such Member, as set forth in Schedule I, which shall be promptly updated by 
a Member upon any change to the identity of such Member’s Parent, or (b) with respect to an 
Operator, the Person that ultimately Controls such Operator.

Parent Decision Makers – means the chief executive officer of the Parent of each 
Founding Member with respect to the applicable Series or another senior executive officer 
designated in writing by the chief executive officer of the Parent of such Founding Members (a 
copy of which writing to be delivered promptly to the non-delivering Member(s)).

Partnership Representative – has the meaning set forth in Section 8.03(g).

Performance Assurances – has the meaning set forth in Section 4.01(b).

Permitted Encumbrance – means (a) liens for taxes or assessments not yet due or 
not yet delinquent or, if delinquent, that are being contested in good faith in the normal course of 
business; (b) easements, rights-of-way, servitudes, permits, surface leases, and other rights in respect 
of surface operations, pipelines, grazing, logging, canals, ditches, reservoirs or the like, and 
easements for streets, alleys, highways, pipelines, telephone lines, power lines, railways, and other 
easements and rights-of-way, on, over or in respect of any properties that do not materially impair 
the use of the assets of, or the operation of the business of, the Company; and (c) rights reserved to 
or vested in any municipality or governmental, statutory, or public authority to control or regulate 
any properties in any manner, and all applicable Laws of any Governmental Authority.

Person – has the meaning assigned that term in Section 18-101(11) of the Act and 
also includes a Governmental Authority and any other entity.

Precedent Agreement – means any agreement between the Company or a Series and 
a prospective shipper of natural gas through the Mainline Facilities or any Additional Transportation 
Facility that involves the commitment by such shipper to pay demand charges in return for a firm 
transportation obligation on the part of the Company or Series, in each case subject to the satisfaction 
of one or more conditions precedent.

Preferential Exercise Notice – has the meaning set forth in Section 3.03(b)(ii)(A).

Preferential Purchasing Member – has the meaning set forth in Section 3.03(b)(ii)
(A).
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Preferential Right – means, collectively, the General Preferential Right, the Shipper 
Assignee Preferential Right, the Second Shipper Assignee Preferential Right and the Operator 
Preferential Right.

[***]

[***]

Project Schedule – means (a) with respect to Series A, a schedule containing 
milestones and including details to support all major development, engineering, procurement, 
construction, commissioning and testing activities of the Mainline Facilities during the period prior 
to the In-Service Date for the Mainline Facilities, as approved by the Series A Management 
Committee on February 11, 2015, and (b) with respect to each other Series, a schedule containing 
milestones and including details to support all major development, engineering, procurement, 
construction, commissioning and testing activities of any Additional Transportation Facility 
applicable to such Series during the period prior to the In-Service Date for such Additional 
Transportation Facility, as approved by the applicable Management Committee in connection with 
the approval of such Additional Transportation Facility, in each case as may be amended from time 
to time.

Qualified Guarantor – means, with respect to a Member, such Member’s Parent or 
a subsidiary of such Member’s Parent, in each case, so long as such Person is Investment Grade.

Quarter – unless the context requires otherwise, means a fiscal quarter of the 
Company.

Related Party Matter – means (a) any occurrence or circumstance where (i) the 
Company or a Series, on the one hand, and a Member or an Affiliate of such Member, on the other 
hand, propose to enter into, terminate, or amend a contract or arrangement with each other, including, 
without limitation, a Gas Transportation Service Agreement, a Precedent Agreement, a COM 
Agreement, or any other contract or arrangement, or (ii) any Member believes that a dispute has 
arisen between the Company or a Series and an Affiliate of any Member under a Gas Transportation 
Service Agreement, a Precedent Agreement, a COM Agreement, or any other contract or 
arrangement, or (iii) a matter with respect to enforcement under any such Gas Transportation Service 
Agreement, Precedent Agreement, COM Agreement, or other contract or arrangement is involved; 
(b) making any determination as to the suitability of a Qualified Guarantor of a Member or 
substitution of a successor Qualified Guarantor of such Member; (c) the appointment of any Operator 
or Shipper that is an Affiliate of a Member; (d) any decision by the Company or a Series to exercise 
any of Owner Performance Rights under an applicable COM Agreement while an Affiliate of a 
Member is the Operator under such COM Agreement; or (e) making any determination, not to be 
unreasonably withheld, with respect to the suitability of an Operator pursuant to clause (b) of the 
definition of Change of Control.

Representative – means, with respect to a given Management Committee Member, 
a senior officer of such Management Committee Member identified by such Management 
Committee Member to the other Management Committee Member(s). The term “Representative” 
shall also refer to any Alternate Representative that is actually performing the duties of the applicable 
Representative.
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Required Accounting Practices – means the accounting rules and regulations, if 
any, at the time prescribed by the Governmental Authorities under the jurisdiction of which the 
Company is at the time operating and, to the extent of matters not covered by such rules and 
regulations, generally accepted accounting principles as practiced in the United States at the time 
prevailing for companies engaged in a business similar to that of the Company.

Revaluation Event – has the meaning set forth in Section 4.05(b).

Roanoke – has the meaning set forth in the Preamble, or any permitted transferee 
of any of Roanoke’s Membership Interest pursuant to Article 3 of this Agreement.

Rules – has the meaning set forth in Section 11.05(a).

Second Amended and Restated Agreement – has the meaning set forth in the 
Recitals.

Second Amendment – has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

[***]

[***]

[***]

[***]

Selection Notice – has the meaning set forth in Section 11.05(c).

Series – has the meaning set forth Section 3.01(c).

Series A Management Committee – has the meaning set forth in Section 2.02 of 
Schedule I-A.

Series A Management Committee Member – has the meaning set forth in 
Section 2.01 of Schedule I-A.

Series A Member – mean a Member holding Series A Membership Interests from 
time to time, in its capacity as such and not in its capacity as the holder of any other Series of 
Membership Interests.

Series A Membership Interests – has the meaning set forth in Section 3.01(b).

Series Schedule – has the meaning set forth in Section 3.01(d).

Sharing Ratio – means, with respect to a Series and subject in each case to 
adjustments in accordance with this Agreement or in connection with Dispositions of Membership 
Interests, (a) in the case of a Member executing this Agreement as of the date of this Agreement or 
a Person acquiring such Member’s Membership Interest, the percentage specified for that Member 
as its Sharing Ratio in respect of the applicable Series on Schedule I with respect to a Series, and 
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(b) in the case of Membership Interests issued pursuant to Section 3.04, the Sharing Ratio in respect 
of the applicable Series established pursuant thereto; provided that the total of all Sharing Ratios 
in respect of a particular Series shall always equal 100%. For the avoidance of doubt, Sharing Ratios 
shall be determined separately with respect to each Series, and each Member’s Sharing Ratio(s) 
shall be determined separately with respect to each Series held thereby.

[***]

[***]

[***]

Shippers – means each Person that (a) has entered into a Gas Transportation Service 
Agreement with the Company or its designee (or, if applicable, a Precedent Agreement relating 
thereto) to provide transportation of natural gas through a Facility and (b) meets the criteria for 
creditworthiness determined by the Management Committee governing matters with respect to such 
Facility.

Side Letters – means any letter or other agreement entered into between the Company 
or a Series and a Member or a prospective Member that is related to such Member’s or prospective 
Member’s Membership Interest or rights and obligations relating thereto.

Sole Discretion – means, with respect to any Representative, such Representative’s 
sole and absolute discretion, with or without cause, subject to such conditions as such Representative 
shall deem appropriate and without taking into account the interests of, and without incurring liability 
to, the Company, any other Member or Representative, or any Affiliate, officer or employee of the 
Company or any other Member. 

Subject Contract – has the meaning set forth in Section 4.07(a).

Supermajority Interest – means (a) with respect to the Company (and not any 
particular Series) and such other matters as set forth in Section 6.03, and with respect to Series A, 
the approval of the Representatives of the Series A Founding Members representing greater than 
[***]% of the Sharing Ratios of the Series A Founding Members in respect of Series A Membership 
Interests, and (b) with respect to each Additional Series, the approval of the Representatives of the 
Founding Members of such Additional Series representing greater than [***]% of the Sharing Ratios 
of such Founding Members in respect of such Additional Series; provided, however, that, in each 
case, in the event there are no longer any Founding Members with respect to a Series, “Supermajority 
Interest” with respect to the applicable Series shall require the approval of the Representatives of 
the Members of such Series representing greater than [***]% of the Sharing Ratios in respect of 
such Series.

Target Capital Account Amount – has the meaning set forth in Section 5.02(a).

Tax Matters Member – has the meaning set forth in Section 8.03(a).

Term – has the meaning set forth in Section 2.07.
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Total Event Demand Amount – has the meaning set forth in Section 4.07(b).

Treasury Regulations – means the regulations (including temporary regulations) 
promulgated by the United States Department of the Treasury pursuant to and in respect of provisions 
of the Code. All references herein to sections of the Treasury Regulations shall include any 
corresponding provision or provisions of succeeding, similar or substitute, temporary or final 
Treasury Regulations.

USG – has the meaning set forth in the Preamble, or any permitted transferee of any 
of USG’s Membership Interest pursuant to Article 3 of this Agreement.

Vega – has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

Vega Carryco – has the meaning set forth in the Preamble, or any permitted transferee 
of any of Vega Carryco’s Membership Interest pursuant to Article 3 of this Agreement.

[***]

WGL – has the meaning set forth in the Preamble, or any permitted transferee of 
any of WGL’s Membership Interest pursuant to Article 3 of this Agreement.

Withdrawal, or Withdrawn – means or refers to the withdrawal, resignation, or 
retirement of a Member from a Series or the Company. Such terms shall not include any Dispositions 
of Membership Interests (which are governed by Sections 3.03(a) and (b)), even though the Member 
making a Disposition may cease to be a Member as a result of such Disposition.

Withdrawn Member – has the meaning set forth in Section 10.03.

Other terms defined herein have the meanings so given them.

1.02 Interpretation. Unless the context requires otherwise: (a) the gender (or lack of 
gender) of all words used in this Agreement includes the masculine, feminine and neuter; (b) 
references to Articles and Sections refer to Articles and Sections of this Agreement; (c) references 
to Exhibits refer to the Exhibits attached to this Agreement, each of which is made a part hereof for 
all purposes; (d) references to Laws refer to such Laws as they may be amended from time to time, 
and references to particular provisions of a Law include any corresponding provisions of any 
succeeding Law; (e) references to money refer to legal currency of the United States of America; 
(f) the definitions given for terms in this Article 1 and elsewhere in this Agreement shall apply to 
both the singular and plural forms of the terms defined, (g) the conjunction “or” shall be understood 
in its inclusive sense (i.e., and/or); (h) the words “hereby”, “herein”, “hereunder”, “hereof” and 
words of similar import refer to this Agreement as a whole (including any Exhibits and Schedules 
hereto) and not merely to the specific section, paragraph or clause in which such word appears; and 
(i) the word “including” and words of similar import when used in this Agreement will mean 
“including, without limitation,” unless otherwise specified.
ARTICLE 2  

ORGANIZATION
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2.01 Formation. The Company has been organized as a Delaware series limited liability 
company by the filing of the Delaware Certificate and execution of the Initial Agreement as of 
August 22, 2014. 

2.02 Name. The name of the Company is Mountain Valley Pipeline, LLC, and all 
Company business shall be conducted in that name or such other names that comply with Law as 
the Series A Management Committee may select.

2.03 Registered Office; Registered Agent; Principal Office in the United States; 
Other Offices. The registered office of the Company required by the Act to be maintained in the 
State of Delaware shall be the office of the initial registered agent named in the Delaware Certificate 
or such other office (which need not be a place of business of the Company) as the Series A 
Management Committee may designate in the manner provided by Law. The registered agent of 
the Company in the State of Delaware shall be the initial registered agent named in the Delaware 
Certificate or such other Person or Persons as the Series A Management Committee may designate 
in the manner provided by Law. The principal office of the Company in the United States shall be 
at such place as the Series A Management Committee may designate, which need not be in the State 
of Delaware, and the Company shall maintain records there or such other place as the Series A 
Management Committee shall designate and shall keep the street address of such principal office 
at the registered office of the Company in the State of Delaware. The Company may have such 
other offices as the Series A Management Committee may designate.

2.04 Purposes. The purposes of the Company are (a) to plan, design, construct, acquire, 
own, finance, maintain, and operate the Facilities (including through the ownership of equity 
interests of a Person who owns any Facilities), (b) to market the services of the Facilities, (c) to 
engage in the transmission of natural gas through the Facilities, (d) to lease any of the Facilities or 
any capacity thereon, (e) to lease capacity in pipelines or related facilities owned or leased by third 
parties and (f) to engage in any activities directly or indirectly relating thereto, including the 
Disposition of any of the Facilities.

2.05 No State Law Partnership. The Members intend that the Company shall be a limited 
liability company and, except as provided in Article 8 with respect to U.S. federal income tax 
treatment (and other tax treatment therewith), the Company shall not be a partnership (including a 
limited partnership) or joint venture, and no Member shall be a partner or joint venture of any other 
Member, for any purposes, and this Agreement may not be construed to suggest otherwise.

2.06 Foreign Qualification. Prior to the Company’s conducting business in any 
jurisdiction other than Delaware, the Series A Management Committee shall cause the Company 
to comply, to the extent procedures are available and those matters are reasonably within the control 
of the Series A Management Committee, with all requirements necessary to qualify the Company 
as a foreign limited liability company in that jurisdiction. At the request of the Series A Management 
Committee, each Member shall execute, acknowledge, swear to, and deliver all certificates and 
other instruments conforming with this Agreement that are strictly necessary to qualify, continue, 
and terminate the Company as a foreign limited liability company in all such jurisdictions in which 
the Company may conduct business; provided, that no such certificate or instrument shall create 
any liability on behalf of such Member.
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2.07 Term. The period of existence of the Company (the “Term”) commenced on August 
22, 2014 and shall end at such time as a certificate of cancellation is filed with the Secretary of State 
of Delaware in accordance with Section 12.04.

2.08 Title to Property. All assets, property and rights of the Company shall be owned 
or leased by the Company and all assets, property and rights of each Series shall be owned or leased 
by such Series, except that the Company shall own or lease assets, property and rights of a Series 
(a) where the Company is required to own or lease such assets, property, and rights on behalf of 
such Series in order to comply with applicable Law or (b) as otherwise determined by the Series A 
Management Committee and the Additional Series Management Committee of such Series, acting 
together, and, except with respect to assets, property or rights of the Company or any Series leased 
or licensed to the Company or a Series by a Member (subject to the terms hereof), no Member shall 
have any ownership interest in such assets, property or rights in its individual name or right, and 
each Member’s Membership Interest shall be personal property for all purposes. Subject to Section 
3.01(b), the Company shall hold all assets, property and rights of the Company or any Series in the 
name of the Company or such Series, as the case may be, and not in the name of any Member.
ARTICLE 3  

MEMBERSHIP INTERESTS; DISPOSITIONS OF INTERESTS

3.01 Capital Structure. 

(a) The capital structure of the Company shall consist of one or more series of 
limited liability company interests called “Membership Interests,” which shall represent, with 
respect to any Member and with respect to each Series, (i) that Member’s status as a Member of 
such Series; (ii) that Member’s share of the income, gain, loss, deduction, and credits of, and the 
right to receive distributions from, such Series; (iii) any [***] to which that Member is entitled 
pursuant to Section 4.06(c); (iv) all other rights, benefits, and privileges enjoyed by that Member 
(under the Act, this Agreement, or otherwise) in its capacity as a Member of such Series, including 
that Member’s rights to vote, consent, and approve amendments to this Agreement pursuant to 
Section 13.05; (v) a Member’s rights, if any, to participate in the management of such Series through 
any Management Committee; and (vi) all obligations, duties, and liabilities imposed on that Member 
(under the Act or this Agreement or otherwise) in its capacity as a Member of such Series, including 
any obligations to make Capital Contributions to such Series to the extent set forth in Article 4. 

(b) As of the Effective Date, the Membership Interests consist of one Series, 
referred to as “Series A Membership Interests;” provided, that concurrently with the execution 
hereof an Additional Series referred to as “Series B Membership Interests” has been approved by 
the Series A Management Committee (or the predecessor thereof prior to the execution of this 
Agreement). Set forth on Schedule I-A are, with respect to each Series A Member, such Series A 
Member’s name, notice information, Series A Membership Interests, applicable Sharing Ratios, 
Parent, Representatives (if applicable) and certain other information with respect thereto. The 
information regarding the ownership of Series A Membership Interests set forth on Schedule I-A
may be updated by the Series A Founding Members from time to time to reflect certain administrative 
changes thereto (e.g., changes in the applicable Sharing Ratio upon a Disposition of Series A 
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Membership Interests pursuant to this Agreement or changes to a Series A Member’s contact 
information) without approval of any other Member. 

(c) The Series A Management Committee (or the predecessor thereof prior to 
the execution of this Agreement, in the case of Series existing on the date of this Agreement) may, 
in the Sole Discretion of the Representatives thereto, from time to time, authorize additional Series 
pursuant to Section 18-215(b) of the Act (each, a “Series”), and the Additional Series Management 
Committee of the applicable Additional Series may, subject to and in accordance with Section 3.04, 
issue Membership Interests of the applicable Additional Series, in connection with Additional 
Transportation Facilities, each of which Additional Series shall be designated by a sequential letter 
(e.g., Series B Membership Interests, Series C Membership Interests, etc.) (each, an “Additional 
Series,” and each Member holding a Membership Interest of an Additional Series, in its capacity 
as such and not in its capacity as the holder of any other Series of Membership Interests, an 
“Additional Series Member”). In connection with the authorization of each Additional Series 
pursuant to this Section 3.01(c), the Series A Management Committee shall append a new sequential 
Series Schedule (e.g., Schedule I-B, Schedule I-C, etc.) hereto describing (i) the Additional 
Transportation Facilities to which such Additional Series relates, (ii) any specific governance rights 
held by Additional Series Members, including any Management Committee rights with respect to 
such Additional Series, (iii) obligations, duties and liabilities accruing to each Additional Series 
Member in respect of the development of the Additional Transportation Facilities to which such 
Additional Series relates, (iv) any Performance Assurances required to be delivered to the Company 
by or on behalf of the Additional Series Members, including the timing of the delivery of, and the 
amount of, such Performance Assurances, and (v) any other rights, benefits, privileges, obligations, 
duties or liabilities accruing to Members holding Membership Interests of such Additional Series 
not otherwise provided for in this Agreement. Legal title to any assets allocated to a Series may be 
held in the name of such Series or in the Company’s name (on behalf of such Series), as may be 
determined by the Series A Management Committee and the Additional Series Management 
Committee of such Series, acting together, in accordance with Section 2.08. The Series A Founding 
Members shall have preemptive rights to acquire their pro rata share of any Membership Interests 
issued in any Additional Series on such terms as determined by the Series A Management Committee.  
Each Series A Founding Member’s pro rata share shall be determined based on their Sharing Ratio 
in Series A then in effect.  Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement or otherwise agreed in 
writing between the Company, upon the approval of the Series A Management Committee, and an 
applicable Member being granted such right, no Member other than the Series A Founding Members 
shall have the right to participate in any Additional Series or to be issued Membership Interests of 
any Additional Series, and any such participation or issuance shall be determined by the Series A 
Management Committee. For the avoidance of doubt, the provisions of each Series Schedule shall 
affect only the preferences, rights, powers and duties attributable to Membership Interests of the 
Series to which such Series Schedule relates and shall not affect Membership Interests of any other 
Series unless explicitly stated to the contrary.

(d) Each Series shall have a Facility or Facilities attributable thereto, and all 
revenues, costs, expenses, liabilities and other similar metrics with respect to such Facility or 
Facilities shall be attributable only to such Series. Each Series shall also have designated on Schedule 
I for each such Series (a “Series Schedule”) the Facility or Facilities applicable to such Series and 
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any other information or provisions related to such Series. Subject to applicable Law, each Member 
hereby fully waives its right to access, receive or otherwise view any Series Schedule pertaining to 
a Series of which such Member does not own any Membership Interests. Schedule I-A sets forth 
the Facility or Facilities applicable to Series A Membership Interests and certain other information 
or provisions related to the Series A Membership Interests. For the avoidance of doubt, the Members 
agree that all Capital Contributions made prior to the date hereof and other actions, assets, expenses, 
liabilities and other metrics related to the Mainline Facilities shall be allocated and attributable only 
to Series A.

(e) Separate and distinct records shall be maintained for each Series and the 
assets and liabilities associated with each Series shall be held and accounted for separately from 
the other assets and liabilities of any other Series for all purposes.  Each Series may open a separate 
bank account for such Series. The Membership Interests of each Series shall have the terms, 
preferences, powers, rights, and obligations as set forth herein and as may be otherwise set forth 
on the Series Schedule adopted for such Series by the Series A Management Committee or as 
determined by the Additional Series Management Committee of such Additional Series in 
accordance with Section 3.04.  Each Member shall have such Sharing Ratio in Series A as set forth 
on Schedule I-A and shall have such Sharing Ratio in each such Additional Series as set forth on 
any Series Schedule adopted by the Series A Management Committee for such Additional Series 
with the written resolution authorizing the applicable Additional Series, and this Agreement shall 
accordingly be amended with each such Additional Series Schedule. The Sharing Ratios set forth 
on each Series Schedule may be revised upon the issuance of additional Membership Interests by 
each such Additional Series, in accordance with this Section 3.01(e), Section 3.03(d) and/or 
Section 3.04. In the case of any such Additional Series that is not treated as a separate partnership 
for U.S. federal tax purposes (if so determined by the Series A Management Committee), the Series 
Schedule for such Series shall either provide that any or all of Sections 4.05, 5.02, 5.03, 8.02 or 
8.03 hereof do not apply to such Series or shall otherwise provide how such Sections (or any other 
Sections hereof) are modified with respect to such Series, as agreed to by the Members holding 
Membership Interests in such Series; provided that, so long as a Series generates, or can reasonably 
be expected to generate, income for U.S. federal income tax purposes that is or would be exclusively 
“qualifying income” (as such term is defined pursuant to Section 7704 of the Code), such Series 
shall not be treated other than as a separate partnership (or disregarded as an entity separate from 
a separate partnership) for U.S. federal tax purposes.  All profits, losses and other items generated 
by assets allocated to a Series shall inure to the benefit of only the Members holding Membership 
Interests in such Series in accordance with Section 5.02. Subject to Article 12, a Series may not be 
terminated and its affairs wound up pursuant to Section 18-215(k) of the Act without the affirmative 
vote of a Supermajority Interest of the Representatives with respect to such Series.

(f) All debts, liabilities, obligations and expenses incurred, contracted for or 
otherwise existing with respect to each Series shall be enforceable against the assets of such Series 
only and not against the assets of the Company generally or any other Series, and none of the debts, 
liabilities, obligations, or expenses incurred, contracted for, or otherwise existing with respect to 
the Company generally or any other Series shall be enforceable against the assets of such Series.  
Any Person extending credit to, contracting with, or otherwise having any claim against any Series 
may look only to the assets of that Series to satisfy any such obligation or claim and shall have no 
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claim or right to any assets allocated to or belonging to any other Series or the Company generally.  
Notice of this limitation on liabilities to Series has been set forth in the Delaware Certificate, and 
the statutory provisions of Section 18-215 of the Act (and the statutory effect under Section 18-215 
of setting forth such notice in the Certificate of Formation) shall be applicable to the Company and 
each Series that may be established. 

(g) To the extent there are any liabilities, obligations or expenses that are 
applicable to the Company as a whole, the Series A Management Committee shall determine the 
portion of such liabilities, obligations or expenses to be satisfied, discharged or paid by each Series 
[***]. 

(h) In the event that the Company or one or more Series (each, an “Indemnified 
Body”) are made a party to any claim, dispute, or litigation or otherwise incurs any loss or expense 
as a result of, or in connection with, any obligations or liabilities of any other Series (the 
“Indemnifying Series”), the Indemnifying Series shall indemnify, defend, hold harmless and 
reimburse each Indemnified Body for such loss, liability, damage, cost and expense to which such 
Indemnified Body shall become subject (including reasonable attorneys’ and accountants’ fees and 
expenses).

3.02 Representations, Warranties and Covenants.

(a) Each Member (as of the Effective Date), each New Member (as of such 
Person’s date of admission as a Member) and each time a Member or New Member becomes a 
Member of an Additional Series (as of the date such Person becomes a Member of such Additional 
Series) hereby represents, warrants, and covenants to the Company and to each other Member that 
the following statements are true and correct:

(i) that such Member is duly incorporated, organized, or formed (as 
applicable), validly existing, and (if applicable) in good standing under the Law of the 
jurisdiction of its incorporation, organization, or formation; if required by applicable Law, that 
such Member is duly qualified and in good standing in the jurisdiction of its principal place of 
business, if different from its jurisdiction of incorporation, organization, or formation; and that 
such Member has the requisite power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and 
to perform its obligations hereunder, and all necessary actions by the board of directors, officers, 
shareholders, managers, members, partners, trustees, beneficiaries, or other applicable Persons 
necessary for the due authorization, execution, delivery, and performance of this Agreement 
(including the applicable Series Schedules) by that Member have been duly taken;

(ii) that such Member has duly executed and delivered this Agreement 
and/or the applicable Series Schedules, as the case may be, and the other documents that this 
Agreement contemplates that such Member will execute, and they each constitute the valid and 
binding obligation of such Member enforceable against it in accordance with their respective 
terms (except as may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency or similar Laws of general application 
and by the effect of general principles of equity, regardless of whether considered at law or in 
equity); and
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(iii) that such Member’s authorization, execution, delivery, and 
performance of this Agreement and/or the applicable Series Schedules, as the case may be, does 
not and will not (A) conflict with, or result in a breach, default or violation of, (1) the 
organizational documents of such Member, (2) any contract or agreement to which that Member 
is a party or is otherwise subject, or (3) any Law, writ, injunction or arbitral award to which 
such Member is subject; or (B) other than the ATF FERC Applications and the Necessary 
Regulatory Approvals that the Members have agreed to obtain pursuant to Article 7 and the 
applicable Series Schedule, require any consent, approval, or authorization from, filing or 
registration with, or notice to, any Governmental Authority or other Person, unless such 
requirement has already been satisfied.

(b) The Company hereby represents and warrants, and the Company covenants, 
to each Member that the following statements are true and correct as of the Effective Date:

(i) (A) the Company is duly formed and is validly existing, and in good 
standing under the Act; (B) the Company has full power and authority to execute and deliver 
this Agreement and to perform its obligations hereunder (including the issuance of the 
Membership Interests to each Member), and all necessary actions by the Company’s managers, 
members or other applicable Persons necessary for the due authorization, execution, delivery, 
and performance of this Agreement by the Company have been duly taken; and (C) the Company 
has, or upon execution had, as applicable, full power and authority to [***];

(ii) the issuance of the Membership Interests to each Member, as 
contemplated hereby, has been duly authorized by all requisite limited liability company action 
on the part of the Company and its members, managers or other applicable Persons, and such 
Membership Interests are validly issued and, subject only to the terms of Article 4, fully paid 
and nonassessable and, subject to the restrictions in Article 3, are being issued free and clear of 
any preemptive rights under the Act or other applicable law, the organizational documents of 
the Company, and any other contract to which the Company or its members, managers or other 
Person is bound or by which their property is subject;

(iii) no other Person has any right to acquire any Membership Interest or 
other equity interest in the Company or take part in the management of the Company; and

(iv) other than [***], the Company has not entered into any contract, 
agreement, or other arrangement with any Person regarding voting rights with respect to the 
Company. 

3.03 Dispositions and Encumbrances of Membership Interests. 

(a) General Restriction. A Member may not Dispose of or Encumber all or any 
portion of its Membership Interest except in strict accordance with this Section 3.03. References 
in this Section 3.03 to Dispositions or Encumbrances of a “Membership Interest” shall also refer 
to Dispositions or Encumbrances of a portion of a Membership Interest. Any attempted Disposition 
or Encumbrance of a Membership Interest, other than in strict accordance with this Section 3.03, 
shall be, and is hereby declared, null and void ab initio. The rights and obligations constituting a 
Membership Interest may not be separated, divided or split from the other attributes of a Membership 
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Interest except as contemplated by the express provisions of this Agreement. The Members agree 
that the provisions of this Section 3.03 may be enforced by specific performance pursuant to Section 
11.04.

(b) Dispositions of Membership Interests.

(i) General Restriction. Subject to Sections 3.03(d), (e) and (f), no 
Member may Dispose of its Membership Interest in a Series without the prior written consent 
of (x) [***] the Series A Management Committee and (y) [***] of the Management Committee 
of such Series;  provided, however, that no such consent shall be required (A) with respect to 
any Series A Founding Member with respect to any Series in which such Series A Founding 
Member owns Membership Interests, where such Disposition would not cause the Company or 
applicable Series to be treated as a publicly traded partnership subject to tax as an association 
for U.S. federal income tax purposes and (B) with respect to a [***] or any other Member (other 
than a Series A Founding Member), where such Disposition would not cause any adverse tax 
consequences to the Company, any Series or any Member, and would not cause the Company 
or applicable Series to be treated as a publicly traded partnership subject to tax as an association 
for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Subject to receiving the consent required in the foregoing 
sentence, if necessary, a Member may Dispose of its Membership Interest only by complying 
with all of the following requirements: (I) such Member must offer the Series A Founding 
Members the right to acquire such Membership Interest in accordance with Section 3.03(b)(ii), 
unless (1) the proposed Assignee is an Affiliate of the Disposing Member or the Representatives 
of the Series A Founding Members consent to the Disposition to such Assignee, which consent 
may be granted or withheld in the Sole Discretion of each such Representative or (2) the 
Disposition is made by EQT or USG in accordance with Sections 3.03(e) or (f); and (II) such 
Member must comply with the requirements of Section 3.03(b)(iv) and, if the Assignee is to be 
admitted as a Member, Section 3.03(b)(iii).

(ii) Preferential Purchase Rights.

(A) Preferential Purchase Rights. Subject to Section 3.03(b)(ii)
(B), Section 3.03(b)(ii)(C) and Section 3.03(b)(ii)(D), if a Member desires 
to consummate a bona fide transaction that will result in the Disposition of 
all or a portion of its Membership Interest in a Series (whether or not the 
proposed Disposition is to another Member), then such Member (the 
“Disposing Member”) shall promptly give notice thereof (the “Disposition 
Notice”) to the Company and each Series A Founding Member; provided
that this Section 3.03(b)(ii) shall not apply to a Disposition to an Affiliate of 
the Disposing Member or a Disposition in accordance with Section 3.03(d), 
[***], or Section 3.03(e) or Section 3.03(f). The Disposition Notice shall set 
forth all relevant information with respect to the proposed Disposition, 
including the name and address of the prospective acquirer, the precise 
Membership Interest and Series that is the subject of the Disposition, the 
price to be paid for such Membership Interest, and any other terms and 
conditions of the proposed Disposition. If any Member is a Disposing 
Member but either or both of EQT and/or USG and their respective Affiliates 
are not the Disposing Member (such of EQT and/or USG and their respective 
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Affiliates as is not a Disposing Member being referred to herein as the “Non-
Disposing Founding Member(s)”), such Non-Disposing Founding 
Member(s) shall have the right (the “General Preferential Right”) to acquire, 
for the same purchase price, and on the same material terms and conditions, 
as are set forth in the Disposition Notice, some or all of the Membership 
Interest specified in the Disposition Notice; provided that, if the purchase 
price to be paid to the Disposing Member pursuant to the proposed 
Disposition is not entirely in cash, the purchase price for the Non-Disposing 
Founding Member(s) exercising the General Preferential Right shall be 
[***]. The Non-Disposing Founding Member(s) shall have [***] Business 
Days following receipt of the Disposition Notice (or if the price to be paid 
pursuant to such offer is not in cash, then [***] Business Days following 
[***], subject to any reasonable and necessary extension to obtain customary 
board approval, in which to notify the other Members (including the 
Disposing Member) whether such Non-Disposing Founding Member(s) 
desires to exercise its General Preferential Right. A notice in which a Non-
Disposing Founding Member exercises such General Preferential Right is 
referred to herein as a “Preferential Exercise Notice” and as deliverer of a 
Preferential Exercise Notice, such Non-Disposing Founding Member is 
referred to herein as a “Preferential Purchasing Member.” The Preferential 
Purchasing Member(s) shall indicate in a Preferential Exercise Notice 
whether the Preferential Purchasing Member(s) elects to purchase all of the 
Disposing Member’s Membership Interest as set forth in the Disposition 
Notice or a portion thereof. In the event that more than one of EQT or USG 
(or their respective Affiliates) is a Preferential Purchasing Member, then each 
Preferential Purchasing Member shall indicate in a Preferential Exercise 
Notice whether it elects to purchase only its pro rata share of the Membership 
Interest offered in the Disposition Notice (based on its Sharing Ratio in the 
applicable Series) or whether such Preferential Purchasing Member elects 
to purchase a greater portion of such Membership Interest (up to the full 
amount thereof). If the Preferential Purchasing Member(s) elects to exercise 
the General Preferential Right to purchase the entire Membership Interest 
offered in the Disposition Notice (subject to proration based on the 
Preferential Purchasing Members’ respective Sharing Ratios in the applicable 
Series in the event that Preferential Purchasing Members elected to purchase 
a greater number of Membership Interests than the amount offered), the 
Disposing Member and the Preferential Purchasing Member(s) shall close 
the acquisition of the Membership Interest in accordance with Section 3.03(b)
(ii)(C).  In the event that the Preferential Purchasing Member(s) elect to 
purchase less than the entire Membership Interest specified in the Disposition 
Notice, then the Disposing Member shall have the right to Dispose of the 
remaining amount of the unexercised portion of the Membership Interest in 
accordance with Section 3.03(b)(ii)(C). 

(B) [***]

(C) [***]
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(D) Preferential Purchase Right Resulting from Disposition of 
Membership Interests Held by an Operator. Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
for so long as an Operator is an Affiliate of a Member, if the Disposing 
Member is such Operator and the Assignee of such Disposing Member’s 
Membership Interests is not an Affiliate of such Member (including, for the 
avoidance of doubt, in the event such Operator is an Affiliate of EQT or 
EQM, where the Assignee is not an Affiliate of either EQT or EQM), then 
such Disposing Member shall promptly deliver the Disposition Notice to the 
Non-Disposing Founding Members that are not Affiliates of such Operator, 
and such Non-Disposing Founding Members and their Affiliates shall have 
the right (the “Operator Preferential Right”) to acquire a portion of the 
Membership Interests of the Disposing Member for the same purchase price 
and on the same material terms and conditions as are set forth in the 
Disposition Notice; provided that, if the purchase price to be paid to the 
Disposing Member pursuant to the proposed Disposition is not entirely in 
cash, the purchase price shall be [***]. The Non-Disposing Founding 
Members and their Affiliates shall have [***] Business Days following 
receipt of the Disposition Notice (or if the price to be paid pursuant to such 
offer is not in cash, then [***] Business Days following [***]), subject to 
any reasonable and necessary extension to obtain customary board approval, 
in which to notify the Disposing Member whether they desire to exercise the 
Operator Preferential Right. To the extent a Non-Disposing Founding 
Member or any of its Affiliates exercises its Operator Preferential Right, such 
Non-Disposing Founding Member (or its Affiliate) will be deemed a 
Preferential Purchasing Member. If the Non-Disposing Founding Member 
or any of its Affiliates elects to exercise the Operator Preferential Right to 
purchase the entire Membership Interest offered in the Disposition Notice, 
then the Disposing Member and the Non-Disposing Founding Member (or 
its Affiliate) shall close the acquisition of the Membership Interest in 
accordance with Section 3.03(b)(ii)(E). In the event that the Non-Disposing 
Founding Member (or its Affiliate) elects to purchase less than the entire 
Membership Interest specified in the Disposition Notice, then the Disposing 
Member shall have the right to Dispose of the remaining amount of the 
unexercised portion of the Membership Interest in accordance with 
Section 3.03(b)(ii)(E). 

(E) Closing. If the Preferential Rights are exercised in accordance 
with Section 3.03(b)(ii)(A), 3.03(b)(ii)(B),  3.03(b)(ii)(D), as applicable, the 
closing of the purchase of the Membership Interest shall occur at the principal 
place of business of the Company no later than the [***] Day after the 
expiration of the [***]-Day period referred to in Section 3.03(b)(ii)(A), 
3.03(b)(ii)(B), 3.03(b)(ii)(C) or Section 3.03(b)(ii)(D), as applicable, subject 
to such extensions as may be necessary to obtain all applicable Authorizations 
to the purchase (and in such instance, the fifth Business Day after the receipt 
of all such applicable Authorizations to the purchase), unless the Disposing 
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Member and the Preferential Purchasing Member(s) agree upon a different 
place or date. At the closing, (1) the Disposing Member shall execute and 
deliver to the Preferential Purchasing Member(s) (aa) an assignment of the 
Membership Interest, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the 
Preferential Purchasing Member(s) containing a general warranty of title as 
to such Membership Interest (including that such Membership Interest is free 
and clear of all Encumbrances, other than those permitted under Section 
3.03(c)(ii)) and (bb) any other instruments reasonably requested by the 
Preferential Purchasing Member(s) to give effect to the purchase; and (2) the 
Preferential Purchasing Member(s) shall deliver to the Disposing Member 
in immediately-available funds the purchase price provided for in Section 
3.03(b)(ii)(A), 3.03(b)(ii)(B), 3.03(b)(ii)(C) or Section 3.03(b)(ii)(D), as 
applicable. The Sharing Ratios in respect of the Series Disposed of and 
Capital Accounts of the Members shall be adjusted to reflect the effect of the 
purchase.

(F) Waiver of Preferential Right. If no Non-Disposing Founding 
Member, Diluted Member or Second Preferential Member, as applicable, 
delivers a notice of exercise of a Preferential Right, or if the Preferential 
Rights, as applicable, are not exercised in full pursuant to Section 3.03(b)(ii)
(A), 3.03(b)(ii)(B), 3.03(b)(ii)(C) or 3.03(b)(ii)(D), the Disposing Member 
shall have the right, subject to compliance with the provisions of Sections 
3.03(a) and (b), to Dispose of the portion of the Membership Interest 
described in the Disposition Notice that is not purchased pursuant to a 
Preferential Right, as applicable, to the proposed Assignee strictly in 
accordance with the terms of the Disposition Notice for a period of [***] 
Days after the expiration of the [***]-Day period referred to in such Section 
3.03(b)(ii)(A), 3.03(b)(ii)(B), 3.03(b)(ii)(C) or Section 3.03(b)(ii)(D) (or, if 
later, the fifth Business Day after the receipt of all applicable Authorizations 
to the purchase). If, however, the Disposing Member fails so to Dispose of 
the Membership Interest within such [***]-Day period (or, if applicable, such 
fifth Business Day period), the proposed Disposition shall again become 
subject to the Preferential Rights.

(G) Transfer of Operator Rights. In connection with a Disposition 
of Membership Interests where the rights provided for in this Section 3.03(b)
(ii) are not exercised or where such rights are waived pursuant to Section 
3.03(b)(ii)(F), the Member with the right to appoint an Operator (which 
Member shall initially be EQT with respect to the Existing COM Agreement) 
may transfer such right to appoint such Operator to the assignee of such 
Membership Interests; provided, however, that, except with respect to 
transfers to an Affiliate, any successor Operator appointed by the transferee 
of such right to appoint such Operator and the Parent of such Operator must 
have the experience, safety record, creditworthiness, and financial 
wherewithal generally acceptable within the midstream natural gas industry. 
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(iii) Admission of Assignee as a Member. An Assignee has the right to be 
admitted to the Company as a Member, with the Membership Interest in the applicable Series 
(and attendant Sharing Ratio) so transferred to such Assignee, only if such Disposition is effected 
in strict compliance with Sections 3.03(a) and (b) or is effected in accordance with Section 
3.03(d), [***], or Section 3.03(e) or Section 3.03(f).

(iv) Requirements Applicable to All Dispositions and Admissions. In 
addition to the requirements set forth in Sections 3.03(b)(i), 3.03(b)(ii) and 3.03(b)(iii), any 
Disposition of a Membership Interest and any admission of an Assignee as a Member shall also 
be subject to the following requirements, and such Disposition (and admission, if applicable) 
shall not be effective unless such requirements are complied with; provided, that any of the 
following requirements may be waived if such waiver is approved by a Supermajority Interest 
of both the Representatives of the Series A Management Committee and the Representatives of 
the Management Committee governing matters relating the Series of Membership Interests 
being Disposed of (other than clause (A)(4), which shall only require the approval of a 
Supermajority Interest of the Representatives of the Series A Management Committee), in each 
case in their Sole Discretion:

(A) Disposition Documents. The following documents must be 
delivered to each Management Committee and must be satisfactory, in form 
and substance, to such Management Committee in its sole and absolute 
discretion:

(1) Disposition Instrument. A copy of the instrument pursuant to 
which the Disposition is effected.

(2) Ratification of this Agreement. An instrument, executed by 
the Disposing Member and its Assignee, containing the following 
information and agreements, to the extent they are not contained in the 
instrument described in Section 3.03(b)(iv)(A)(1): (aa) the notice address of 
the Assignee; (bb) if applicable, the Parent of the Assignee; (cc) the Sharing 
Ratios of the Disposing Member and its Assignee in respect of the Series 
Disposed of after the Disposition (which together must total the Sharing 
Ratio(s) of the Disposing Member in respect of the Series Disposed of before 
the Disposition); (dd) the Assignee’s ratification of this Agreement, as 
modified by any applicable amendment, supplement or side letter hereto, and 
agreement to be bound by it, and its confirmation that the representations 
and warranties in Section 3.02 are true and correct with respect to it; (ee) 
[***] and (ff) representations and warranties by the Disposing Member and 
its Assignee (1) that the Disposition and admission is being made in 
accordance with all applicable Laws, (2) that the matter set forth in Section 
3.03(b)(iv)(A)(3) is true and correct, and (3) that the Disposition and 
admission do not violate any Financing Commitment or any other agreement 
to which the Company is a party.
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(3) Securities Law Opinion. Upon the reasonable request of either 
such Management Committee, unless the Membership Interest subject to the 
Disposition is registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and 
any applicable state securities Law, a favorable opinion of the Disposing 
Member’s legal counsel, or, if so elected by either such Management 
Committee, the Company’s legal counsel or other legal counsel acceptable 
to such Management Committee, to the effect that the Disposition and 
admission is being made pursuant to a valid exemption from registration 
under those Laws and in accordance with those Laws; provided that no such 
opinion shall be required in the case of a Disposition by a Member to an 
Affiliate or a Disposition made in accordance with Section 3.03(d), with 
respect to [***], or Section 3.03(e) or Section 3.03(f).

(4) Tax Opinion. A favorable opinion of the Disposing Member’s 
legal counsel, or, if so elected by the Series A Management Committee, the 
Company’s legal counsel or other legal counsel acceptable to the Series A 
Management Committee, to the effect that the Disposition is being made to 
a transferee that either (aa) is not a partnership, grantor trust, or Subchapter 
S corporation for United States federal income tax purposes, or (bb) is a 
partnership, grantor trust, or Subchapter S corporation for United States 
federal income tax purposes that is not part of a tiered arrangement, a principal 
purpose of which is to permit the Company or applicable Series to satisfy 
the 100 partner limitation set forth in Treasury Regulation Section 
1.7704-1(h)(1)(ii); provided that no such opinion shall be required in the case 
of a Disposition by a Member to an Affiliate or a Disposition made in 
accordance with Section 3.03(d), with respect to [***], or Section 3.03(e) or 
Section 3.03(f).

(B) Payment of Expenses. The Disposing Member and its 
Assignee shall pay, or reimburse the Company for, all reasonable costs and 
expenses incurred by the Company in connection with the Disposition and 
admission, including the legal fees incurred in connection with the legal 
opinions referred to in Section 3.03(b)(iv)(A)(3) and (4), on or before the 
10th Day after the receipt by that Person of the Company’s invoice for the 
amount due. The Company will provide such invoice as soon as practicable 
after the amount due is determined but in no event later than [***] Days 
thereafter. If payment is not made by the date due, the Person owing that 
amount shall pay interest on the unpaid amount from the date due until paid 
at a rate per annum equal to the Default Rate.

(C) No Release. No Disposition of a Membership Interest shall 
effect a release of the Disposing Member from any liabilities to the Company 
or the other Members arising from events occurring prior to the Disposition.

(D) Indebtedness of Company. Any Disposition of all or any 
portion of the Membership Interest of a Member shall also include the 



 

35

Disposition of a proportionate share of the Indebtedness owed by the 
Company or applicable Series to the Disposing Member relating to the 
Membership Interests Disposed of. As long as this Agreement shall remain 
in effect, all evidences of Indebtedness of the Company owed to any of the 
Members shall bear an appropriate legend to indicate that it is held subject 
to, and may be Disposed of only in accordance with, the terms and conditions 
of this Agreement, and that such Disposition may be made only in conjunction 
with the Disposition of a proportionate part of such Member’s Membership 
Interest. If such Indebtedness was incurred prior to the Effective Date, then 
such Indebtedness is deemed to have been incurred in connection with the 
Mainline Facilities and is therefore deemed to relate to Series A Membership 
Interests, and if such Indebtedness is incurred after the Effective Date, then 
such Indebtedness shall be deemed to relate to the Series for which such 
Indebtedness was incurred; provided, that if such Indebtedness applies to the 
Company as a whole then a portion of such Indebtedness shall be allocated 
to each Series by the Series A Management Committee. 

(v) Change of Control.

(A) General Buy-out Right. Subject to Section 3.03(b)(v)(B), 
Section 3.03(b)(v)(C) and Section 3.03(b)(v)(D), in the event of a Change 
of Control, then the Member with respect to which the Change of Control 
has occurred (the “Changing Member”) shall promptly (and in all events 
within [***] Business Days after entrance into a definitive agreement 
providing for a Change of Control) give notice thereof (the “Control Notice”) 
to the Company and each Series A Founding Member. If the Control Notice 
is not given by the Changing Member as provided above and any other 
Member becomes aware of such Change of Control, such other Member shall 
have the right to give the Control Notice to the Changing Member, the 
Company and the other Members. Each of EQT and USG and their respective 
Affiliates (excluding the Changing Member and its Affiliates) shall have the 
right (the “General Buy-out Right”) to acquire the Membership Interest of 
the Changing Member for [***] on the terms set forth herein. Each of EQT 
and USG and their respective Affiliates (excluding the Changing Member 
and its Affiliates) shall have the right (but not the obligation) to acquire all 
or any portion of the Membership Interest of the Changing Member that is 
equal to, [***]. Each of EQT and USG and their respective Affiliates (other 
than the Changing Member) shall have [***] Business Days, subject to any 
reasonable and necessary extension to obtain customary board approval, 
following the determination of [***] of such Membership Interest in which 
to notify each other Member and the Changing Member whether it desires 
to exercise its General Buy-out Right. A notice in which EQT and/or USG 
or their respective Affiliates exercises such General Buy-out Right is referred 
to herein as a “Change Exercise Notice,” and a Member that delivers a 
Change Exercise Notice is referred to herein as a “Change Purchasing 
Member.” If, at the end of such [***]-Day period, there remains a portion 
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of the Membership Interest for which such General Buy-out Right has not 
been exercised (a “Change Unexercised Portion”), then the Change 
Purchasing Members shall have an additional [***]-Day period in which to 
elect to purchase the remaining Change Unexercised Portion. The Changing 
Member and the Change Purchasing Members shall close the acquisition of 
the Membership Interest in accordance with Section 3.03(b)(v)(E). A 
Member that fails to exercise a right during any applicable period set forth 
in this Section 3.03(b)(v)(A) shall be deemed to have waived such right for 
the subject Change of Control, but not any right for future Changes of Control. 
If none of EQT or USG or their respective Affiliates exercises the General 
Buy-out Right, the Change of Control shall be effective and the successor in 
interest to the Changing Member shall be admitted as a Member upon 
compliance with Section 3.03(b)(iv). 

(B) [***] 

(C) [***] 

(D) Change of Control of Member That Is an Operator. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, [***]. 

(E) Closing. If the [***].

(F) Definitions. As used in this Section 3.03(b)(v), [***]. 

(c) Encumbrances of Membership Interest. A Member may not Encumber its 
Membership Interest in a Series, except by complying with one of the following paragraphs:

(i) (A) such Member must receive the consent of [***] with respect to 
such Series (calculated without reference to the Sharing Ratio of any Founding Member of such 
Series that is the Encumbering Member), which consent (as contemplated by Section 6.02(f)
(ii)) may be granted or withheld in the Sole Discretion of each applicable Representative; and 
(B) the instrument creating such Encumbrance must provide that any foreclosure of such 
Encumbrance (or Disposition in lieu of such foreclosure) must comply with the requirements 
of Sections 3.03(a) and (b); or

(ii) such Encumbrance is required by the terms of a Financing 
Commitment.

(d) [***]

(e) EQT and Related Assignment Rights. Notwithstanding anything in this 
Agreement to the contrary, EQT or its Affiliate that is a Member shall have the right from time to 
time to sell or assign (i) to EQM, whether or not Controlled by EQT or its then Parent, or (ii) to any 
limited partnership, master limited partnership, any other Person or arrangement treated as a 
partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes, any entity treated as a disregarded entity from 
any of the foregoing for such purposes or other Person Controlled by EQT or its then Parent all or 
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any part of the Membership Interest of a given Series then held by EQT or such Affiliates (provided
that, in either case, if such sale or assignment occurs prior to the In-Service Date with respect to 
the Mainline Facilities or Additional Transportation Facilities, as applicable, associated with such 
Series, then, at the time of such sale or assignment, such Assignee provides the Company with 
replacement Performance Assurances, if applicable, meeting the requirements of Section 4.01(b)), 
and any such Assignee may further sell or assign such Membership Interest to any such Person, 
directly or indirectly through multiple sales or assignment among Affiliates, in each case, without 
any consent from USG or its Affiliates and without triggering any rights or restrictions under, or 
the provisions of, Section 3.03(b)(ii). EQT or such Affiliate shall promptly provide to the Company 
and USG copies of the assignment instrument and the ratification instrument associated with each 
such sale or assignment, and the Members shall amend Schedule I to reflect the Sharing Ratios in 
respect of such Series set forth in such ratification instrument.

(f) USG MLP and Related Assignment Rights. Notwithstanding anything in 
this Agreement to the contrary, USG or its Affiliate that is a Member shall have the right from time 
to time to sell or assign to any limited partnership or master limited partnership or other Person 
Controlled by USG or its then Parent all or any part of the Membership Interest of a given Series 
then held by USG or such Affiliates (provided that, in either case, if such sale or assignment occurs 
prior to the In-Service Date with respect to the Mainline Facilities or Additional Transportation 
Facilities, as applicable, associated with such Series, then, at the time of such sale or assignment, 
such Assignee provides the Company with replacement Performance Assurances, if applicable, 
meeting the requirements of Section 4.01(b)), and any such Assignee may further sell or assign such 
Membership Interest to any such Person, directly or indirectly through multiple sales or assignments 
among Affiliates, in each case, without any consent from EQT or its Affiliates and without triggering 
any rights or restrictions under, or the provisions of, Section 3.03(b)(ii). USG or such Affiliate shall 
promptly provide to the Company and EQT copies of the assignment instrument and the ratification 
instrument associated with each such sale or assignment, and the Members shall amend Schedule 
I (or any applicable sub-schedule thereof) to reflect the Sharing Ratios in respect of such Series set 
forth in such ratification instrument.

3.04 Creation of Additional Membership Interests. With respect to each Series, 
Additional Membership Interests may be created and issued to existing Members holding 
Membership Interests in such Series, on such terms and conditions as [***] of the Management 
Committee of such Series may determine at the time of issuance. With respect to any Series, 
Additional Membership Interests may be created and issued to Persons who are not then Members 
of such Series, who shall thereupon be admitted to such Series as Members of such Series, with the 
consent of [***] of the Management Committee of such Series and the approval of [***] of the 
Series A Management Committee, with such Additional Membership Interests having such terms 
and conditions as [***] of the Management Committee of such Additional Series may determine 
at the time of admission. The terms of admission or issuance must specify the Sharing Ratios 
applicable thereto and may provide for the creation of different classes of Members with respect to 
such Series having different rights, powers and duties pursuant to Section 3.01(c). Any such 
admission is effective only after the New Member has executed and delivered to the Members an 
instrument containing the notice address of the New Member, the Assignee’s ratification of this 
Agreement and agreement to be bound by it, and its confirmation that the representations and 
warranties in Section 3.02 are true and correct with respect to it. The provisions of this Section 3.04
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shall not apply to Dispositions of Membership Interests or admissions of Assignees in connection 
therewith, such matters being governed by Sections 3.03(a) and (b).

3.05 Access to Information. 

(a) Each Founding Member of a Series shall be entitled to receive any 
information that it may request concerning such Series; provided that this Section 3.05 shall not 
obligate the Company, any Management Committee, or an Operator to create any information that 
does not already exist at the time of such request (other than to convert existing information from 
one medium to another, such as providing a printout of information that is stored in a computer 
database), except as otherwise provided in Section 9.02. Each Founding Member of a Series shall 
also have the right, upon reasonable notice, and at all reasonable times during usual business hours 
to inspect the properties of the Series and to audit, examine, and make copies of the books of account 
and other records of the Series to discuss the Series’ businesses and financial affairs. Such right 
may be exercised through any agent or employee of such Founding Member designated in writing 
by it or by an independent public accountant, engineer, attorney or other consultant so designated. 
The Founding Member making the request shall bear all costs and expenses incurred in any 
inspection, examination or audit made on such Founding Member’s behalf. The Founding Members 
of a Series, and if the Operator with respect to the Facilities of such Series is an Affiliate thereof, 
such Operator agree to cause such Operator to, reasonably cooperate, and to cause their respective 
independent public accountants, engineers, attorneys or other consultants to reasonably cooperate, 
in connection with any such request. Confidential Information obtained pursuant to this Section 
3.05(a) shall be subject to the provisions of Section 3.06.

(b) Each New Member shall be entitled to receive only the information and 
reports set forth in Section 9.02. Confidential Information received pursuant to this Section 3.05(b)
shall be subject to the provisions of Section 3.06.

3.06 Confidential Information. 

(a) Except as permitted by Section 3.06(b), (i) each Member shall keep 
confidential all Confidential Information and shall not disclose any Confidential Information to any 
Person, including any of its Affiliates, and (ii) each Member shall use the Confidential Information 
only in connection with the Facilities and the Company.

(b) Notwithstanding Section 3.06(a), but subject to the other provisions of this 
Section 3.06, a Member may make the following disclosures and uses of Confidential Information:

(i) disclosures to another Member or to an Operator in connection with 
the Company;

(ii) disclosures and uses that are approved in advance by the Series A 
Management Committee;

(iii) disclosures that may be required from time to time to obtain requisite 
Authorizations or financing for the Facilities, if such disclosures are approved in advance by 
the Series A Management Committee;
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(iv) disclosures to an Affiliate of such Member, including the directors, 
officers, members, managers, employees, agents and advisors of such Affiliate, if such Affiliate 
has agreed to abide by the terms of this Section 3.06; provided, however, that in no event shall 
[***];

(v) disclosures to a Person that is not a Member or an Affiliate of a 
Member, if such Person has been retained by the Company, a Member, or an Operator to provide 
services in connection with the Company and has agreed to abide by the terms of this Section 
3.06;

(vi) disclosures to a bona fide potential direct or indirect purchaser, or 
parent of such purchaser, of such Member’s Membership Interest, if such potential purchaser 
has executed a confidentiality agreement in form and substance acceptable to the Series A 
Management Committee;

(vii) disclosures required, with respect to a Member or an Affiliate of a 
Member, pursuant to (A) the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations 
promulgated thereunder, (B) the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules 
and regulations promulgated thereunder, (C) any state securities Laws, or (D) any national 
securities exchange or automated quotation system; and

(viii) disclosures that a Member is legally compelled to make by deposition, 
interrogatory, request for documents, subpoena, civil investigative demand, order of a court of 
competent jurisdiction, or similar process, or otherwise by Law or that a Member makes to a 
Governmental Authority or regulatory authority pursuant to a regulatory request, examination, 
or audit; provided that, prior to any such disclosure, such Member shall, to the extent legally 
permissible:

(A) provide the Series A Management Committee with prompt 
notice of such requirements so that one or more of the Members may seek a 
protective order or other appropriate remedy or waive compliance with the 
terms of this Section 3.06(b)(viii); and

(B) cooperate with the Series A Management Committee and with 
the other Members in any attempt one or more of them may make to obtain 
a protective order or other appropriate remedy or assurance that confidential 
treatment will be afforded the Confidential Information; and in the event 
such protective order or other remedy is not obtained, or the other Members 
waive compliance with the provisions hereof, such Member agrees (1) to 
furnish only that portion of the Confidential Information that, in the opinion 
of such Member’s counsel, such Member is legally required to disclose, and 
(2) to exercise all reasonable efforts to obtain assurance that confidential 
treatment will be accorded such Confidential Information.

(c) Each Member shall take such precautionary measures as may be required to 
ensure (and such Member shall be responsible for) compliance with this Section 3.06 by any of its 
Affiliates, and its and their directors, officers, employees and agents, and other Persons to which it 
may disclose Confidential Information in accordance with this Section 3.06.
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(d) Promptly after any Withdrawal or Disposition by any Member of all of its 
Membership Interests pursuant to Sections 3.03 or 10.02, a Withdrawn Member or Disposing 
Member, as applicable, shall promptly destroy (and provide a certificate of destruction to the 
Company with respect to), or return to the Company, all Confidential Information in its possession. 
Notwithstanding the immediately preceding sentence, but subject to the other provisions of this 
Section 3.06, a Withdrawn Member or Disposing Member may retain for a stated period, but not 
disclose to any other Person, Confidential Information for the limited purposes of (i) explaining 
such Member’s corporate decisions with respect to the applicable Facilities; (ii) preparing such 
Member’s tax returns and defending audits, investigations and proceedings relating thereto; or (iii) 
in compliance with such Member’s document retention policy; provided that the Withdrawn Member 
or Disposing Member must notify the Series A Management Committee in advance of such retention 
and specify in such notice the stated period of such retention.

(e) The Members agree that no adequate remedy at law exists for a breach or 
threatened breach of any of the provisions of this Section 3.06, the continuation of which unremedied 
will cause the Company and the other Members to suffer irreparable harm. Accordingly, the 
Members agree that the Company and the other Members shall be entitled, in addition to other 
remedies that may be available to them, to immediate injunctive relief from any breach of any of 
the provisions of this Section 3.06 and to specific performance of their rights hereunder, as well as 
to any other remedies available at law or in equity, pursuant to Sections 11.03 and 11.04.

(f) The obligations of the Members under this Section 3.06 (including the 
obligations of any Withdrawn Member) shall terminate on the [***] anniversary following the date 
on which such Member ceases to be a Member of the Company.

3.07 Liability to Third Parties. No Member or its Affiliates shall be liable for the debts, 
obligations or liabilities of the Company or any Series.

3.08 Use of Members’ Names and Trademarks. The Company, a Series, the Members 
and their Affiliates shall not use the name or trademark of any Member or its Affiliates in connection 
with public announcements regarding the Company, or marketing or financing activities of the 
Company, without the prior written consent of such Member or Affiliate.
ARTICLE 4   

CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS/LOANS

4.01 Capital Contributions. 

(a) Capital Calls.

(i) The Management Committee governing with respect to a given Series 
shall issue or cause to be issued a written request to each Member holding Membership Interests 
of such Series for the making of Capital Contributions in respect of such Series at such times 
and in such amounts as such Management Committee shall approve or as determined pursuant 
to Section 4.01(a)(iii) (such written request referred to herein as a “Capital Call”) [***]. Capital 
Contributions shall be made by the Members in accordance with their respective Sharing Ratio(s) 
applicable to the Series to which the Capital Call relates. Such Capital Contributions shall be 
made in cash, unless a Supermajority Interest with respect to such Series elects to request non-
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cash Capital Contributions; provided, that any such Members that do not make such Capital 
Contributions in kind shall have the right to make such Capital Contributions in cash on a pro 
rata basis. All amounts timely received by the Company pursuant to this Section 4.01 shall be 
credited to the respective Member’s Capital Account with respect to such Series as of such 
specified date. 

(ii) As to a Construction Budget, an Initial Operating Budget and any 
Capital Budget associated with any Facility covered by any Approved Precedent Agreement 
approved by the Management Committee governing matters with respect to such Facility in 
accordance with the applicable provisions of the Series Schedules, no further approval of [***] 
shall be required for the Capital Calls required to fund such budget or project as set forth therein, 
subject to the applicable provisions of the Series Schedules; rather, subject to and in accordance 
with the applicable COM Agreement, an Operator (in accordance with Section 4.01(a)(i)) shall 
issue written notices to the Company for such Capital Calls and, subject to the applicable 
provisions of the Series Schedules, loans from Members, at such times and in such amounts 
necessary to fund the costs associated with such budget or project.

(iii) In connection with each individual Capital Call, the applicable 
Management Committee, by the affirmative vote of [***] of the applicable Representatives, 
will determine what portion (if any) of such funding will be made pursuant to Capital 
Contributions and what portion (if any) of such funding will be made by loans by the Members 
to the Company. Upon receipt of each notice issued by an Operator pursuant to Section 4.01(a)
(ii), the Company shall issue written requests to each Member, consistent with the determination 
made pursuant to the preceding sentence, for the making of the Capital Contributions and/or 
loans required in connection with such notice.

(iv) Each Capital Call shall contain the following information:

(A) The total amount of Capital Contributions or loans requested 
from Members holding Membership Interests of the applicable Series;

(B) The amount of Capital Contribution or loans requested from 
the Member to whom the request is addressed, such amount to be in 
accordance with the Sharing Ratio of such Member in respect of the 
applicable Series;

(C) The purpose for which the funds are to be applied in such 
reasonable detail as the applicable Management Committee shall reasonably 
direct; and

(D) The date on which payments of the Capital Contribution or 
loan shall be made (which date shall not be less than 30 Days following the 
date the Capital Call is given, unless a sooner date is reasonably determined 
to be necessary by the applicable Management Committee) and the method 
of payment, provided that such date and method shall be the same for each 
of the Members holding Membership Interests of the applicable Series.



 

42

(v) In the event the Management Committee governing matters with 
respect to a Facility fails to approve an Operating Budget with respect to such Facility within 
30 Days of the submission of such Operating Budget to all of the Representatives on such 
Management Committee for approval, an Operator with respect to such Facility is authorized, 
subject to Section 4.01(a)(ii), to issue a notice to the Members of the applicable Series,  for the 
making of Capital Contributions and/or loans required to fund the costs associated with such 
Operating Budget in an amount consistent with the Operating Budget most recently approved 
by such Management Committee of such Series and including costs that do not exceed, for any 
line item, [***]% of the amount set forth for such line item in such most recently approved 
Operating Budget.

(vi) Each Member agrees that it shall make payments of its respective 
Capital Contributions or loans in accordance with Capital Calls issued pursuant to this Section 
4.01. 

(b) Performance Assurances.

(i) Each Member shall deliver, or cause to be delivered on such 
Member’s behalf to the Company performance assurances (“Performance Assurances”) at the 
times and in the amounts specified on the Series Schedule relating to such Series appended by 
the Series A Management Committee to this Agreement pursuant to Section 3.01(c). Each such 
Series Schedule is incorporated herein by reference.

(ii) The Company (on behalf of a Series) shall be entitled to draw from 
the Performance Assurances of such Series in the event a Member fails to make payments of 
its respective Capital Contributions to such Series in accordance with Capital Calls issued 
pursuant to this Section 4.01. Unless otherwise specified on a Series Schedule, Performance 
Assurances shall be permitted to be in the form of one or more of (A) a full and unconditional 
written guarantee from a Qualified Guarantor, (B) a Letter of Credit or (C) cash collateral (with 
the ability to substitute from time to time among (A), (B) or (C)). For the avoidance of doubt, 
a Member’s obligation to post Performance Assurances shall expire (and any obligations under 
any posted Performance Assurances shall terminate) on the applicable In-Service Date. 

(c) Matured Financing Obligations.  In addition to the authority granted to the 
Management Committee governing matters relating to a given Series in the other provisions of this 
Section 4.01 to issue Capital Calls, if within [***] Days prior to the date any Indebtedness of the 
Company relating to such Series will become a Matured Financing Obligation (or within [***] 
Days after any notice of acceleration of any such Indebtedness received prior to the maturity date 
thereof), (i) such Management Committee has not made a Capital Call for the payment of such 
amount that is (or is expected to be) a Matured Financing Obligation, and (ii) the Company has 
been unable to secure refinancing for such Matured Financing Obligation on reasonably acceptable 
terms after negotiating in good faith to do so with third-party lender(s), then at any time thereafter, 
(1) either EQT or USG may, on behalf of such Management Committee, issue a Capital Call for 
cash in the amount required for the payment of such Matured Financing Obligation, and each 
Member holding Membership Interests of such Series shall be obligated to pay such Capital Call 
as provided in this Section 4.01, but such payment shall be made within [***] Days after the date 
the Capital Call is given (and not the [***]-Day period provided for in Section 4.01(a)(v)); provided
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that any failure by a Member to make a Capital Contribution with respect to a Capital Call made 
pursuant to this Section 4.01(c)(1) shall not constitute a Default under or breach of this Agreement; 
and (2) in the event any Member fails to make a Capital Contribution with respect to a Capital Call 
made pursuant to Section 4.01(c)(1), on or prior to such [***] Day, then each Founding Member 
holding Membership Interests of such Series shall have the right, but not the obligation, to pay the 
portion of the Capital Contribution owed and unpaid to permit the Company to discharge such 
Matured Financing Obligation. If any such Founding Member elects to pay such Matured Financing 
Obligation pursuant to Section 4.01(c)(2), then such Founding Member will be deemed to be an 
Additional Contribution/Loan Member with respect to such payment, and its payment of the Matured 
Financing Obligation shall be treated, at the election of such Additional Contribution/Loan Member, 
as one of either: (A) a Capital Contribution or loan resulting in the Additional Contribution/Loan 
Members receiving [***] or (B) a permanent Capital Contribution that results in an adjustment of 
the applicable Sharing Ratios of the non-contributing Member and such electing Founding Member 
in respect of such Series under Section 4.06(d). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, no Member 
shall have any obligation to make Capital Contributions in respect of, or otherwise be subject to 
recourse or liability for, a Matured Financing Obligation under a Financing Commitment relating 
to a given Series except if such Member holds Membership Interests of such Series. 

4.02 Loans. 

(a) If pursuant to Section 4.01(a)(iii) a Management Committee of a Series 
determines as to any individual Capital Call from Members of such Series that all or a portion of 
such Capital Call shall be made by loans from the Members to such Series, then each Member 
receiving such Capital Call shall make a loan to the Company with respect to such Series at the 
time and in the amount and under such terms and conditions as such Management Committee of 
such Series shall approve by the affirmative vote of a Supermajority Interest; provided that such 
Management Committee shall not call for loans rather than Capital Contributions if doing so would 
breach any Financing Commitment or other agreement of the Company. 

(b) All amounts received from a Member after the date specified in Section 
4.01(a)(iv) by the Company with respect to a Series pursuant to this Section 4.02 shall be 
accompanied by interest on such overdue amounts (and the default shall not be cured unless such 
interest is also received by the Company), which interest shall be payable to the Company with 
respect to such Series and shall accrue from and after such specified date at the Default Rate. Any 
such interest paid shall be treated as a penalty and shall not be considered part of the principal of 
the loan and shall not be repaid by the Company.

(c) In addition to the information required pursuant to Section 4.01(a)(iv), each 
written request issued pursuant to Section 4.02(a) shall contain all terms concerning the interest 
rate, security, seniority, repayment and any other material terms of or otherwise related to such 
loans; provided that such terms shall be the same for each of the Members receiving such Capital 
Call.

(d) Each Member agrees that it shall make its respective loans in accordance 
with requests issued pursuant to this Section 4.02.
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4.03 No Other Contribution or Loan Obligations. No Member shall be required or 
permitted to make any Capital Contributions or loans to the Company with respect to a Series except 
pursuant to this Article 4.

4.04 Return of Contributions. Except as expressly provided herein, a Member is not 
entitled to the return of any part of its Capital Contributions or to be paid interest in respect of either 
its Capital Account or its Capital Contributions. An unreturned Capital Contribution is not a liability 
of the Company or of any Member. A Member is not required to contribute or to lend any cash or 
property to the Company to enable the Company to return any Member’s Capital Contributions.

4.05 Capital Accounts. 

(a) A separate Capital Account shall be established and maintained for each 
Member with respect to such Member’s Membership Interest in each Series. Each Member’s Capital 
Account with respect to each Series shall be increased by (i) the amount of money contributed by 
that Member to the Company with respect to the Series; (ii) the initial Book Value of property 
contributed by that Member to the Company with respect to the Series (net of liabilities secured by 
such contributed property that the Company with respect to the Series is considered to assume or 
take subject to under Section 752 of the Code); (iii) allocations to that Member of Net Profit and 
items of income or gain with respect to the Series, including items specifically allocated to such 
Member with respect to the Series pursuant to Section 5.04(c); and (iv) the amount of any liabilities 
with respect to the Series assumed by such Member and shall be decreased by (v) the amount of 
money distributed to that Member by the Company with respect to the Series; (vi) the Book Value 
of property distributed to that Member by the Company with respect to the Series (net of liabilities 
secured by such distributed property that such Member is considered to assume or take subject to 
under Section 752 of the Code); (vii) allocations to that Member of Net Loss and items of loss or 
deduction with respect to the Series, including items specifically allocated to such Member pursuant 
to Section 5.04(c) and (viii) the amount of any liabilities of such Member assumed by the Company 
with respect to the Series. Except as provided in this Section 4.05 with respect to each separate 
Capital Account established with respect to each Series, a Member who has more than one 
Membership Interest with respect to the Series shall have a single Capital Account that reflects all 
such Membership Interests regardless of the time or manner in which such Membership Interests 
were acquired. Upon the Disposition of all or a portion of a Membership Interest with respect to 
the Series, the Capital Account with respect to the Series of the Disposing Member that is attributable 
to such Membership Interest shall carry over to the Assignee in accordance with the provisions of 
Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(l). The Capital Accounts shall not be deemed to be, 
nor have the same meaning as, the capital account of the Company under the NGA.

(b) In the discretion of the Management Committee governing with respect to a 
given Series, the Book Value of the Company’s assets with respect to such Series shall be increased 
or decreased to reflect a revaluation of the property based on the fair market value of the property 
on the date of adjustment immediately prior to any of the following (each, a “Revaluation Event”): 
(i) the contribution of more than a de minimis amount of money or other property to the Company 
with respect to the Series by a new or existing Member as consideration for a Membership Interest 
with respect to the Series or an increase in the applicable Sharing Ratio with respect to the Series, 
(ii) the distribution of more than a de minimis amount of money or other property by the Company 
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with respect to the Series to a Member as consideration for a Membership Interest, or (iii) the 
liquidation of the Series. Whenever the fair market value of property is required to be determined 
pursuant to this Agreement (including the preceding sentence), the Operator operating the Facility 
or Facilities to which such property relates shall propose such a fair market value in a notice to the 
other Members. If any other Member disagrees with such determination, such Member shall notify 
the other Members of such disagreement within 10 Business Days of receiving such notice. If such 
Dispute is not resolved within 5 Business Days after such notice, any Member may submit such 
Dispute for binding appraisal in accordance with Section 13.11(c) by delivering a FMV Notice to 
the other Members.

This Section 4.05 is intended to comply with the capital account maintenance provisions of Treasury 
Regulation Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv) and will be applied and interpreted in accordance with such 
Treasury Regulations.

4.06 Failure to Make a Capital Contribution or Loan.

(a) General. If any Member fails to make a Capital Contribution as requested 
by a Management Committee (but excluding Capital Calls issued on behalf of such Management 
Committee pursuant to Section 4.01(c)) in a Capital Call validly and timely issued pursuant to 
Section 4.01 or a loan when required pursuant to Section 4.02(a) (each such Member being a “Non-
Contributing/Loan Member”), and if such failure continues for more than [***] Days after the date 
on which it is due, the Members that have contributed their Capital Contribution or made their loan, 
as applicable, in respect of such Capital Call (each, a “Contributing/Loan Member”) may (without 
limitation as to other remedies that may be available, and in particular such other remedies shall 
include the right to specifically enforce the obligation of the Non-Contributing/Loan Member to 
make the required Capital Contribution or loan) thereafter elect to: 

(i) treat the Non-Contributing/Loan Member’s failure as a Default by 
giving notice thereof to the Non-Contributing/Loan Member, in which event the provisions of 
this Agreement regarding the commission of a Default by a Member shall apply (but if the 
Capital Call is for the payment of a Matured Financing Obligation, the Default shall be immediate 
on the giving of such notice and the [***]-Day cure period contemplated in the definition of 
Default shall not apply); or

(ii) pay the portion of the Capital Contribution owed and unpaid by, or 
make the loan required from, the Non-Contributing/Loan Member (the “Additional 
Contribution/Loan”) in which event the Contributing/Loan Members that elect to fund the Non-
Contributing/Loan Members’ share (the “Additional Contribution/Loan Members”) may treat 
the contribution or loan, as applicable as one of: (A) a Capital Contribution or loan, as applicable, 
resulting in the Additional Contribution/Loan Members receiving [***] under Section 4.06(c), 
or (B) a permanent Capital Contribution that results in an adjustment of Sharing Ratios in respect 
of the Series to which the Additional Contribution/Loan relates (the “Applicable Adjustment 
Series”) under Section 4.06(d), as determined by the Additional Contribution/Loan Members 
as set forth below.
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Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, if the Contributing/Loan Members 
make the election pursuant to Section 4.06(a)(ii), the provisions of Section 4.06(c) and 
Section 4.06(d) will be applied separately with respect to each Series. No Contributing/Loan 
Member shall be obligated to make either election under clause (i) or clause (ii) above. The decision 
of the Contributing/Loan Members to elect (i) or (ii) above shall be made by the determination of 
the Contributing/Loan Members holding [***]% of the applicable Sharing Ratios of all 
Contributing/Loan Members, but clause (ii) above may not be elected unless at such time of 
determination there is one or more Additional Contribution/Loan Members. The decision of the 
Additional Contribution/Loan Members to elect clause (ii)(A) or clause (ii)(B) above shall be made 
by the determination of the Additional Contribution/Loan Members holding [***]% of the 
applicable Sharing Ratios of all Additional Contribution/Loan Members. Unless and until such 
election is made, payment of the Additional Contribution/Loan shall be treated as a Priority Interest 
under Section 4.06(a)(ii)(A). [***]

(b) Default. If the Contributing/Loan Members make the election pursuant to 
Section 4.06(a)(i) above with respect to a failure to make a Capital Contribution to a Series and the 
Non-Contributing/Loan Member holds Membership Interests of any other Series, any distributions 
from the Company with respect to such other Series that would otherwise have been due and payable 
to the Non-Contributing/Loan Member absent such Non-Contributing/Loan Member’s failure to 
make such Capital Contribution shall be paid to the Series to which such failure relates until such 
time as such Series receives an amount equal to the shortfall resulting from such failure.

(c) [***]:

(i) [***]

(ii) [***] shall not alter the Sharing Ratios of the Members, nor shall 
[***] alter any distributions to the Contributing/Loan Members (in their capacity as 
Contributing/Loan Members, as opposed to their capacity as Additional Contribution/Loan 
Members) in accordance with their respective Sharing Ratios. Notwithstanding any provision 
in this Agreement to the contrary, a Member may not Dispose of all or a portion of [***] except 
to a Person to whom it Disposes all or the applicable pro rata portion of the Membership Interest 
of the Series to which such Priority Interest relates after compliance with the requirements of 
this Agreement in connection therewith.

(iii) For so long as any Additional Contribution/Loan Member holds [***] 
with respect to a Series, neither any Non-Contributing/Loan Member nor its Representative 
shall have the right to vote its Membership Interest (or Sharing Ratio(s)) under this Agreement 
with respect to any decision regarding distributions from the Company, and any distribution to 
which such Non-Contributing/Loan Member is entitled with respect to any Series shall be paid 
[***].

(iv) No Member that is a Non-Contributing/Loan Member may Dispose 
of its Membership Interest of the Applicable Adjustment Series unless, at the closing of such 
Disposition, either the Non-Contributing/Loan Member or the proposed Assignee pays [***]. 
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No Assignee shall be admitted to the Company as a Member until compliance with this Section 
4.06(c)(iv) has occurred.

(d) Permanent Contribution. If the Additional Contribution/Loan Members 
elect under Section 4.06(a)(ii) to have the Additional Contribution/Loan with respect to a Series 
treated as a permanent Capital Contribution, then the Sharing Ratios in respect of the Additional 
Contribution/Loan Members and the Non-Contributing/Loan Member will be automatically 
adjusted to equal each Member’s total Capital Contributions in respect of the Applicable Adjustment 
Series when expressed as a percentage of all such Members’ Capital Contributions (after giving 
effect to the Capital Contribution made by the Additional Contribution/Loan Members) in respect 
of such Series.

(e) Further Assurance. In connection with this Section 4.06, each Member shall 
execute and deliver any additional documents and instruments and perform any additional acts that 
may be necessary or appropriate to effectuate and perform the provisions of this Section 4.06.

(f) Deemed Non-Contributing/Loan Member. Notwithstanding anything to the 
contrary, for purposes of this Agreement the term “Non-Contributing/Loan Member” shall include 
any Member who (i) fails to duly elect to make a proposed Capital Call under Section 4.01 or a 
proposed loan pursuant to Section 4.02 and (ii) fails to fund such Capital Call or loan, in each case, 
to the extent necessary to cover the amount of any Matured Financing Obligation that is to become 
due within [***] Days or that has become due (by acceleration or otherwise).

4.07 Credit Assurance. 

(a) Unless otherwise agreed to by [***], if the Series is required to provide a 
guaranty, letter of credit or other credit support (each a “Credit Assurance”) to a counterparty under 
any contract or agreement (including an Approved Precedent Agreement) relating to a Facility 
approved by the Management Committee governing matters relating to such Facility prior to the 
In-Service Date of such Facility (each a “Subject Contract”), then each Member holding 
Membership Interests of the Series to which such Facility relates agrees to provide or cause to be 
provided (on behalf of the Series and within [***] Business Days of the Series’ request) to such 
counterparty the required form of Credit Assurance in an amount equal to the product of (i) the total 
dollar amount of the obligations for which the Series is required to provide such Credit Assurance, 
and (ii) such Member’s Sharing Ratio in respect of the applicable Series. As to any New Member, 
if at the time of admittance any Credit Assurance has been provided by the Members holding 
Membership Interests of the Series held by such New Member, then such New Member shall provide 
(on behalf of the Series and within [***] Business Days of the Series’ request) to the applicable 
counterparty such Credit Assurance in the same form and in an amount equal to the product of (1) 
the total dollar amount of obligations for which the Series is required to provide such Credit 
Assurance and (2) such New Member’s Sharing Ratio in respect of such Series. Any Credit 
Assurances posted by the then-current Members shall be reduced to reflect the New Member’s 
Credit Assurances and in accordance with such Member’s Sharing Ratio in respect of such Series. 

(b) If a breach, default or other event occurs under a Subject Contract and the 
counterparty thereunder makes a demand or draw on one or more Credit Assurances for such breach, 
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default or other event (a “Demand Event”), then a determination will be made as to the total dollar 
amount demanded or drawn by such counterparty for such Demand Event (“Total Event Demand 
Amount”). [***]

(c) If any Member [***], then such Member [***]. 
ARTICLE 5   

DISTRIBUTIONS AND ALLOCATIONS

5.01 Distributions. With respect to each Series, within [***] Days following the end of 
each Quarter following the first In Service Date applicable to the Facilities to which a Series relates, 
the Management Committee governing matters relating to such Series shall determine the amount 
of Available Cash with respect to such Series. For each applicable Series, an amount equal to 100% 
of Available Cash shall, subject to Section 18-607 of the Act, be distributed in accordance with this 
Article 5 to the applicable Members (other than a Breaching Member) in proportion to their 
respective Sharing Ratios in respect of such Series (at the time the amounts of such distributions 
are made); provided, however, that, if such Management Committee fails timely to determine the 
amount of Available Cash with respect to a Series, an amount equal to [***]% of the Available Cash 
with respect to the immediately preceding Quarter shall, subject to Section 18-607 of the Act, be 
distributed in accordance with this Article 5 to the Members (other than a Breaching Member) 
holding Membership Interests of such Series in proportion to their respective Sharing Ratios with 
respect to such Series (at the time the amounts of such distributions are made)

5.02 Allocations for Maintaining Capital Accounts. 

(a) Except as otherwise provided herein, for purposes of maintaining the Capital 
Accounts pursuant to Section 4.05, Net Profit and Net Loss (and, to the extent necessary, individual 
items of income, gain, loss or deduction with respect to each Series) of or with respect to a Series 
for a fiscal year or other period shall be allocated among the Members with respect to each Series 
such that the Adjusted Capital Account (determined without regard to clause (b) of the definition 
of Adjusted Capital Account) balance of each Member with respect to the Series, immediately after 
making such allocation, and special allocations in Section 5.02(b), is, as nearly as possible, equal 
proportionately to such Member’s Target Capital Account Amount. For these purposes, a Member’s 
“Target Capital Account Amount” with respect to a Series equals the amount of distributions that 
would be made to such Member with respect to the Series pursuant to Section 5.01 if all of the 
Company’s assets with respect to the Series were sold for cash at a price equal to their Book Value, 
all Company liabilities with respect to the Series were satisfied (limited with respect to each 
nonrecourse liability within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-2(b)(3) to the Book 
Value of the assets securing such liability) and all of the remaining assets of the Company with 
respect to the Series were distributed in accordance with Section 5.01 to the Members immediately 
after such hypothetical sale of assets with respect to the Series. For the avoidance of doubt the items 
described in this Section 5.02 will be allocated to each Series as if such Series were a separate 
partnership for federal income tax purposes and shall be allocated to the Members associated with 
each Series on that basis.

(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 5.02, the following 
special allocations will be made:
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(i) Nonrecourse Deductions with respect to each Series shall be allocated 
to the Members in proportion to their Sharing Ratios with respect thereto.

(ii) Member Nonrecourse Deductions with respect to any Series 
attributable to Member Nonrecourse Debt with respect to the Series shall be allocated to the 
Members bearing the Economic Risk of Loss for such Member Nonrecourse Debt as determined 
under Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-2(b)(4). If more than one Member bears the Economic 
Risk of Loss for such Member Nonrecourse Debt, the Member Nonrecourse Deductions 
attributable to such Member Nonrecourse Debt shall be allocated among the Members according 
to the ratio in which they bear the Economic Risk of Loss. This Section 5.02(b)(ii) is intended 
to comply with the provisions of Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-2(i) and shall be interpreted 
consistently therewith.

(iii) Notwithstanding any other provision hereof to the contrary, if there 
is a net decrease in Minimum Gain with respect to any Series for an allocation period (or if there 
was a net decrease in Minimum Gain with respect to the Series for a prior allocation period and 
the Company did not have sufficient amounts of income and gain with respect to the Series 
during prior periods to allocate among the Members under this Section 5.02(b)(iii), items of 
income and gain with respect to the Series shall be allocated to each Member in an amount equal 
to such Member’s share of the net decrease in such Minimum Gain (as determined pursuant to 
Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-2(g)(2)). This Section 5.02(b)(iii) is intended to constitute 
a minimum gain chargeback under Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-2(f) and shall be 
interpreted consistently therewith.

(iv) Notwithstanding any provision hereof to the contrary except Section 
5.02(b)(iii) (dealing with Minimum Gain), if there is a net decrease in Member Nonrecourse 
Debt Minimum Gain with respect to any Series for an allocation period (or if there was a net 
decrease in Member Nonrecourse Debt Minimum Gain with respect to the Series for a prior 
allocation period and the Company did not have sufficient amounts of income and gain with 
respect to the Series during prior periods to allocate among the Members under this Section 
5.02(b)(iv)), items of income and gain with respect to the Series shall be allocated to each 
Member in an amount equal to such Member’s share of the net decrease in Member Nonrecourse 
Debt Minimum Gain (as determined pursuant to Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-2(i)(4)). 
This Section 5.02(b)(iv)) is intended to constitute a partner nonrecourse debt minimum gain 
chargeback under Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-2(i)(4) and shall be interpreted 
consistently therewith.

(v) Notwithstanding any provision hereof to the contrary except Section 
5.02(b)(i) and Section 5.02(b)(ii), no Net Loss or items of loss or deduction with respect to any 
Series shall be allocated to any Member to the extent that such allocation would cause such 
Member to have a deficit Adjusted Capital Account balance (or increase any existing deficit 
Adjusted Capital Account balance) with respect to the Series at the end of the allocation period. 
All Net Loss and items of loss or deduction in excess of the limitation set forth in this Section 
5.02(b)(v) shall be allocated to the Members with interests in the Series who do not have a 
deficit Adjusted Capital Account balance in proportion to their relative positive Adjusted Capital 
Accounts with respect to the Series but only to the extent that such Net Loss and items of loss 
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or deduction do not cause any such Member to have a deficit Adjusted Capital Account balance 
with respect to the Series.

(vi) If any Member unexpectedly receives any adjustments, allocations 
or distributions described in Treasury Regulation Sections 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d)(4), (5) or (6) 
resulting in or increasing an Adjusted Capital Account deficit for such Member with respect to 
any Series, items of income and gain with respect to the Series will be specially allocated to 
such Member in any amount and manner sufficient to eliminate, to the extent required by the 
Treasury Regulation, such Adjusted Capital Account deficit of the Member as quickly as 
possible; provided, however, that an allocation pursuant to this Section 5.02(b)(vi) shall be made 
only if and to the extent that such Member would have a deficit Adjusted Capital Account 
balance with respect to the Series after all other allocations provided for in this Article 5 have 
been tentatively made as if this Section 5.02(b)(vi) were not in this Agreement. The items of 
income or gain to be allocated will be determined in accordance with Treasury Regulation 
Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d). This subsection (vi) is intended to qualify and be construed as a 
“qualifying income offset” within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-1(b)(2)
(ii)(d) and will be applied and interpreted in accordance with such Treasury Regulations.

(vii) To the extent that an adjustment to the adjusted tax basis of any 
Company or Series asset pursuant to Sections 734(b) or 743(b) of the Code is required, pursuant 
to Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(m)(2) or Treasury Regulation Section 
1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(m)(4), to be taken into account in determining Capital Accounts as a result 
of a distribution to a Member in complete liquidation of its Membership Interest with respect 
to any Series, the amount of such adjustment to the Capital Accounts will be treated as an item 
of gain (if the adjustment increases the basis of the asset) or loss (if the adjustment decreases 
the basis of the asset), and such gain or loss will be specially allocated to the Members in 
accordance with Section 5.02(a) in the event that Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-1(b)(2)
(iv)(m)(2) applies, or to the Members to whom such distribution was made in the event that 
Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(m)(4) applies.

5.03 Allocations for Tax Purposes.  

(a) Except as provided in Section 5.03(b) and Section 5.03(c) or as otherwise 
required by the Code or Treasury Regulations, solely for federal income tax purposes, items of 
taxable income, gain, loss and deduction of the Company with respect to each Series for each fiscal 
year or other relevant period shall be allocated among the Members in the same manner as each 
correlative item of “book” income, gain, loss and deduction with respect to the Series is allocated 
to the Capital Accounts of the Members with respect to the Series pursuant to Section 5.02 and each 
tax credit shall be allocated to the Members in the same manner as the receipt or expenditure giving 
rise to such credit is allocated pursuant to Section 5.02.

(b) Income, gain, loss, and deduction with respect to property contributed to the 
Company with respect to any Series by a Member or revalued pursuant to Treasury Regulation 
Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(f) shall be allocated among the Members in a manner that takes into 
account the variation between the adjusted tax basis of such property and its Book Value, as required 
by Section 704(c) of the Code and Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-1(b)(4)(i), using the remedial 
allocation method permitted by Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-3(d).
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(c) Pursuant to Treasury Regulation Section 1.1245-1(e), to the extent the 
Company with respect to any Series recognizes gain as a result of a sale, exchange or other disposition 
of Company or Series assets which is taxable as recapture income under Sections 1245 or 1250 of 
the Code or unrecaptured Section 1250 gain under Section 1(h) of the Code, such recapture income 
shall be allocated among the Members with respect to the Series in the same proportion as the 
depreciation and amortization giving rise to such recapture income was allocable among the 
Members. In no event, however, shall any Member be allocated recapture income hereunder in 
excess of the amount of gain allocated to the Member under this Agreement. Any recapture income 
that is not allocated to a Member due to the gain limitation described in the previous sentence shall 
be allocated among those Members whose shares of total gain on the sale, exchange or other 
disposition of the property exceed their share of depreciation and amortization attributable to 
Company or Series assets, in proportion to their relative shares of the total allocable gain.

(d) The Members’ proportionate share of the “excess nonrecourse liabilities,” 
within the meaning of the Treasury Regulation Section 1.752-3(a)(3) with respect to each Series 
shall be allocated to the Members holding the Series in proportion to their respective Sharing Ratios 
with respect thereto.

(e) Allocations pursuant to this Section 5.03 are solely for federal (and, where 
applicable, state and local) tax purposes and shall not affect, or in any way be taken into account 
in computing, any Capital Account or share of income, gain, loss and other deduction described in 
Section 5.02 or distributions pursuant to any provision of this Agreement.

(f) The Members are aware of the income and other tax consequences of the 
allocations made by this Agreement and hereby agree to be bound by the provisions of this Agreement 
in reporting their shares of items of income, gain, loss, credit and deduction.

5.04 Varying Interests. All items of income, gain, loss, deduction or credit with respect 
to each Series shall be allocated, and all distributions shall be made, to the Persons shown on the 
records of the Company to have been Members with respect to the Series as of the last Day of the 
period for which the allocation or distribution is to be made. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if 
during any taxable year there is a change in any Member’s Sharing Ratio with respect to a Series, 
the Members agree that their allocable shares of such items with respect to the Series for the taxable 
year shall be determined based on any method determined by the Management Committee of such 
Series to be permissible under Code Section 706 and the related Treasury Regulations to take account 
of the Members’ varying Sharing Ratios with respect to the Series.

5.05 Amounts Withheld. The Company is authorized to withhold from payments and 
distributions to the Members and to pay over to any federal, state or local Governmental Authority 
any amounts required to be so withheld pursuant to the Code or any provisions of any applicable 
Law and shall allocate such amounts to the Members with respect to which such amounts were 
withheld. All amounts withheld pursuant to the Code or any provisions of any applicable Law with 
respect to any payment, distribution or allocation shall be treated for all purposes under this 
Agreement as amounts paid or distributed pursuant to this Article 5 to the Members with respect 
to which such amount was withheld. All taxes paid on behalf of such Member pursuant to this 
Section 5.05 in excess of any distributions otherwise payable to such Member shall, at the option 
of the Company, (a) be promptly paid to the Company with respect to the applicable Series by such 
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Member or (b) be repaid by reducing the amount of the current or next succeeding distribution or 
distributions which would otherwise have been made to such Member or, if such distributions are 
not sufficient for that purpose, by so reducing the proceeds of liquidation otherwise payable to such 
Member. Whenever the Company selects option (b) of the preceding sentence, such Member shall 
for all purposes of this Agreement be treated as having received a distribution under Section 5.01
of the amount of the tax payment. To the fullest extent permitted by law, each Member hereby agrees 
to indemnify and hold harmless the Company and the other Members from and against any liability 
for taxes (and related interest, penalties or additions to tax) with respect to income attributable to 
or distributions or other payments to such Member.
ARTICLE 6  

MANAGEMENT

6.01 General. This Article 6 and Schedule I-A provide for the governance of matters 
relating to the Series A Membership Interests and, except if and to the extent otherwise provided 
on the applicable Series Schedule with respect to any Additional Series, the Company and, to the 
extent set forth herein, Additional Series through a “committee of the whole” referred to herein as 
the “Series A Management Committee.” Except as explicitly provided herein and on Schedule I
with respect to matters relating to a specific Series, the management of each Series is fully vested 
in the Series A Management Committee. To facilitate the orderly and efficient management of the 
Series, the Series A Management Committee shall act (a) collectively as a “committee of the whole” 
pursuant to Section 6.02 and Article 2 of Schedule I-A, and (b) through the delegation of certain 
duties and authority to an Operator under a COM Agreement. Subject to the express provisions of 
this Agreement and, for the avoidance of doubt, except as provided on the applicable Series Schedule, 
each Member agrees that it will not exercise its authority under the Act to bind or commit the 
Company or any Series to agreements, transactions or other arrangements, or to hold itself out as 
an agent of the Company or any Series. This Agreement, including this Article 6, is subject in all 
respects to the provisions of the Side Letters and any rights set forth on Schedule I that have been 
approved and adopted in accordance with this Agreement.

6.02 Management Committee. This Article 6 and Schedule I-A provide for the 
governance of matters relating to the Series A Membership Interests and, except if and to the extent 
otherwise provided on each Additional Series Schedule with respect to a specific Series, the 
Company. Additionally, any Series Schedule relating to any Additional Series may provide for the 
formation of, and governance of matters relating to such Additional Series through, a “committee 
of the whole” comprised of one or more Representatives of each Member holding Membership 
Interests of such Additional Series (each such committee, an “Additional Series Management 
Committee,” and each Member entitled to participate in such Additional Series Management 
Committee at a given time, an “Additional Series Management Committee Member”); provided, 
however, that if any such Series Schedule does not provide for the formation of, or governance of 
matters relating to such Additional Series through, an Additional Series Management Committee, 
matters relating to such Additional Series shall be governed by the Series A Management Committee 
subject to any rights set forth on such Series Schedule that have been approved and adopted in 
accordance with this Agreement. Decisions or actions taken by any Management Committee in 
accordance with the provisions of this Agreement (for the avoidance of doubt, including any 
applicable Series Schedule) shall constitute decisions or actions by the Company and shall be binding 
on each Member, Representative, and employee of the Company. Each Management Committee 
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shall conduct its affairs in accordance with the following provisions and the other provisions of this 
Agreement:

(a) Representatives.

(i) Authority. Each Representative shall have the full authority to act on 
behalf of the Management Committee Member that designated such Representative; the action 
of a Representative at a meeting (or through a written consent) of the applicable Management 
Committee shall bind the Management Committee Member that designated such Representative; 
and the other Members of the applicable Series shall be entitled to rely upon such action without 
further inquiry or investigation as to the actual authority (or lack thereof) of such Representative. 
In addition, the act of an Alternate Representative shall be deemed the act of the Representative 
for which such Alternate Representative is acting, without the need to produce evidence of the 
absence or unavailability of such Representative.

(ii) DISCLAIMER OF DUTIES; INDEMNIFICATION. EACH 
REPRESENTATIVE SHALL REPRESENT, AND OWE DUTIES TO, ONLY THE MEMBER 
THAT DESIGNATED SUCH REPRESENTATIVE (THE NATURE AND EXTENT OF SUCH 
DUTIES BEING AN INTERNAL AFFAIR OF SUCH MEMBER), AND SHALL NOT OWE 
ANY DUTIES (INCLUDING FIDUCIARY DUTIES) TO THE COMPANY, ANY OTHER 
MEMBER OR REPRESENTATIVE, OR ANY AFFILIATE, OFFICER, OR EMPLOYEE OF 
THE COMPANY, ANY OTHER MEMBER, OR ANY OTHER PERSON. THE PROVISIONS 
OF SECTION 6.04 AND ANY OTHER APPLICABLE DISCLAIMERS OF DUTIES SET 
FORTH ON SCHEDULE I SHALL ALSO INURE TO THE BENEFIT OF EACH MEMBER’S 
REPRESENTATIVE. THE COMPANY SHALL INDEMNIFY, PROTECT, DEFEND, 
RELEASE AND HOLD HARMLESS EACH REPRESENTATIVE FROM AND AGAINST 
ANY CLAIMS ASSERTED BY OR ON BEHALF OF ANY PERSON (INCLUDING 
ANOTHER MEMBER), OTHER THAN THE MEMBER THAT DESIGNATED SUCH 
REPRESENTATIVE, THAT ARISE OUT OF, RELATE TO, OR ARE OTHERWISE 
ATTRIBUTABLE TO, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, THE COMPANY OR SUCH 
REPRESENTATIVE’S SERVICE ON ANY MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE. 

(iii) Attendance. Each Management Committee Member shall use all 
reasonable efforts to cause its Representative or Alternate Representative to attend each meeting 
of the Management Committee(s) of which it is a member, unless its Representative is unable 
to do so because of a “force majeure” event or other event beyond his reasonable control, in 
which event such Management Committee Member shall use all reasonable efforts to cause its 
Representative or Alternate Representative to participate in the meeting by telephone pursuant 
to Section 6.02(e).

(b) Secretary. A Management Committee may designate a Secretary of such 
Management Committee, who need not be a Representative or an employee of a Member or any 
Affiliate thereof.

(c) Procedures. The Secretary, or if no Secretary has been appointed, a person 
designated in writing by the Representatives, of a Management Committee shall maintain written 
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minutes of each meeting held by such Management Committee. A Management Committee may 
adopt whatever rules and procedures relating to its activities as it may deem appropriate, provided
that such rules and procedures shall not be inconsistent with or violate the provisions of this 
Agreement and the applicable Series Schedule.

(d) Action by Written Consent. Any action required or permitted to be taken at 
a meeting of a Management Committee may be taken without a meeting, without prior notice, and 
without a vote if a consent or consents in writing, setting forth the action so taken, is signed by the 
Representatives of the Management Committee Members acting through such Management 
Committee that could have taken the action at a meeting of such Management Committee.

(e) Meetings by Telephone. Representatives may participate in and hold such 
meeting by means of conference telephone, videoconference or similar communications equipment 
by means of which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other. Participation in such 
a meeting shall constitute presence in person at such meeting, except where a Representative 
participates in the meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business 
on the ground that the meeting is not lawfully called or convened.

(f) Subcommittees. A Management Committee may create such subcommittees, 
and delegate to such subcommittees such authority and responsibility, and rescind any such 
delegations, as it may deem appropriate.

(g) Officers. The Series A Management Committee may designate one or more 
Persons to be officers of the Company. Any officers so designated shall have such titles and, subject 
to the other provisions of this Agreement, have such authority and perform such duties as the Series 
A Management Committee may delegate to them and shall serve at the pleasure of the Series A 
Management Committee and report to the Series A Management Committee.

6.03 Certain Approval Matters. 

(a) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, none of the 
following actions may be taken by, or on behalf of, the Company or any Series without first obtaining 
the approval of [***] the Representatives of the Series A Management Committee:

(i) with respect to the Company and each Series, conducting any activity 
or business that, in the reasonable judgment of the Existing Operator, acting in good faith, may 
generate income for federal income tax purposes that may not be “qualifying income” (as such 
term is defined pursuant to Section 7704 of the Code) in excess of 5% of the gross income of 
the Company or such Series;

(ii) any material tax elections or any material decisions relating to 
material tax returns pertaining to Series A, the Company as a whole or more than one Series, 
in each case, as determined in the reasonable judgment of the Existing Operator, acting in good 
faith;

(iii) [***]
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(iv) selecting a different name for the Company, or making any change 
to the principal nature of the business of the Company;

(v) approving accounting procedures for any Series in accordance with 
GAAP, or voluntarily changing or terminating the appointment of such Series’ accountants;

(vi) on the occurrence of a Dissolution Event, the designation of a Member 
or other Person to serve as liquidator pursuant to Section 12.02 of the Agreement;

(vii) the commencement, conduct or settlement of any suit, action or 
proceeding or arbitration involving the Company, in each case to the extent involving in excess 
of $[***];

(viii) termination of any Series pursuant to Section 12.01 of the Agreement;

(ix) causing or permitting the Company or any Series to become Bankrupt 
(but this provision shall not be construed to require any Member to ensure the profitability or 
solvency of the Series);

(x) causing or permitting the Company or any Series to merge, 
consolidate or convert into any other entity; 

(xi) approving any Additional Transportation Facility;

(xii) approving Series Schedules to this Agreement relating to an 
Additional Series and the Additional Transportation Facility to which such Additional Series 
relates, including (A) the Members holding Membership Interests of such Additional Series and 
their respective Sharing Ratios in respect of such Additional Series, (B) any specific governance 
rights held by Additional Series Members thereunder, including any Management Committee 
with respect to such Additional Series, and (C) any Performance Assurances required to be 
delivered to the Company by or on behalf of such Additional Series Members, including the 
timing of the delivery of, and the amount of, such Performance Assurances; and

(xiii) entering into, amending in any material respect, or terminating any 
Side Letter, or approving of the assignment of a Side Letter in accordance with the terms thereof, 
including any modifications thereto in connection with such assignment; provided, however, 
that if such Side Letter or amendment thereof affects the terms of the  Membership Interests of 
a Member in such a manner that such Side Letter or amendment would have required such 
 Member’s approval pursuant to the terms of Section 13.05 of this Agreement or the applicable 
provisions of the Series Schedule relating to such Membership Interests had such Side Letter 
been effected as an amendment or modification of this Agreement or such Series Schedule, then 
such Side Letter or amendment thereof shall require such Member’s approval in accordance 
with the provisions of Section 13.05 of this Agreement or the comparable provision of such 
Series Schedule, as applicable.

(b) In any matter proposed to the Series A Management Committee pursuant to 
Sections 6.03(a)(i), (ii), and (v) (but only with respect to matters relating to internal accounting 
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procedures) and (vii), the Representatives of USG and its Affiliates shall not unreasonably grant or 
withhold their vote, consent or approval.

(c) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement or any Series 
Schedule but subject to the approval of a Supermajority Interest of the Representatives of the Series 
A Management Committee, one Series may use or expand (including any expansion described in 
clauses (b)-(d) in the definition of “Mainline Facilities”) the assets of another Series without the 
approval of the Members or Management Committee of such other Series; provided that any such 
use or expansion is pursuant to arm’s-length terms and conditions and does not adversely affect the 
interests of the Members of such other Series as then in effect in such assets. The Series A 
Management Committee shall use its good faith efforts to allocate the benefits and liabilities with 
respect to such assets among the Series in proportion or relation to their use thereof. Without limiting 
the generality of the foregoing and by way of example only, subject to only the approval required 
pursuant to this Section 6.03(c), the Facilities of one Series (such Facilities, the “Affected Facilities”) 
may be expanded to increase the capacity of the Affected Facilities in order to permit the flow of 
commodities from upstream of the Affected Facilities to the Facilities of another Series that are 
located downstream of the Affected Facilities, with the benefits and liabilities of the original capacity 
inuring to the Series owning the Affected Facilities and the benefits and liabilities of the increased 
capacity inuring with respect to the Series owning the downstream Facilities.

6.04 No Duties; Disclaimer of Duties. Each Member acknowledges its express intent, 
and agrees with each other Member for the mutual benefit of all the Members, that 

(a) to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law, no Member, in its capacity 
as Member, nor any of such Member’s or any of its Affiliates’ respective employees, agents, 
directors, managers or officers shall have any fiduciary duty to the Company, any Series, any other 
Member or Representative or any other Person in connection with the business and affairs of the 
Company or Series or any consent or approval given or withheld pursuant to this Agreement; 
provided, however, that nothing herein shall eliminate the implied contractual covenant of good 
faith and fair dealing; 

(b) to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law, no Representative, in such 
Person’s capacity as a Representative, shall have any fiduciary duty to the Company, any Series, 
any Member (other than the Member that designated such Representative), any other Representative, 
or any other Person in connection with the business and affairs of the Company or Series or any 
consent or approval given or withheld pursuant to this Agreement; provided, however, that nothing 
herein shall eliminate the implied contractual covenant of good faith and fair dealing; and

(c) the provisions of this Section 6.04 will apply for the benefit of each Member, 
and no standard of care, duty, or other legal restriction or theory of liability shall limit or modify 
the right of each Member to act and direct its Representative to vote in the manner determined by 
the Member that designated such Representative in its Sole Discretion.

To the maximum extent permitted by applicable Law, each Member hereby releases and forever 
discharges each other Member and such other Member’s Representative from all liabilities that 
such other Member or its Representative might owe, under the Act or otherwise, to the Company, 
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the releasing Member, or such releasing Member’s Representative on the ground that any decision 
of that other Member or such other Member’s Representative to grant or withhold any vote, consent 
or approval constituted the breach or violation of any standard of care, any fiduciary duty or other 
legal restriction or theory of liability applicable to such other Member or its Representative; 
provided, however, that nothing herein shall eliminate any Member’s liability for any act or omission 
that constitutes a bad faith violation of the implied contractual covenant of good faith and fair 
dealing. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, nothing in this Section 6.04
shall limit or waive any claims against, actions, rights to sue, other remedies or other recourse of 
the Company, any Series, any Member or any other Person may have against any Member, 
Representative or employee of the Company or any Series for a breach of contract claim relating 
to any binding agreement (including this Agreement).

6.05 Business Opportunities.

(a) During the Term, except as otherwise provided in any applicable COM 
Agreement, any project involving the planning, design, construction, acquisition, ownership, 
maintenance, or operation of the Facilities may be conducted only by the Company through a Series 
and not by any Member or any Affiliate of a Member. 

(b) A Member and each Affiliate of a Member may engage in and possess 
interests in other business ventures of any and every type and description, independently or with 
others, including ones in competition with the Company, with no obligation to offer to the Company, 
any other Member or any Affiliate of another Member the right to participate therein. Subject to 
the approval of the Series A Management Committee in accordance with Schedule I-A, the Company 
may transact business with any Member or Affiliate thereof. Without limiting the generality of the 
foregoing, the Members recognize and agree that their respective Affiliates currently engage in 
certain activities involving natural gas and electricity marketing and trading (including futures, 
options, swaps, exchanges of future positions for physical deliveries and commodity trading), 
gathering, processing, storage, transportation and distribution, electric generation, development and 
ownership, as well as other commercial activities related to natural gas and that these and other 
activities by Members’ Affiliates may be based on natural gas that is shipped through the Facilities 
or otherwise made possible or facilitated by reason of the Company’s activities (herein referred to 
as “Affiliate’s Outside Activities”). No Affiliate of a Member shall be restricted in its right to conduct, 
individually or jointly with others, for its own account any Affiliate’s Outside Activities, and no 
Member or its Affiliates shall have any duty or obligation, express or implied, fiduciary or otherwise, 
to account to, or to share the results or profits of such Affiliate’s Outside Activities with, the 
Company, any other Member or any Affiliate of any other Member, by reason of such Affiliate’s 
Outside Activities. The provisions of this Section 6.05(b), Sections 6.02(a)(ii), 6.04, 6.05(d), 6.05(e)
and 6.07(a) and any other applicable disclaimers of duties set forth on Schedule I constitute an 
agreement to modify or eliminate, as applicable, fiduciary duties pursuant to the provisions of 
Section 18-1101 of the Act.

(c) Subject to Section 6.05(a) and (b) each Member:

(i) renounces in advance each and every interest or expectancy it or any 
of its Affiliates might be considered to have under the Act, at common law or in equity by reason 
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of its membership in the Company in any business opportunity, or in any opportunity to 
participate in any business opportunity, in any business or industry in which any other Member 
or its Affiliates now or in the future engages, which is presented to the Company, to any other 
Member or any of its Affiliates or to any present or future partner, member, director, officer, 
manager, supervisor, employee, agent or representative of the Company or of any other Member 
or any of its Affiliates; and

(ii) waives and consents to [***].

(d) Subject to Section 6.05(a) and (b), the Company:

(i) renounces in advance each and every interest or expectancy it might 
be considered to have under the Act, at common law or in any business opportunity, or in any 
opportunity to participate in any business opportunity, in any business or industry in which any 
Member or any of its Affiliates now or in the future engages, which is presented to such Member 
or any of its Affiliates or to any present or future partner, member, director, officer, manager, 
supervisor, employee, agent or representative of such Member or any of its Affiliates; and

(ii) waives and consents to [***].

(e) Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement or the Series 
Schedules, the Representative of a Founding Member who is, or whose Affiliate is, involved in a 
Related Party Matter [***]. 

(f) [***]

(g) [***]

6.06 Insurance Coverage.

(a) Operator Insurance. Pursuant to each COM Agreement, the applicable 
Operator is required to carry and maintain or cause to be carried and maintained certain liability 
insurance coverages. 

(b) Claim for Property Loss or Damage. In the event of actual loss or damage 
to a Series’ property or any incident reasonably anticipated to give rise to a claim for loss or damage 
to the Series’ property, the Series shall promptly provide written notice to the Members holding 
Membership Interests of the Series to which such property relates of such loss, damage or incident. 
The Series shall take all actions necessary to provide proper and timely notification to its insurers 
of such loss, damage or incident. The Series shall be responsible for the preparation, submittal and 
negotiation of all insurance claims related to any loss, damage or incident involving the Series’ 
property. The Members of such Series each agree to use all reasonable efforts to cooperate with 
each other and the Series in the preparation, submittal and negotiation of all such claims by the 
Series, including, but not limited to, the assignment of adjusters and the provision and exchange of 
information related to any loss, damage or incident involving the Series’ property.
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(c) Directors’ and Officers’ Liability. Each Member shall carry and maintain 
Directors’ and Officers’ Liability insurance covering its own respective persons who are serving as 
officers, directors, Representatives or Management Committee members of a Series. Each Member 
shall also be responsible for insuring its respective Membership Interest in a Series for securities 
claims against such Series.

6.07 Indemnification.

(a) Subject to Section 6.07(b), to the fullest extent permitted by the Act, each 
Series shall indemnify and hold harmless each Representative and each Member and the managers, 
officers, directors, stockholders, partners, members, managers, employees, affiliates, 
representatives and agents of such Member, as well as each officer, employee, representative, and 
agent of such Series (individually, a “Covered Person”) from and against any and all Claims in 
which the Covered Person may be involved, or threatened to be involved, as a party or otherwise, 
by reason of the fact that he or it is a Covered Person or which relates to or arises out of the Series 
or its property, business or affairs. A Covered Person shall not be entitled to indemnification under 
this Section 6.07(a) with respect to [***]. 

(b) Notwithstanding the obligations of the Series pursuant to Section 6.07(a) and 
subject to Section 6.07, each Member shall indemnify, protect, defend, release and hold harmless 
the Company, each Series and each other Member, its Representative, its Affiliates, and its and their 
respective directors, officers, trustees, employees and agents from and against [***].

6.08 Limitation on Liability. EXCEPT IN CONNECTION WITH 
INDEMNIFICATION OBLIGATIONS ARISING FROM AN ACTION OR PROCEEDING 
BROUGHT BY A THIRD PARTY FOR AMOUNTS PAID OR OWING TO SUCH THIRD PARTY, 
EACH MEMBER AGREES THAT NO MEMBER SHALL BE LIABLE UNDER THIS 
AGREEMENT FOR EXEMPLARY, INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, SPECIAL 
OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES WHICH IN ANY WAY ARISE OUT OF, RELATE TO, OR ARE A 
CONSEQUENCE OF, ITS PERFORMANCE OR NONPERFORMANCE HEREUNDER, OR 
THE PROVISION OF OR FAILURE TO PROVIDE ANY SERVICE HEREUNDER, 
INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, LOSS OF FUTURE PROFITS, BUSINESS 
INTERRUPTIONS, AND LOSS OF CUSTOMERS, WHETHER SUCH DAMAGES ARE 
ASSERTED IN AN ACTION BROUGHT IN CONTRACT, IN TORT OR PURSUANT TO SOME 
OTHER THEORY, AND WHETHER THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES WAS MADE 
KNOWN OR WAS FORESEEABLE.
ARTICLE 7  

DEVELOPMENT OF ADDITIONAL TRANSPORTATION FACILITIES

7.01 Employee Matters. To facilitate placing a Facility assigned to a Series in service, 
a Founding Member that is not, or does not have an Affiliate that is, the Operator with respect to 
such Facility shall have the right to have one employee located in such Operator’s primary place 
of business with respect to such Facility and any construction or engineering site until the In-Service 
Date for such Facility and such employee shall have access to all construction and engineering 
offices related to such Facility and shall be permitted to review, examine, and copy the books, 
records, plans, reports, forecasts, studies, budgets, and other information related to such Facility. 
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7.02 General Regulatory Matters.

(a) The Members acknowledge that either the Company will be a “natural gas 
company” as defined in Section 2(6) of the NGA or the assets of the Company will be operated by 
a “natural gas company” as defined in Section 2(6) of the NGA in accordance with the certificate 
of authority granted by the FERC.

(b) Each Member shall (i) cooperate fully with the Company, any Management 
Committee, USG, EQT, and the applicable Operator in securing the Necessary Regulatory 
Approvals, including supporting all ATF FERC Applications, and in connection with any reports 
prescribed by the FERC and any other Governmental Authority having jurisdiction over the 
Company; (ii) join in any eminent domain takings by the Company, to the extent, if any, required 
by Law; and (iii) without limiting or modifying Section 6.04 or 6.05, devote such efforts as shall 
be reasonable and necessary to develop and promote the Facilities for the benefit of the Company, 
taking into account such Member’s Sharing Ratio(s), resources, and expertise.
ARTICLE 8   

TAXES

8.01 Tax Returns.  Except as otherwise required by any final Treasury Regulations, each 
Member, each Series and the Company shall treat each Series as an entity formed under local law 
for federal (and, where applicable, state and local) tax purposes and shall file tax returns for or with 
respect to each Series accordingly. The Existing Operator, or any successor Operator appointed in 
accordance with this Agreement, shall prepare and timely file (on behalf of the Company and any 
such Series) all federal, state and local tax returns required to be filed by the Company or with 
respect to such Series; provided that so long as USG is a Founding Member to which a material tax 
return relates, USG shall have the right to review and comment on such material return at least 25 
Days prior to the relevant due date for such return (which return may be provided to USG in draft 
form) and that the Existing Operator (or such successor Operator) shall include any such timely 
received comments as are reasonable, subject to applicable Law and to any ethical obligations of 
a return preparer. Each Member shall furnish to the Existing Operator (or such successor Operator) 
all pertinent information in its possession relating to the Company’s operations and the operations 
of each Series that is necessary to enable the such tax returns to be timely prepared and filed. The 
Company shall bear the costs of the preparation and filing of its returns.

8.02 Tax Elections. The Company or each Series shall make, or has made, the following 
elections on the appropriate tax returns:

(a) to adopt the calendar year as the Company’s and each Series’ fiscal and 
taxable year; 

(b) to adopt the accrual method of accounting;

(c) to make the election described in Code Section 754 with respect to the first 
taxable year of the Company and each Series;
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(d) to elect to deduct or amortize the organizational expenses of the Company 
and each Series in accordance with Section 709(b) of the Code and to depreciate property pursuant 
to the most rapid depreciation or cost recovery method available; and

(e) any other election the Series A Management Committee may deem 
appropriate or that the Existing Operator (or such successor Operator) is permitted to make without 
Management Committee approval in accordance with Section 6.03(a)(ii) and the provisions of any 
applicable Series Schedule.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, none of the Company, any Series or any Member shall 
make an election for the Company or any Series to be excluded from the application of the provisions 
of subchapter K of chapter 1 of subtitle A of the Code or elect for the Company or any Series to be 
treated as an association taxable as a corporation or any similar provisions of applicable state law 
and no provision of this Agreement shall be construed to sanction or approve such an election.

8.03 Tax Matters Member. 

(a) EQT shall serve as the “tax matters partner” of the Company and each Series 
pursuant to Section 6231(a)(7) of the Code, as in effect prior to amendment by the Bipartisan Budget 
Act of 2015 (the “Tax Matters Member”). The Tax Matters Member shall take such action as may 
be necessary to cause to the extent possible each other Member to become a “notice partner” within 
the meaning of Section 6223 of the Code prior to amendment by the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2015. 
The Tax Matters Member shall inform each other Member of all significant matters that may come 
to its attention in such capacity by giving notice thereof on or before the fifth Business Day after 
becoming aware thereof and, within that time, shall forward to each other Member copies of all 
significant written communications it may receive from a taxing authority in that capacity. If the 
Tax Matters Member ceases to be the Tax Matters Member, the Series A Management Committee 
shall appoint a successor Tax Matters Member.

(b) The Tax Matters Member shall provide any Member, upon reasonable 
request, access to accounting and tax information and schedules obtained thereby solely in such 
capacity as shall be necessary for the preparation by such Member of its income tax returns and 
such Member’s tax information reporting requirements.

(c) The Tax Matters Member and Partnership Representative shall take no action 
in such capacity without the authorization of the Management Committee of each affected Series, 
other than such action as may be required by Law. If the authorization has not been granted or 
denied before the date such action is required by Law, the Partnership Representative may take such 
action on such date, and if such action is taken, the Partnership Representative shall promptly provide 
notice thereof to the Management Committee of each affected Series. Any cost or expense incurred 
by the Tax Matters Member or the Partnership Representative in connection with its duties, including 
the preparation for or pursuance of administrative or judicial proceedings and in complying with 
Section 8.03(b), shall be paid by the Company. 

(d) The Tax Matters Member shall not enter into any extension of the period of 
limitations for making assessments on behalf of the Members without first obtaining the consent 
of the Management Committee of each affected Series. The Tax Matters Member shall not bind any 
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Member to a settlement agreement without obtaining the consent of such Member. Any Member 
that enters into a settlement agreement with respect to any partnership item (as described in Code 
Section 6231(a)(3) prior to amendment by the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2015) with respect to the 
Company or any Series shall notify the other Members of such settlement agreement and its terms 
within [***] Days from the date of the settlement.

(e) No Member shall file a request pursuant to Code Section 6227, as in effect
prior to amendment by the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2015, for an administrative adjustment of Company 
items or items of any Series for any taxable year without first notifying the other Members no later 
than [***] Days prior to filing such request. If the Series A Management Committee consents to 
the requested adjustment, the Tax Matters Member shall file the request for the administrative 
adjustment on behalf of the Members. If such consent is not obtained within [***] Days from such 
notice, any Member, including the Tax Matters Member, may file a request for administrative 
adjustment on its own behalf. Any Member intending to file a petition under Code Sections 6226, 
6228 or other Code Section, each as in effect prior to amendment by the Bipartisan Budget Act of 
2015, with respect to any item involving the Company or any Series shall notify the other Members 
of such intention and the nature of the contemplated proceeding. In the case where the Tax Matters 
Member is the Member intending to file such petition on behalf of the Company or any Series, such 
notice shall be given within a reasonable period of time to allow the other Members to participate 
in the choosing of the forum in which such petition will be filed.

(f) If any Member intends to file a notice of inconsistent treatment under Code 
Section 6222(b) as in effect prior to amendment by the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2015, such Member 
shall give reasonable notice under the circumstances to the other Members of such intent and the 
manner in which the Member’s intended treatment of an item is (or may be) inconsistent with the 
treatment of that item by the other Members.

(g) For any taxable year beginning on or after January 1, 2018 and for the 
Company and for each Series, the Tax Matters Member shall be, or shall designate, the Partnership 
Representative as that term is defined in Code Section 6223(a), as added by the Bipartisan Budget 
Act of 2015 (the “Partnership Representative”), and any other Persons necessary to conduct 
proceedings under Subchapter C of Chapter 63 of the Code (as amended by the Bipartisan Budget Act 
of 2015) for such year, and each Member shall take all actions necessary to cause such Person to be 
so designated in accordance with any procedures prescribed therefor. Each Party agrees that the 
Company and each Series shall, unless determined otherwise by the Management Committee of 
each affected Series, in its reasonable discretion, elect the alternative method of paying any imputed 
underpayment resulting from any Company or Series adjustment as provided by Code Section 6226, 
as added by the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2015, and each Member shall take any and all actions 
necessary to effect such election, including but not limited to the filing by each Member of amended 
returns and the payment of any tax, including any interest, penalties, or additions to such tax, resulting 
from the imputed underpayment.
ARTICLE 9   

BOOKS, RECORDS, REPORTS, AND BANK ACCOUNTS

9.01 Maintenance of Books. 
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(a) Each Operator shall keep or cause to be kept at the principal office of the 
Company or at such other location approved by the Series A Management Committee complete and 
accurate books and records of the Company and each Series, including all books and records 
necessary to provide to the Members any information required to be provided pursuant to 
Section 9.02, supporting documentation of the transactions with respect to the conduct of the 
Company’s and Series’ business and minutes of the proceedings of its Members and each 
Management Committee, and any other books and records that are required to be maintained by 
applicable Law.

(b) The books of account of the Company and each Series shall be (i) maintained 
since a fiscal year that is the calendar year, (ii) maintained on an accrual basis in accordance with 
Required Accounting Practices, and (iii) unless the Series A Management Committee decides 
otherwise, audited by the Certified Public Accountants at the end of each calendar year.

9.02 Reports. 

(a) With respect to each calendar year, each Operator shall prepare and deliver 
to each Member holding Membership Interests of a Series to which the Facility or Facilities operated 
by such Operator relate, on a per-Series basis:

(i) Within 75 Days after the end of such calendar year, a statement of 
operations and a statement of cash flows for such year, a balance sheet as of the end of such 
year, and an audited report thereon of the Certified Public Accountants; provided that, upon the 
written request of one or more Members holding Membership Interests of the applicable Series 
at least [***] Days prior to the applicable calendar year end, which request shall be a standing 
request effective for subsequent calendar years unless and until revoked by the requesting 
Member, such Operator shall prepare and deliver to the requesting Member(s) within 25 Days 
after the end of each such calendar year the foregoing information except for the audited report, 
which such Operator shall use reasonable efforts to prepare and deliver to the requesting 
Member(s) no later than 14 Days prior to any regulatory, contractual or filing deadlines of such 
Member for which such Operator has been notified by such Member. 

(ii) Within 75 Days after the end of such calendar year, such federal, state 
and local income tax returns and such other accounting and tax information and schedules as 
shall be necessary for tax reporting purposes by each such Member with respect to such year.

(b) Upon the written request of one or more Founding Members at least [***] 
Days prior to the applicable calendar year end, each Operator shall use reasonable efforts to prepare 
and deliver to the requesting Founding Member(s) the following information with respect to Series 
A Membership Interests and/or any Membership Interests of a Series to which the Facility or 
Facilities operated by such Operator relate within [***] Days after the end of such calendar year, 
on a per-Series basis:

(i) A discussion and analysis of the results of operations including 
detailed explanations of significant variances in revenues, expenses and cash flow activities 
appearing in the audited financial statements, as compared to the same periods in the prior 
calendar year, and relevant operational statistics, including volumetric data;
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(ii) A schedule of amounts due by year for contractual obligations that 
will impact Available Cash including notes payable, capital leases, operating leases, and 
purchase obligations; and

(iii) A three-year forward-looking forecast that includes a balance sheet, 
profit and loss statement, and a statement of cash flows. Such forecast shall include information 
pertaining to the underlying assumptions used in its preparation including volumetric, revenue 
per-unit and capital expenditure assumptions. Such forecast also shall be updated within 45 
Days after execution by the Company of a material Gas Transportation Service Agreement 
related to such Series if the timing and amount of revenues or expenses resulting from such 
agreement are materially different than estimates included in the forward-looking forecast.

The reasonable incremental cost to the applicable Operator(s) of preparing the above reports shall 
be reimbursed to such Operator(s) by the Founding Member requesting such reports and, in the 
case of two or more Founding Members requesting such reports, equally by such Founding Members. 
Such cost shall be determined in accordance with the Accounting Procedure set forth in the applicable 
COM Agreement(s).

(c) Within 25 Days after the end of each calendar month, each Operator shall 
cause to be prepared and delivered to each Member holding Membership Interests of a Series to 
which the Facility or Facilities operated by such Operator relate with an appropriate certification 
of the Person authorized to prepare the same (provided that the Series A Management Committee 
may change the financial statements required by this Section 9.02(c) to a quarterly basis or may 
make such other change therein as it may deem appropriate), on a per-Series basis:

(i) A statement of operations for such month (including sufficient 
information to permit the Members to calculate their tax accruals) and for the portion of the 
calendar year then ended as compared with the same periods for the prior calendar year and 
with the budgeted results for the current periods;

(ii) A balance sheet as of the end of such month and the portion of the 
calendar year then ended; and

(iii) For quarter month end, a statement of cash flows for the portion of 
the calendar year then ended as compared to the same period for the prior calendar year.

(d) In addition to its obligations under subsections (a), (b), and (c) of this 
Section 9.02, but subject to Section 3.06, each Operator shall timely prepare and deliver to any 
Member holding Membership Interests of a Series to which the Facility or Facilities operated by 
such Operator relate, upon request and on a per-Series basis, all of such additional financial 
statements, notes thereto and additional financial information as may be required in order for such 
Member or an Affiliate of such Member to comply with any reporting requirements under (i) the 
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, (ii) the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, 
and (iii) any national securities exchange or automated quotation system. The reasonable 
incremental cost to such Operator(s) of preparing and delivering such additional financial 
statements, notes thereto and additional financial information, including any required incremental 
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audit fees and expenses, shall be reimbursed to such Operator(s) by the Member requesting such 
reports and, in the case of two or more Members requesting such additional information, equally 
by such Members. Such cost shall be determined in accordance with the Accounting Procedure set 
forth in the applicable COM Agreement(s). 

(e) Each Operator with respect to the Facilities of a Series shall also cause to be 
prepared and delivered to each Founding Member of such Series such other reports, forecasts, 
studies, budgets and other information as such Founding Member may reasonably request from 
time to time.

(f) For purposes of clarification and not limitation, any audit or examination by 
a Member pursuant to Section 3.6 of the Existing COM Agreement (or any substantially similar 
provision of any other COM Agreement) may, at the option of such Member, include audit or 
examination of the books, records and other support for the costs incurred pursuant to subsections 
(b) and (e) of this Section 9.02. 

(g) For the avoidance of doubt, a Member is entitled to receive, pursuant to this 
Section 9.02, only those reports, statements or other financial information relating to Series held 
by such Member, and such Member shall not receive any reports, statements or other financial 
information relating to any other Series. 

9.03 Bank Accounts. Funds of each Series shall be deposited in such banks or other 
depositories as shall be designated from time to time by the Management Committee of such Series 
and shall not be commingled with an Operator’s funds. All withdrawals from any such depository 
shall be made only as authorized by the Management Committee of such Series and shall be made 
only by check, wire transfer, debit memorandum or other written instruction. The Series A 
Management Committee may authorize an Operator to designate and maintain accounts in any such 
banks or other depositories in accordance with Exhibit A to the Existing COM Agreement or 
substantially similar provisions of any other COM Agreement, as applicable. 
ARTICLE 10   

WITHDRAWAL

10.01 Right of Withdrawal. With respect to each Series, (a) prior to the first In-Service 
Date with respect to the Facilities of such Series, no Member holding Membership Interests of such 
Series shall have the right to withdraw from such Series and (b) following such In-Service Date, 
each such Member shall have the right to withdraw from such Series on the date that is [***] Days 
following delivery of written notice to the Management Committee governing matters relating to 
such Series.

10.02 Deemed Withdrawal. A Member is deemed to have Withdrawn from the Company 
and all Series (except as provided in Section 10.02(e) below) upon the occurrence of any of the 
following events:

(a) there occurs an event that makes it unlawful for the Member to continue to 
be a Member;
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(b) the Member becomes Bankrupt;

(c) the Member dissolves and commences liquidation or winding-up; 

(d) the Member commits a Default; provided, that such Member shall not be 
considered a Withdrawn Member if such Member cures such Default within 60 Business Days of 
the applicable Default; or

(e) the Member is deemed to have withdrawn pursuant to a “Deemed Withdrawal 
Event” specified on a Series Schedule; provided, however, that, in such event, the Member is deemed 
to have Withdrawn solely with respect to such Series.

10.03 Effect of Withdrawal. A Member that is deemed to have Withdrawn pursuant to 
Section 10.01 or Section 10.02 (a “Withdrawn Member”), must comply with the following 
requirements in connection with its Withdrawal; provided, however, that in the event the Withdrawal 
is pursuant to Section 10.02(e), the provisions below shall apply solely with respect to the applicable 
Series:

(a) The Withdrawn Member ceases to be a Member of the Company and all 
Series immediately upon the occurrence of the applicable Withdrawal event. Following the 
Withdrawn Member’s Withdrawal from the last Series to which it was a Member, such Member 
shall be deemed to be Withdrawn from the Company as a whole.

(b) The Withdrawn Member shall not be entitled to receive any distributions 
from the Series except as set forth in Section 10.03(e), and neither it nor its Representative shall be 
entitled to exercise any voting or consent rights, or to appoint any Representative or Alternate 
Representative to any Management Committee (and any Representative(s) (and any Alternate 
Representative(s)) appointed by such Member shall be deemed to have resigned) or to receive any 
further information (or access to information) from the Series. The Sharing Ratio(s) of such Member 
with respect to any Series shall not be taken into account in calculating the Sharing Ratios of the 
Members for any purposes. This Section 10.03(b) shall also apply to a Breaching Member; but if 
a Breaching Member cures its breach during the applicable cure period, then any distributions that 
were withheld from such Member shall be paid to it, without interest.

(c) The Withdrawn Member must pay to each Series all amounts owed to it by 
such Withdrawn Member.

(d) The Withdrawn Member shall remain obligated for all liabilities it may have 
under this Agreement or otherwise with respect to the Series that accrue prior to the Withdrawal.

(e) In the event of a Withdrawal with respect to any Series under Section 10.01
or a deemed Withdrawal under Section 10.02(a) or (b), the Withdrawn Member shall be entitled to 
receive a portion of each distribution that is made by the Series to Members holding such Series 
from and after the In-Service Date for the applicable Facilities equal to the product of the Withdrawn 
Member’s Sharing Ratio in respect of such Series as of the date of its Withdrawal multiplied by the 
aggregate amount of such distribution; provided that the Withdrawn Member’s rights under this 
Section 10.03(e) shall automatically terminate at such time as the Withdrawn Member has received 
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an aggregate amount under this Section 10.03(e) equal to the sum of (i) lesser of (A) the Withdrawn 
Member’s Outstanding Capital Contribution with respect to such Series, and (B) the Fair Market 
Value of the Withdrawn Member’s Membership Interest of the applicable Series, each determined 
as of the date of the Withdrawal, plus (ii) any Indebtedness of the Series owed to such Member with 
respect to the applicable Facilities (determined in accordance with Section 3.03(b)(iv)(D)) at the 
time of Withdrawal. From the date of the Withdrawal to the date of such payment, the Withdrawn 
Member shall be treated as a non-Member equity holder with no rights other than the right to receive 
the amount owing to the Withdrawn Member pursuant to the preceding sentence. The rights of a 
Withdrawn Member under this Section 10.03(e) shall (A) be subordinate to the rights of any other 
creditor of the Series, (B) not include any right on the part of the Withdrawn Member to receive 
any interest or other amounts with respect thereto (except as may otherwise be provided in the 
evidence of any Indebtedness of the Series owed to such Withdrawn Member with respect to the 
applicable Facilities (determined in accordance with Section 3.03(b)(iv)(D)); (C) not require the 
Company to make any distribution (the Withdrawn Member’s rights under this Section 10.03(e) 
being limited to receiving a portion of such distributions as any applicable Management Committee 
may, in the Sole Discretion of the applicable Representatives, decide to cause the Series to make); 
and (D) not require any Member to make a Capital Contribution or a loan to permit the Company 
to make a distribution or otherwise to pay the Withdrawn Member. 

(f) Except as set forth in Section 10.03(e), a Withdrawn Member shall not be 
entitled to receive any return of its Capital Contributions or other payment from the Series in respect 
of its Membership Interest. Any Performance Assurances or Credit Assurances provided by the 
Withdrawn Member and outstanding as of the date of Withdrawal shall continue as to the liabilities 
accrued prior to the date of Withdrawal for which such Performance Assurances were provided 
under Section 4.01(b) or such Credit Assurances were provided under Section 4.07; provided that, 
in the event a Member is Withdrawn pursuant to Section 10.02(d), such Member shall pay over and 
forfeit any remaining Performance Assurances as liquidated damages and not as a penalty.

(g) The Sharing Ratio(s) of the Withdrawn Member shall be allocated among 
the remaining Members holding Membership Interests with respect to the Series to which the 
Withdrawal relates in the proportion that each such Member’s Sharing Ratio(s) in respect of such 
Series bears to the total Sharing Ratio in respect of such Series of all remaining Members holding 
Membership Interests of such Series, or in such other proportion as the remaining Members may 
unanimously agree.
ARTICLE 11  

DISPUTE RESOLUTION

11.01 Disputes. This Article 11 shall apply to any dispute arising under or related to this 
Agreement (whether arising in contract, tort or otherwise, and whether arising at law or in equity), 
including (a) any dispute regarding the construction, interpretation, performance, validity or 
enforceability of any provision of this Agreement or whether any Person is in compliance with, or 
breach of, any provisions of this Agreement; (b) any deadlock among Representatives on any matter 
requiring approval of a Management Committee (including any dispute over whether 
Representatives of any Founding Member (or its Affiliates) are reasonably withholding their consent 
in connection with a determination by a Management Committee, but only with respect to those 
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matters specifically identified in Section 6.03(b), Section 6.05(e) and the applicable provisions of 
the Series Schedules) other than the matters relating to the authorization of additional Series or the 
creation or issuance of additional Membership Interests, or the merger, consolidation or conversion 
of the Company (a “Deadlock”); and (c) the applicability of this Article 11 to a particular dispute. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Section 11.01 shall not apply to any matters that, pursuant to 
the provisions of this Agreement, are to be resolved by a vote of a Management Committee; provided
that, if a vote, approval, consent, determination or other decision must, under the terms of this 
Agreement, be made (or withheld) in accordance with a standard other than Sole Discretion (such 
as a reasonableness standard), then the issue of whether such standard has been satisfied may be a 
dispute to which this Article 11 applies (including Section 11.03); and provided, further, that any 
Deadlock shall be resolved solely as provided in Sections 11.02 and 11.05 hereof. Any dispute to 
which this Article 11 applies is referred to herein as a “Dispute.” With respect to a particular Dispute, 
each Member that is a party to such Dispute is referred to herein as a “Disputing Member.” The 
provisions of this Article 11 shall be the exclusive method of resolving Disputes.

11.02 Negotiation to Resolve Disputes. If a Dispute arises, the Disputing Members shall 
attempt to resolve such Dispute through the following procedure:

(a) first, the designated Representative of each of the Disputing Members shall 
promptly meet (whether by phone or in person) in a good faith attempt to resolve the Dispute; and

(b) second, if the Dispute is still unresolved after 10 Business Days following 
the commencement of the negotiations described in Section 11.02(a), then the Parent Decision 
Makers shall meet in person within five Business Days after the expiration of the aforementioned 
period of 10 Business Days, and such Parent Decision Makers shall attempt in good faith to resolve 
the Dispute as promptly as practicable.

11.03 Courts. If a Dispute (other than a Deadlock) is still unresolved following 10 Business 
Days after a written request or demand for negotiations described in Section 11.02(b), then any of 
such Disputing Members may submit such Dispute only to the Court of Chancery of the State of 
Delaware or, in the event that such court does not have jurisdiction over the subject matter of such 
Dispute, to another court of the State of Delaware or a U.S. federal court located in the State of 
Delaware (collectively, “Delaware Courts”), and each of the Members irrevocably submits to the 
exclusive jurisdiction of the Delaware Courts and hereby consents to service of process in any such 
Dispute by the delivery of such process to such party at the address and in the manner provided in 
Section 13.02. Each of the Members hereby irrevocably and unconditionally waives any objection 
to the laying of venue in any Dispute in the Delaware Courts and hereby further irrevocably and 
unconditionally waives and agrees not to plead or clam in any such court that any action, suit or 
proceeding brought in any such court has been brought in an inconvenient forum. EACH MEMBER 
IRREVOCABLY WAIVES TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING WITH 
RESPECT TO THIS AGREEMENT.

11.04 Specific Performance. The Members understand and agree that (a) irreparable 
damage would occur in the event that any provision of this Agreement were not performed in 
accordance with its specific terms, (b) although monetary damages may be available for the breach 
of such covenants and agreements such monetary damages are not intended to and do not adequately 
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compensate for the harm that would result from a breach of this Agreement, would be an inadequate 
remedy therefor and shall not be construed to diminish or otherwise impair in any respect any 
Member’s or the Company’s right to specific performance and (c) the right of specific performance 
is an integral part of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and without that right none 
of the Members would have entered into this Agreement. It is accordingly agreed that, in addition 
to any other remedy that may be available to it, including monetary damages, each of the Members 
and the Company shall be entitled to an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of this 
Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions of this Agreement. Each of the 
Members further agrees that no Member nor the Company shall be required to obtain, furnish or 
post any bond or similar instrument in connection with or as a condition to obtaining any remedy 
referred to in this Section 11.04 and each Member waives any objection to the imposition of such 
relief or any right it may have to require the obtaining, furnishing or posting of any such bond or 
similar instrument.

11.05 Arbitration. 

(a) If a Deadlock is still unresolved pursuant to the procedures set forth in Section 
11.02, then the Deadlock shall be settled by arbitration conducted in the English language in New 
York, New York, administered by and in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the 
Commercial Arbitration Rules (“Rules”) of the American Arbitration Association (“AAA”) (the 
“Arbitration”).

(b) Any Disputing Member (the “Arbitration Invoking Party”) may, by notice 
(the “Arbitration Notice”) to any other Disputing Member (the “Arbitration Noticed Party”), submit 
the Dispute to Arbitration in accordance with the provisions of this Section 11.05(b). Any Disputing 
Member may initiate Arbitration by filing with the AAA a notice of intent to arbitrate within the 
mediation period.

(c) Any such Arbitration proceeding shall be before a tribunal of three arbitrators, 
one designated by the Arbitration Invoking Party, one designated by the Arbitration Noticed Party, 
and one designated by the two arbitrators so designated. The Arbitration Invoking Party and the 
Arbitration Noticed Party shall each name their arbitrator by notice (the “Selection Notice”) given 
within five Business Days after the date of the Arbitration Notice, and the two arbitrators so appointed 
shall agree upon the third member of the tribunal within five Business Days after the date of the 
Selection Notice. Any member of the tribunal not appointed within the period required, whether by 
one of the Disputing Members or by the two arbitrators chosen by the Disputing Members, shall 
be appointed by the AAA. The arbitrators shall have no affiliation with, financial or other interest 
in, or prior employment with either Disputing Member or their Affiliates and shall be experienced 
and well-regarded oil and gas attorneys knowledgeable in the field of the dispute. 

(d) In any Arbitration in which the Deadlock involves a dispute over whether 
the Representatives of any Series A Founding Members are reasonably withholding their consent 
in connection with a determination by the Series A Management Committee with respect to Section 
6.03(b), Section 6.05(e) and any provision in a Series Schedule that requires Members to act 
reasonably, the arbitrators shall first determine whether the Representatives of such Series A 
Founding Member are reasonably withholding their consent in the matter(s) in question and, if such 
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Representatives are determined to have acted reasonably, the arbitrators shall then immediately 
proceed to resolve the Deadlock among the Representatives on the matter(s) requiring approval of 
the Series A Management Committee.

(e) Each of the Arbitration Invoking Party and the Arbitration Noticed Party 
shall have 20 Business Days, commencing on the date the Arbitration Notice is given, to prepare 
and submit a proposal for the resolution of the dispute to the tribunal, including a description of 
how such Disputing Member arrived at its proposal and the arguments therefor, as it deems 
appropriate. Each of the Arbitration Invoking Party and the Arbitration Noticed Party shall deliver 
a copy of its proposal, including any such supplemental information, to the other Disputing Member 
at the same time it delivers the proposal to the tribunal.

(f) Each of the Arbitration Invoking Party and the Arbitration Noticed Party 
shall have five Business Days after the receipt of the other Disputing Member’s proposal to revise 
its respective proposal and submit a final proposal to the tribunal, including supporting arguments 
for its own and against the other Disputing Member’s proposal.

(g) Each of the Arbitration Invoking Party and the Arbitration Noticed Party 
shall present oral arguments supporting its final proposal to the tribunal at a proceeding held five 
Business Days after the deadline for submission of final proposals to the tribunal. Each of the 
Arbitration Invoking Party and the Arbitration Noticed Party shall have three hours to make its oral 
presentation to the tribunal.

(h) The tribunal shall, within 10 Business Days after presentation of the oral 
arguments, render a decision that selects the Arbitration Invoking Party’s final proposal (with no 
modifications thereto) or the Arbitration Noticed Party’s final proposal (with no modifications 
thereto), and no other proposal. The award rendered pursuant to the foregoing shall be final and 
binding on the Disputing Members, shall not be subject to appeal, and judgment thereon may be 
entered or enforcement thereof sought by either Disputing Member in any court of competent 
jurisdiction.

(i) Each Disputing Member shall bear the costs of its appointed arbitrator and 
its own attorneys’ fees, and the costs of the third arbitrator incurred in accordance with the foregoing 
shall be shared equally by the Disputing Members. Additional incidental costs of the Arbitration 
shall be paid for by the non-prevailing Disputing Member in the Arbitration.

(j) Notwithstanding the foregoing, each Disputing Member may at any time in 
a Dispute apply to the Court of Chancery for a decree of dissolution of the Company pursuant to 
Section 18-802 of the Act. 
ARTICLE 12   

DISSOLUTION, WINDING-UP AND TERMINATION

12.01 Dissolution. 
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(a) The Company shall dissolve and its affairs shall be wound up (i) on the date 
all Series of the Company are terminated and wound up or (ii) upon entry of a decree of judicial 
dissolution under Section 18-802 of the Act.

(b) A Series shall terminate and its affairs shall be wound upon the first to occur 
of the following events (each a “Dissolution Event”):

(i) decision to terminate the Series by a Supermajority Interest of the 
Representatives in respect of such Series, with the approval of a Supermajority Interest of the 
Series A Management Committee;

(ii) entry of a decree of judicial dissolution of the Series under Section 
18-215(m) of the Act; 

(iii) the Disposition or abandonment of all or substantially all of the Series’ 
business and assets; and

(iv) an event that makes it unlawful for the business of the Series to be 
carried on.

(c) The termination and winding up of a Series shall not, in and of itself, cause 
a dissolution of the Company or the termination of any other Series; provided, however, that the 
Company shall dissolve and its affairs shall be wound up on the date all Series of the Company are 
terminated and wound up. The termination of a single Series shall not affect the limitation on 
liabilities of such Series or any other Series provided by this Agreement and the Act.

12.02 Winding-Up and Termination. 

(a) On the occurrence of a Dissolution Event, the Series A Management 
Committee and the Management Committee of the Series with respect to which a Dissolution Event 
has occurred, acting together, shall designate a Member or other Person to serve as liquidator. The 
liquidator shall proceed diligently to wind up the affairs of the Series and make final distributions 
as provided herein and in the Act. The costs of winding-up shall be borne as a Series expense. Until 
final distribution, the liquidator shall continue to operate the Series properties with all of the power 
and authority of the Members. The steps to be accomplished by the liquidator are as follows:

(i) as promptly as possible after termination and again after final 
winding-up, the liquidator shall cause a proper accounting to be made by a recognized firm of 
certified public accountants of the Series’ assets, liabilities, and operations through the last Day 
of the month in which the termination occurs or the final winding-up is completed, as applicable;

(ii) the liquidator shall discharge from Series funds all of the Indebtedness 
of the Series and other debts, liabilities and obligations of the Series (including all expenses 
incurred in winding-up and any loans described in Section 4.02) or otherwise make adequate 
provision for payment and discharge thereof (including the establishment of a cash escrow fund 
for contingent liabilities in such amount and for such term as the liquidator may reasonably 
determine); and
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(iii) all remaining assets of the Series shall be distributed to the Members 
as follows:

(A) the liquidator may sell any or all Series property, including 
to Members, and any resulting gain or loss from each sale shall be computed 
and allocated to the Capital Accounts of the Members with respect to the 
Series in accordance with the provisions of Article 5;

(B) with respect to all Series property that has not been sold, the 
fair market value of that property shall be determined and the Capital 
Accounts of the Members with respect to the Series shall be adjusted to reflect 
the manner in which the unrealized income, gain, loss, and deduction inherent 
in property that has not been reflected in the Capital Accounts with respect 
to the Series previously would be allocated among the Members if there were 
a taxable disposition of that property for the fair market value of that property 
on the date of distribution; and

(C) Series property (including cash) shall be distributed among 
the Members with respect to the Series in accordance with Section 5.01; and 
those distributions shall be made by the end of the taxable year of the Series 
during which the liquidation of the Series occurs (or, if later, [***] Days after 
the date of the liquidation).

(b) The distribution of cash or property to a Member with respect to a Series in 
accordance with the provisions of this Section 12.02 constitutes a complete return to the Member 
of its Capital Contributions with respect to the Series and a complete distribution to the Member 
of its Membership Interest with respect to the Series and all the Series’ property and constitutes a 
compromise to which all Members have consented pursuant to Section 18-502(b) of the Act. To the 
extent that a Member returns funds to the Company or any Series, it has no claim against any other 
Member for those funds. Upon termination of a Series, each Member associated with such Series 
shall look solely to the assets of such Series for the return of its Capital Contributions made with 
respect to such Series, and if the assets of such Series remaining after payment of or due provision 
for the debts and liabilities of the Company with respect to such Series are insufficient to return 
such Capital Contributions, such Members shall have no recourse against any other Series, the 
Company or any other Member, except as otherwise provided by law.

(c) No dissolution or termination of the Company shall relieve a Member from 
any obligation to the extent such obligation has accrued as of the date of such dissolution or 
termination. Upon such termination, any books and records of the Company that there is a reasonable 
basis for believing will ever be needed again shall be furnished to the applicable Operator, who 
shall keep such books and records (subject to review by any Person that was a Member at the time 
of dissolution) for a period at least three years. At such time as such Operator no longer agrees to 
keep such books and records, it shall offer the Persons who were Members at the time of dissolution 
the opportunity to take over such custody, shall deliver such books and records to such Persons if 
they elect to take over such custody, and may destroy such books and records if they do not so elect. 
Any such custody by such Persons shall be on such terms as they may agree upon among themselves.
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12.03 Deficit Capital Accounts. No Member will be required to pay to the Company, to 
any other Member or to any third party any deficit balance that may exist from time to time in any 
Member’s Capital Account with respect to any Series.

12.04 Certificate of Cancellation. On completion of the distribution of the Company’s 
assets as provided herein, the Members (or such other Person or Persons as the Act may require or 
permit) shall file a certificate of cancellation with the Secretary of State of Delaware, cancel any 
other filings made pursuant to the Act, and take such other actions as may be necessary to terminate 
the existence of the Company. Upon the filing of such certificate of cancellation, the existence of 
the Company shall terminate (and the Term shall end), except as may be otherwise provided by the 
Act or other applicable Law.
ARTICLE 13   

GENERAL PROVISIONS

13.01 Offset; Costs and Expenses. Whenever a Series is to pay any sum to any Member, 
any amounts that Member owes the Series may be deducted from that sum before payment.

13.02 Notices. Except as expressly set forth to the contrary in this Agreement, all notices, 
requests or consents provided for or permitted to be given under this Agreement must be in writing 
and must be delivered to the recipient in person, by courier or mail, or by facsimile or other electronic 
transmission, including electronic mail. A notice, request or consent given under this Agreement is 
effective on receipt by the Member to receive it; provided that a facsimile or other electronic 
transmission that is transmitted after the normal business hours of the recipient shall be deemed 
effective on the next Business Day. All notices, requests and consents to be sent to a Member must 
be sent to or made at the addresses given for that Member on Schedule I or in the instrument described 
in Section 3.03(b)(iv)(A)(2) or Section 3.04, or such other address as that Member may specify by 
notice to the other Members. Any notice, request or consent to the Company must be given to all 
of the Members. Whenever any notice is required to be given by Law, the Delaware Certificate or 
this Agreement, a written waiver thereof, signed by the Person entitled to notice, whether before or 
after the time stated therein, shall be deemed equivalent to the giving of such notice.

13.03 Entire Agreement; Superseding Effect. This Agreement (including the Series 
Schedules), the Side Letters and the COM Agreement(s) constitute the entire agreement of the 
Members and their Affiliates relating to the Company and the transactions contemplated hereby 
and supersede all provisions and concepts contained in all prior agreements.

13.04 Effect of Waiver or Consent. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, a 
waiver or consent, express or implied, to or of any breach or default by any Member in the 
performance by that Member of its obligations with respect to the Company is not a consent or 
waiver to or of any other breach or default in the performance by that Member of the same or any 
other obligations of that Member with respect to the Company. Except as otherwise provided in 
this Agreement, failure on the part of a Member to complain of any act of any Member or to declare 
any Member in default with respect to the Company, irrespective of how long that failure continues, 
does not constitute a waiver by that Member of its rights with respect to that default until the 
applicable statute-of-limitations period has run.
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13.05 Amendment or Restatement. This Agreement and the Delaware Certificate may 
be amended or restated only by a written instrument executed (or, in the case of the Delaware 
Certificate, approved) by a Supermajority Interest of the Representatives of the Series A Founding 
Members; provided, however, that any amendment or restatement that is materially adverse to any 
Series in a manner that is disproportionate to such Series (as compared to any other Series) shall 
require the written consent or approval of each Founding Member of such Series.

13.06 Binding Effect. Subject to the restrictions on Dispositions set forth in this 
Agreement, this Agreement is binding on and shall inure to the benefit of the Members and their 
respective successors and permitted assigns.

13.07 Governing Law; Severability. THIS AGREEMENT IS GOVERNED BY AND 
SHALL BE CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF 
DELAWARE, EXCLUDING ANY CONFLICT-OF-LAWS RULE OR PRINCIPLE THAT MIGHT 
REFER THE GOVERNANCE OR THE CONSTRUCTION OF THIS AGREEMENT TO THE 
LAW OF ANOTHER JURISDICTION. In the event of a direct conflict between the provisions of 
this Agreement and any mandatory, non-waivable provision of the Act, such provision of the Act 
shall control. If any provision of the Act provides that it may be varied or superseded in a limited 
liability company agreement (or otherwise by agreement of the members or managers of a limited 
liability company), such provision shall be deemed superseded and waived in its entirety if this 
Agreement contains a provision addressing the same issue or subject matter. If any provision of 
this Agreement or the application thereof to any Member or circumstance is held invalid or 
unenforceable to any extent, (a) the remainder of this Agreement and the application of that provision 
to other Members or circumstances is not affected thereby, and (b) the Members shall negotiate in 
good faith to replace that provision with a new provision that is valid and enforceable and that puts 
the Members in substantially the same economic, business and legal position as they would have 
been in if the original provision had been valid and enforceable.

13.08 Further Assurances. In connection with this Agreement and the transactions 
contemplated hereby, each Member shall execute and deliver any additional documents and 
instruments and perform any additional acts that may be necessary or appropriate to effectuate and 
perform the provisions of this Agreement and those transactions; provided, however, that this Section 
13.08 shall not obligate a Member to furnish guarantees or other credit supports by such Member’s 
Parent or other Affiliates.

13.09 Waiver of Certain Rights. Each Member irrevocably waives any right it may have 
to maintain any action for dissolution of the Company or for partition of the property of the Company.

13.10 Counterparts; Facsimiles. This Agreement may be executed in any number of 
counterparts with the same effect as if all signing parties had signed the same document. All 
counterparts shall be construed together and constitute the same instrument. A signature page to 
this Agreement or any other document prepared in connection with the transactions contemplated 
hereby that contains a copy of a party’s signature and that is sent by such party or its agent with the 
apparent intention (as reasonably evidenced by the actions of such party or its agent) that it constitute 
such party’s execution and delivery of this Agreement or such other document, including a document 
sent by facsimile transmission or by email in portable document format (PDF), shall have the same 
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effect as if such party had executed and delivered an original of this Agreement or such other 
document. Minor variations in the form of the signature page, including footers from earlier versions 
of this Agreement or any such other document, shall be disregarded in determining the party’s intent 
or the effectiveness of such signature.

13.11 Fair Market Value Determination.

(a) [***]

(b) [***]

(c) [***]

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank. Signature page follows.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Members have executed this Agreement as of the date first 
set forth above.

COMPANY:

MOUNTAIN VALLEY PIPELINE, LLC

By: MVP HOLDCO, LLC, its Member

By: /s/ David W. Gray                                  
Name: David W. Gray
Title:   Senior Vice President

By: US MARCELLUS GAS
INFRASTRUCTURE, LLC, its Member

By: /s/ Matthew J. Schafer                           
Name: Matthew J. Schafer
Title:   President

MEMBERS:

MVP  HOLDCO, LLC

By: /s/ David W. Gray                                  
Name: David W. Gray
Title:   Senior Vice President

US MARCELLUS GAS
INFRASTRUCTURE, LLC

By: /s/ Matthew J. Schafer                            
Name: Matthew J. Schafer
Title:   Vice President



 

[Signature Page to Third Amended and Restated LLC Agreement of Mountain Valley Pipeline, LLC]

VEGA NPI IV, LLC

By:                                                                 
Name:                                                              
Title:                                                                

WGL MIDSTREAM, INC.

By: /s/ Anthony M. Nee                                
Name: Anthony M. Nee
Title:   President

RGC MIDSTREAM, LLC

By: /s/ John S. D'Orazio                                
Name: John S. D'Orazio
Title:   President and CEO

CON EDISON GAS PIPELINE AND
STORAGE, LLC

By: Con Edison Transmission, Inc., its sole
member

By: /s/ Joseph P. Oates                                 
Name: Joseph P. Oates
Title:   President and CEO
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SCHEDULE I-A

SERIES A MEMBERSHIP INTERESTS

Dated as of April 6, 2018

Name, Address, Fax and E-mail

Sharing
Ratio in respect 

of Series A 
Membership 

Interests

Parent Representative and Alternate
Representatives

MVP HOLDCO, LLC

EQT Plaza
625 Liberty Avenue
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15222
Fax: (412) 553-7781
Attention: David Gray
   [***]
   Sean McGinty
   [***]

with a copy to:

Baker Botts L.L.P.
30 Rockefeller Plaza
New York, New York 10112
Fax: (212) 408-2504
Attn: Michael L. Bengtson
   [***]

45.5% [***] [***]

[***]

US MARCELLUS GAS 
INFRASTRUCTURE, LLC

601 Travis Street
Suite 1900
Houston, Texas 77002
Fax: 713.751.0375
Attention: Matthew Schaffer 
   [***]

31% [***] [***]

[***]

WGL MIDSTREAM, INC.

c/o WGL Holdings, Inc.
101 Constitution Avenue, N.W.
Washington, DC 20080
Fax: (202) 624-6655
Attn: Anthony M. Nee
     [***]

10% [***] N/A
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VEGA NPI IV, LLC

c/o Vega Energy Partners, Ltd.
3701 Kirby Dr., Suite 1290
Houston, Texas 77098
Fax: (713) 527-0850
Attn: David A. Modesett
   [***]

with a copy to:

Norton Rose Fulbright
1301 McKinney St., Suite 5100
Houston, TX 77010
Fax: (713) 651-5246
Attn: Ned Crady    

[***]

0% [***] N/A

RGC MIDSTREAM, LLC

519 Kimball Ave NE
Roanoke, Virginia 24016
Fax: (540) 777-2636
Attn: Paul Nester
   [***]

1% [***] N/A

CON EDISON GAS PIPELINE AND 
STORAGE, LLC

4 Irving Place
New York, New York 10003
Fax: (917) 534-4476
Attn: Joseph Oates 
   [***]

12.5% [***] N/A
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 The Series A Members acknowledge and agree as follows: 

ARTICLE 1  
GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO SERIES A MEMBERS

1.01 Facilities. The Facilities to which the Series A Membership Interests relate are the 
Mainline Facilities.

1.02 Distributions and Allocations. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the 
Agreement,

(a) amounts otherwise distributable to WGL pursuant to Section 5.01 of the 
Agreement shall be further apportioned between WGL and Vega Carryco and distributed as follows:

(i) prior to the occurrence of a Dissolution Event, [***]% to WGL and 
[***]% to Vega Carryco; and

(ii) upon and following the occurrence of a Dissolution Event:

(A) first, [***]% to WGL until [***], and

(B) thereafter, [***]% to WGL and [***]% to Vega Carryco; and

(b) WGL’s Sharing Ratio share of “excess nonrecourse liabilities” under Section 
5.03(d) of the Agreement shall be further allocated [***]% to Vega Carryco and [***]% to WGL. 

(c) As used herein, [***].

1.03 Performance Assurances. Each Series A Member shall deliver, or cause to be 
delivered on such Series A Member’s behalf, to the Series (except to the extent delivered prior to 
the date hereof):

(a) within [***] Business Days of the date hereof (or, with respect to a New 
Member admitted after the date hereof and prior to the In-Service Date with respect to the Mainline 
Facilities, within [***] Business Days of such admission), for the period up to the issuance of the 
FERC’s initial release to the Company to commence construction pursuant to the FERC Certificate 
for the Mainline Facilities (the “Initial Release”), Performance Assurances equal to such Member’s 
share of $[***] (calculated based on such Member’s Sharing Ratio in respect of Series A Membership 
Interests); and

(b) within 10 Business Days of the date of the Initial Release (or, with respect 
to a New Member admitted after the Initial Release, within 10 Business Days of such admission), 
for the period following the Initial Release and up to the In-Service Date with respect to the Mainline 
Facilities, Performance Assurances equal to [***]% of an amount equal to such Member’s Sharing 
Ratio in respect of Series A Membership Interests multiplied by the remaining obligations under 
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the applicable Construction Budget and less any security posted by such Member, or Member’s 
Affiliate, under any Approved Precedent Agreement.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 1.03, at no time prior to the In-Service 
Date for the Mainline Facilities will a Series A Member’s Performance Assurance obligation be 
less than such Series A Member’s share of $[***] (calculated based on such Series A Member’s 
Sharing Ratio in respect of Series A Membership Interests). The Performance Assurances posted 
by a Member pursuant to this Schedule I-A shall be reduced (A) at the end of each Quarter, to reflect 
[***]% of such Member’s actual Capital Contributions made to the Company during such Quarter 
in respect of the Series A Membership Interests, (B) to reflect any Performance Assurances posted 
by any New Members holding Series A Membership Interests, and (C) in connection with a 
Disposition of all or a portion of such Member’s Series A Membership Interest, to reflect the 
replacement Performance Assurances to be posted by the Assignee of such Series A Membership 
Interest pursuant to this Schedule I-A.

1.04 Amendment of Schedule I-A. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the 
Agreement, this Schedule I-A may only be amended by a Supermajority Interest of the 
Representatives of the Series A Founding Members; provided, however, any amendment or 
restatement of the Agreement (including this Schedule I-A, but excluding any other Series Schedule) 
or the Delaware Certificate that is materially adverse to any Series A Member in a manner that is 
disproportionate to such Series A Member’s interest (as compared to the interest of other Series A 
Members) shall (a) if the affected Member is a Founding Member, require the written consent or 
approval of such Founding Member; or (b) if the affected Member is not a Founding Member, 
require the written consent or approval of a majority of all Series A Members similarly adversely 
affected.

1.05 Interpretation. Unless the context otherwise requires, as used in this Schedule I-
A, (a) references to Articles and Section refer to the Articles and Sections of this Schedule I-A and 
(b) capitalized terms not otherwise defined in this Schedule I-A have the meanings given to such 
terms in the Agreement.

ARTICLE 2  
GOVERNANCE PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO SERIES A MEMBERS

2.01 General. Except as otherwise provided on Schedule I with respect to matters relating 
to an Additional Series, the management of the Company and Series A is fully vested in the Series 
A Founding Members as set forth in Section 2.02 and in the Agreement; provided, however, that 
in the event there are no longer any Series A Founding Members, the Series A Management 
Committee shall be comprised of one Representative for each Series A Member, which 
Representative shall have a vote equal to the designating Series A Member’s Sharing Ratio with 
respect to Series A Membership Interests (each Member entitled to participate in the Series A 
Management Committee at a given time, a “Series A Management Committee Member”). To 
facilitate the orderly and efficient management of the Company, the Series A Founding Members 
(or, in the event there are no longer any Founding Members, the Series A Members’ Representatives) 
shall act (a) collectively as a “committee of the whole” pursuant to Section 2.02, and (b) through 
the delegation of certain duties and authority to an Operator under a COM Agreement.
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2.02 Management Committee. The Series A Management Committee Members shall 
act collectively through meetings as a “committee of the whole,” which is hereby named the “Series 
A Management Committee.” Decisions or actions taken by the Series A Management Committee 
in accordance with the provisions of this Schedule I-A and the Agreement shall constitute decisions 
or actions by the Company and each Series and shall be binding on each Member, Representative, 
and employee of the Company and each Series. The Series A Management Committee shall conduct 
its affairs in accordance with the following provisions and the other provisions of this Agreement:

(a) Representatives. To facilitate the orderly and efficient conduct of Series A 
Management Committee meetings, each Series A Management Committee Member (together with 
its Affiliates, if applicable, for Series A Founding Members, if any) shall notify the other Series A 
Management Committee Member(s), from time to time, of the identity of (A) its Representative, 
and (B) at least one, but not more than two, Alternate Representatives. [***] The initial 
Representative and Alternate Representatives of each Series A Management Committee Member 
are set forth above in this Schedule I-A. A Series A Management Committee Member may designate 
a different Representative or Alternate Representatives for any meeting of the Series A Management 
Committee by notifying the other Series A Management Committee Member(s) at least [***] 
Business Days prior to the scheduled date for such meeting; provided that, if giving such advance 
notice is not feasible, then such new Representative or Alternate Representatives shall present 
written evidence of his or her authority at the commencement of such meeting.

(b) Time and Place of Meetings. The Series A Management Committee shall 
meet quarterly, subject to more or less frequent meetings upon approval of the Series A Management 
Committee. Notice of, and an agenda for, all Series A Management Committee meetings shall be 
provided by the Representatives to all Series A Members at least five Days prior to the date of each 
meeting, together with proposed minutes of the previous Series A Management Committee meeting 
(if such minutes have not been previously ratified). Among other items, the agenda will provide for 
a discussion of (i) the results of operations, including explanations of significant variances in 
revenues, expenses and cash flow activities and (ii) amounts due for contractual obligations that 
will impact Available Cash. Special meetings of the Series A Management Committee may be called 
at such times, and in such manner, as any Series A Management Committee Member reasonably 
deems necessary. Any Series A Management Committee Member calling for any such special 
meeting shall notify the Representatives, who in turn shall notify all Series A Management 
Committee Members of the date and agenda for such meeting at least five Days prior to the date of 
such meeting. Such five-Day period may be shortened by the Series A Management Committee, 
acting through a Supermajority Interest. All meetings of the Series A Management Committee shall 
be held at a location agreed upon by the Representatives. Attendance of a Representative of a Series 
A Management Committee Member at a meeting of the Series A Management Committee shall 
constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except where such Representative attends the meeting 
for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business on the ground that the meeting 
is not lawfully called or convened.

(c) Quorum. The presence of Representative(s) of Series A Management 
Committee Members representing a Supermajority Interest shall constitute a quorum for the 
transaction of business at any meeting of the Series A Management Committee.

(d) Voting.
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(i) Voting by Sharing Ratios. Subject to Section 2.02(f) and Section 
6.05(e) of the Agreement, each Representative shall be entitled to vote on all matters submitted to 
a vote of the Series A Management Committee in accordance with the respective Sharing Ratio in 
respect of Series A Membership Interests of the Series A Management Committee Member that 
designated such Representative. 

(ii) DISCLAIMER OF DUTIES. WITH RESPECT TO ANY VOTE, 
CONSENT OR APPROVAL AT ANY MEETING OF THE SERIES A MANAGEMENT 
COMMITTEE OR OTHERWISE UNDER THIS AGREEMENT, EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT 
OTHERWISE EXPRESSLY PROVIDED IN SECTION 2.02(f) AND SECTION 6.05(e) OF THE 
AGREEMENT, EACH REPRESENTATIVE MAY GRANT OR WITHHOLD SUCH VOTE, 
CONSENT OR APPROVAL IN ITS SOLE DISCRETION. THE PROVISIONS OF THIS 
SECTION 2.02(d)(ii) SHALL APPLY NOTWITHSTANDING THE NEGLIGENCE, GROSS 
NEGLIGENCE, WILLFUL MISCONDUCT, STRICT LIABILITY OR OTHER FAULT OR 
RESPONSIBILITY OF A SERIES A MEMBER OR ITS REPRESENTATIVE.

(iii) Exclusion of Certain Members and Their Sharing Ratios. With respect 
to any vote, consent or approval, any Breaching Member or Withdrawn Member (and any 
Representative of such Breaching Member or Withdrawn Member) shall be excluded from such 
decision (as contemplated by Section 10.03(b)), and the Sharing Ratio in respect of Series A 
Membership Interests of such Breaching Member or Withdrawn Member shall be disregarded in 
calculating the voting thresholds in Section 2.02(d)(i). In addition, if any other provision of this 
Agreement (for the avoidance of doubt, including this Schedule I-A) provides that a Supermajority 
Interest is to be calculated without reference to the Sharing Ratio in respect of Series A Membership 
Interests of a particular Series A Management Committee Member, then the applicable voting 
threshold shall be deemed adjusted accordingly. 

(e) Matters Requiring Approval of the Series A Management Committee. 
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, subject to Section 6.05(e) of the Agreement, 
none of the following actions may be taken by, or on behalf of, the Company without first obtaining 
the approval of a Supermajority Interest of the Representatives of the Series A Management 
Committee, solely to the extent such actions relate to the Series A Membership Interests or the 
Mainline Facilities or any other assets of Series A:

(i) entering into, amending in any material respect, or terminating any 
Material Contract, or taking any action that results in a material default under any such Material 
Contract;

(ii) approving any material loans made by the Series or the provision of 
any material financial guarantees by the Series, except to the extent such material loans or material 
financial guarantees have been specifically included in and approved as part of a Construction 
Budget, an Initial Operating Budget, or any subsequent annual Capital Budget or Operating Budget 
that has been approved by the Series A Management Committee;

(iii) placing or permitting any liens or other encumbrances (other than 
Permitted Encumbrances) to exist on the assets related to Series A or the Series A Membership 
Interests; 
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(iv) [***]

(v) [***]

(vi) [***]

(vii) except as otherwise provided in Section 4.01(a)(ii) of the Agreement, 
making a Capital Call or otherwise requiring any Series A Member to make any Capital Contribution 
to Series A, except to the extent such Capital Call or Capital Contribution has been specifically 
included in and approved as part of a Construction Budget, an Initial Operating Budget, or any 
subsequent annual Capital Budget or Operating Budget that has been approved by the Series A 
Management Committee;

(viii) [***]

(ix) [***]

(x) [***]

(xi) [***]

(xii) [***]

(xiii) [***]

(xiv) the formation of any subcommittee of the Series A Management 
Committee pursuant to Section 6.02(f) of the Agreement; 

(xv) the Disposition or abandonment of all or substantially all of the assets 
of Series A, or of the material assets related to the Series A Membership Interests other than any 
Disposition(s) in the ordinary course of business;

(xvi) [***]

(xvii) [***] 

(xviii) [***]

(xix) [***]

(xx) causing any assets, property and/or rights of a Series to be allocated 
to the payment of fines, claims, demands, liabilities, losses or damages of whatsoever kind or 
character, and costs or expenses related thereto, payable to a third party attributable to a different 
Series; 

(xxi) considering at a meeting of the Series A Management Committee a 
material matter not on the agenda for that meeting; and
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(xxii) the commencement, conduct or settlement of any suit, action or 
proceeding or arbitration to the extent related to Series A, in each case to the extent involving in 
excess of $500,000.

For the avoidance of doubt, to the extent the actions set forth in Section 2.02(e) affect more than 
one Series or affect Additional Transportation Facilities, such actions may not be taken unilaterally 
by the Series A Management Committee, notwithstanding the approval of a Supermajority Interest 
of the Representatives of the Series A Management Committee, without the consent of any other 
applicable Additional Series Management Committee to the extent required by the Series Schedule 
applicable to such Series. 

(f) Reasonableness. In any matter proposed to the Series A Management 
Committee pursuant to [***].

(g) Officers. The Series A Management Committee may designate one or more 
Persons to be officers of a Series. Any officers so designated shall have such titles and, subject to 
the other provisions of this Agreement, have such authority and perform such duties as the Series 
A Management Committee may delegate to them and shall serve at the pleasure of the Series A 
Management Committee and report to the Series A Management Committee.

2.03 Insurance Coverage. The Series A Management Committee shall determine the 
type limits, deductibles and other terms applicable to the insurance coverages to be maintained by 
each Series, and such Series shall engage an insurance broker to provide recommendations and to 
procure such insurance coverages on behalf of the Series.

2.04 Delivery of Operating Budget. Unless provided otherwise in the Existing COM 
Agreement, on or prior to [***] of each year, the Existing Operator shall deliver draft annual 
Operating Budget(s) for the Mainline Facility for the following year to each of the Representatives 
of the Series A Management Committee Members, which Representatives will have [***] Days to 
provide comments (the “Series A Comment Deadline”) on such draft annual Operating Budgets 
(such comments, the “Series A Representative Budget Comments”). The Existing Operator shall 
make a good faith effort to respond to, and incorporate into such draft annual Operating Budgets 
prepared by the Existing Operator, the Series A Representative Budget Comments and shall deliver 
to each of such Representatives the final annual Operating Budgets prepared by the Existing Operator 
for the following year on or before [***] (the “Series A December Deadline”) of each year; provided, 
however, that, if the board of directors of the Existing Operator has not convened to approve such 
annual Operating Budgets by [***] of a given year, then the Series A December Deadline shall be 
extended to [***] of such year; provided, further, that, if the meeting of the board of directors of 
the Existing Operator to approve such annual Operating Budgets is scheduled prior to the Series A 
Comment Deadline, the Existing Operator shall promptly notify such Representatives in writing of 
the date and time of such meeting (but no less than [***] Business Days in advance of such meeting), 
and such Representatives shall use reasonable efforts to provide the Series A Representative Budget 
Comments in advance of such meeting. The Existing Operator and such Representatives shall work 
together in good faith to cause the Operating Budgets for the Mainline Facilities to be approved by 
[***] of such year.

2.05 Applicability of Side Letters. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the 
Agreement, the approval of the Series A Management Committee shall be required for any Capital 
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Call issued by an Operator that would otherwise be subject to the terms and provisions of (a) that 
certain letter agreement by and among EQT, USG, Vega Carryco and the Company dated as of 
October 24, 2016, as amended or supplemented from time to time, or (b) that certain letter agreement 
by and among EQT, USG, WGL and the Company, dated as of October 24, 2016, as amended or 
supplemented from time to time.

ARTICLE 3  
[***]

3.01 Definitions. As used in this Article 3, the following terms have the respective 
meanings set forth below:

[***] 

“CECONY” means Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc., a New York 
corporation.

“Con Edison” means Con Edison Gas Pipeline and Storage, LLC, a New York limited 
liability company.

[***] 

[***] 

“EQT Precedent Agreement” means that certain Second Restated Precedent 
Agreement, dated December 20, 2017, between the Company and EQT Energy, LLC, as may be 
amended or otherwise modified from time to time.

[***] 

“Initial Facilities” means those facilities described in clause (a) of the definition of 
Mainline Facilities.

“IPO” means the closing of the first firm commitment underwritten public offering 
and sale of securities of the Company (or any entity or entities created through any reorganization 
or designated by the Series A Management Committee) pursuant to an effective registration 
statement (excluding any registration statement on Form S-4 or S-8 or their equivalent) filed by the 
Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

“Loans” means loans made to the Company with respect to the Series pursuant to 
Section 4.02(a) of the Agreement in respect of the Mainline Facilities.

“Mainline Facilities Expansion” means the expansion of the Mainline Facilities 
pursuant to clauses (b)-(d) in the definition of “Mainline Facilities”. 

“USG Precedent Agreement” means that certain Third Restated Precedent 
Agreement, dated December 20, 2017, between the Company and USG Properties Marcellus 
Holdings, LLC, as may be amended or otherwise modified from time to time.
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3.02 [***].

(a) Subject to the provisions of this Section 3.02, the Company hereby grants to 
[***] the right to [***]. For the avoidance of doubt, [***] of the Agreement. 

(b) The Company shall give written notice ([***] “[***] Notice”) of any [***] 
within five Business Days of the approval of [***]. 

(c) If, within ten Business Days following the receipt of [***] Notice [***] shall 
have the right to [***]. 

(d) The Company may, in accordance with [***]. 

(e) [***] Each party to the [***] shall take all such other actions as may be 
reasonably necessary to [***].

3.03 [***]. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in [***]

[***]

3.04 Management Committee Observer; [***].

(a) Observer. Con Edison shall have the right to designate (i) one Management 
Committee observer (the “Observer”) and (ii) one alternate Management Committee observer (the 
“Alternate Observer”) that shall have the same rights as the Observer in the event that the Observer 
is unable to fulfill its duties as set forth herein. The term “Observer” shall also refer to the Alternate 
Observer when the Alternate Observer is actually performing the duties of the Observer. The initial 
Observer and Alternate Observer are [***] and [***], respectively, which may be changed by Con 
Edison from time to time with three Business Days prior written notice in advance of a meeting to 
the Company and the Series A Founding Members; provided, that if giving such advance notice is 
not feasible, then any new Observer shall present written evidence of his or her authority at the 
commencement of such meeting.

(b) Rights of Observer. The Observer shall have the right to attend and participate 
in meetings of the Series A Management Committee and to receive all information provided to the 
Series A Management Committee (including minutes of the Series A Management Committee 
meetings), [***].

(c) [***]. [***] shall have the right to [***], and the [***] agree to cause [***]. 
Solely to the extent necessary for [***] to exercise its rights under this Section 3.04(c), all provisions 
of this Agreement applicable to [***] of the Series A Management Committee shall be applicable 
to [***].

(d) Notice of Meetings. [***], the Observer shall be entitled to receive notice 
of, and an agenda for, all Series A Management Committee meetings at least five Days prior to the 
date of each meeting, together with proposed minutes of the previous Series A Management 
Committee meeting (if such minutes have not been previously ratified), unless, with respect to 
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special meetings of the Series A Management Committee, such five-Day period is shortened by the 
Series A Management Committee pursuant to Section 2.02(b), in which case the Observer shall be 
entitled to receive notice by such shortened time, which shall in no event be less than one Business 
Day before any special meeting. The Observer shall have the right to participate in all Series A 
Management Committee meetings in accordance with Section 2.02(c) regardless of whether all 
other participants are present at such meeting in person. For the avoidance of doubt, actions taken 
at any meeting where the Observer was not given proper notice shall be null and void; provided, 
that such actions may be reinstated and be of full force and effect if re-authorized by written consent 
of the Series A Management Committee (such consent to be made available to the Observer in 
accordance with Section 3.04(e)).

(e) Action by Written Consent. [***], in the event the Series A Management 
Committee takes any action by written consent pursuant to Section 6.02(g) of the Agreement, the 
Series A Management Committee shall cause to be delivered a copy of such written consent to the 
Observer when sent to the Representatives for execution.

(f) [***]. The provisions of [***] shall apply to [***].

(g) [***]. The provisions of [***] with respect to the [***] shall apply to [***]. 

3.05 [***]. 

(a) [***]. If, [***] EQT and [***] propose to [***] shall be permitted to [***]; 
provided, however, that [***] would not be subject to [***] (unless [***], in which case such 
transaction shall be [***]. For the avoidance of doubt, any transactions pursuant to [***] shall not 
constitute [***].

(b) [***]. Prior to the [***] EQT and/or [***] shall deliver to [***].

(c) [***]. 

(i) [***] shall exercise its right to [***] by delivering [***] does not 
approve [***], then [***] shall not [***].

(ii) If [***] does not [***], then [***] shall be deemed to have [***].

(iii) Each Member [***] shall [***].

(d) [***]. This Section 3.05 shall not apply to [***]. 

3.06 [***].

(a) [***]. If [***] a Member [***] desires to [***], then [***] shall be permitted 
to [***] on the terms and conditions set forth in this Section 3.06. 

(b) [***]. Within [***] Business Days of [***].
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(c) [***]. 

(i) [***] shall [***]. 

(ii) If [***]. 

(iii) Prior to the time the [***]. Promptly following [***]:

(A) such [***] shall [***]; and

(B) the Company shall [***].

3.07 [***].

(a) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the Series A 
Founding Members and the Company agree that [***].

(b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in [***] EQT and [***] agree that 
[***]. 

3.08 [***]. [***] shall have the [***], which shall specifically include [***]. If [***] 
another [***] then [***] shall [***]; provided, however, that nothing herein shall be deemed to 
[***].

3.09 Confidential Information. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this 
Agreement, the Series A Founding Members and the Company agree that Con Edison may disclose 
Confidential Information to an Affiliate of Con Edison, including the directors, officers, members, 
managers, employees, agents and advisors of such Affiliate, if such Affiliate has agreed to abide by 
the terms of Section 3.06 of the Agreement; provided, however, that in no event shall Con Edison 
or any of its successors, assigns or Affiliates disclose Confidential Information to any Shipper that 
is an Affiliate of Con Edison, [***].

3.10 [***]. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the Series A 
Founding Members and the Company hereby agree that [***].

3.11 [***].

(a) If the Company shall [***], the Company shall [***]. The Company shall 
use [***]; provided, that, in the event that the [***]. The Company shall have the right to [***].

(b) In connection with its obligations under this Section 3.11, the Company shall:

(i) [***]; and

(ii) [***] such other actions as are [***].

3.12 [***]. Notwithstanding any provision of the Agreement to the contrary, in the event 
[***] shall have the right [***]; provided that, any [***] shall [***]. Upon such election [***]; 
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provided that [***] shall not [***] and shall not [***], and no [***] shall be [***] as a consequence 
of [***].

3.13 [***]; Assignability; Joinder. None of the Company, a Series, EQT or [***]. EQT 
and USG shall have the right to assign their obligations under this Article 3 without the prior written 
consent of any other Member only in connection with transfer of any Series A Membership Interests 
to a third party [***]. This Article 3 will be binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, the respective 
successors and permitted assigns, as permitted by the terms of this Agreement, of the Members.

3.14 Waivers. None of EQT, USG [***] waives any right under this Article 3 by failure 
or delay in its exercise. A single or partial exercise of any right does not preclude its later or further 
exercise or the exercise of any other right. The rights and remedies in this Agreement are cumulative 
and not exclusive of any rights or remedies provided by law.

3.15 Representations and Warranties. Each of the Company, EQT and USG hereby 
represent and warrant to [***].

3.16 Conflicts. In the event of a conflict between the terms and provisions of this Article 
3 and the other terms and provisions of this Agreement, the terms and provisions of this Article 3
shall govern and control.

3.17 Term. The terms and provisions set forth in this Article 3 shall automatically 
terminate and no longer be a part of this Agreement, without any further action on the part of any 
Person, if [***].

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank. Signature page follows.]
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 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Schedule I-A as of 
the date first set forth above. By executing this Schedule I-A, the undersigned acknowledge that 
this Schedule I-A and the attributes of Series A Membership Interests, and the rights, benefits, 
privileges, obligations, duties and liabilities relating thereto, set forth herein have been duly approved 
and adopted in accordance with the Agreement.

SERIES A MEMBERS:

MVP  HOLDCO, LLC

By: /s/ David W. Gray                                  
Name: David W. Gray
Title:   Senior Vice President

US MARCELLUS GAS
INFRASTRUCTURE, LLC

By: /s/ Matthew J. Schafer                           
Name: Matthew J. Schafer
Title:   Vice President

VEGA NPI IV, LLC

By:                                                                                                                                
Name:                                                                                                                                 
Title:                                                                                                                            

WGL MIDSTREAM, INC.

By: /s/ Anthony M. Nee                                
Name: Anthony M. Nee
Title:   President

RGC MIDSTREAM, LLC

By: /s/ John S. D'Orazio                                
Name: John S. D'Orazio
Title:   President and CEO
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CON EDISON GAS PIPELINE AND
STORAGE, LLC

By: Con Edison Transmission, Inc., its sole
member

By: /s/ Joseph P. Oates                                 
Name: Joseph P. Oates
Title:   President and CEO
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SCHEDULE I-B

SERIES B MEMBERSHIP INTERESTS

Dated as of April 6, 2018

Name, Address, Fax and E-mail

Sharing
Ratio in respect 

of Series B 
Membership 

Interests

Parent Representative and Alternate
Representatives

MVP HOLDCO, LLC

EQT Plaza
625 Liberty Avenue
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15222
Fax: (412) 553-7781
Attention: David Gray
   [***]
   Sean McGinty
   [***]

with a copy to:

Baker Botts L.L.P.
30 Rockefeller Plaza
New York, New York 10112
Fax: (212) 408-2504
Attn: Michael L. Bengtson
   (mike.bengtson@bakerbotts.com)

[***]% [***] [***]

[***]

US MARCELLUS GAS 
INFRASTRUCTURE, LLC

601 Travis Street
Suite 1900
Houston, Texas 77002
Fax: (713) 751-0375
Attention: Lawrence A. Wall, Jr.
   [***]
   

[***]% [***] [***]

[***]

WGL MIDSTREAM, INC.

c/o WGL Holdings, Inc.
101 Constitution Avenue, N.W.
Washington, DC 20080
Fax: (202) 624-6655
Attn: Anthony M. Nee

[***]

[***]% [***] N/A
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RGC MIDSTREAM, LLC

519 Kimball Ave NE
Roanoke, Virginia 24016
Fax: (540) 777-2636
Attn: Paul Nester

[***]

[***]% [***] N/A

CON EDISON GAS PIPELINE AND 
STORAGE, LLC

4 Irving Place
New York, New York 10003
Fax: (917) 534-4476
Attn: Joseph Oates

[***]

[***]% [***] N/A
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The Series B Members acknowledge and agree as follows: 

ARTICLE 1  
GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO SERIES B MEMBERS

1.01 [Intentionally omitted].  

1.02 Facilities. The Facility to which the Series B Membership Interests relate is (a) new 
transportation facilities, together with any upgrades thereto, to be constructed on the Mainline 
Facilities, including a new delivery point in Pittsylvania County, Virginia; (b) new transmission 
pipeline and compression facilities, together with any upgrades thereto, to be constructed from the 
new delivery point in Pittsylvania County, Virginia to planned new delivery points to be established 
in Dan River and Haw River, North Carolina; (c) any pipeline constructed or installed to loop (as 
such term is commonly used in the natural gas pipeline industry) the facilities described in clauses 
(a) or (b) above; (d) any compression installed or upgraded with respect to the facilities described 
in clauses (a) or (b) above; and (e) increased transportation capacity of the facilities described in 
clauses (a) or (b) above through the installation of greater capacity pipe, looping or similar 
improvements (“MVP Southgate”).

1.03 Development of MVP Southgate.

(a) FERC Application. Pursuant to the terms of the COM Agreement relating 
to MVP Southgate, USG, EQT and the applicable Operator shall jointly prepare and submit to the 
Series B Management Committee the proposed ATF FERC Application related to MVP Southgate; 
and, following the approval of the ATF FERC Application by the Series B Management Committee, 
USG, EQT and the applicable Operator shall, on behalf of the Series, file such ATF FERC 
Application with the FERC.

(b) Approval of ATF FERC Certificate. No later than [***] Days prior to the 
applicable ATF FERC Response Date, the Series B Management Committee shall vote on whether 
the ATF FERC Certificate for MVP Southgate is issued on terms and conditions which are not 
materially different from those requested in the ATF FERC Application for MVP Southgate and 
whether the Series shall (i) accept the ATF FERC Certificate for MVP Southgate without seeking 
rehearing; (ii) accept such ATF FERC Certificate and seek rehearing of the order issuing such ATF 
FERC Certificate; (iii) file for rehearing before committing to accept or reject such ATF FERC 
Certificate; or (iv) reject such ATF FERC Certificate. The Series B Management Committee shall 
be deemed to have approved such ATF FERC Certificate for MVP Southgate if the Series B 
Management Committee determines that such certificate is issued on terms and conditions which 
are not materially different from those requested in the ATF FERC Application for MVP Southgate. 
In such event, the Series B Management Committee shall accept such ATF FERC Certificate prior 
to the applicable ATF FERC Response Date with or without seeking rehearing of the order issuing 
the ATF FERC Certificate for MVP Southgate. In such event, subject to the terms of this Schedule 
I-B, including Section 1.02(d), and the Agreement, each Member holding Series B Membership 
Interests (in its capacity as such and not in its capacity as the holder of any other Series of Membership 
Interests, each, a “Series B Member” and, collectively, the “Series B Members”) shall be firmly 
committed to the construction of MVP Southgate and the construction of MVP Southgate shall not 
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be subject to any conditions precedent, including but not limited to Series B Management Committee 
approval of any financial commitment for obtaining funds to finance MVP Southgate or the Series 
B Management Committee approval to construct MVP Southgate.

(c) If the Series B Management Committee finds that the ATF FERC Certificate 
for MVP Southgate is issued on terms and conditions which are materially different from those 
requested in the ATF FERC Application for MVP Southgate and one or more of the Series B Members 
(which must include either USG or EQT or both) vote to accept the order issuing such ATF FERC 
Certificate with or without seeking rehearing and one or more of the Series B Members vote to 
reject the order issuing such ATF FERC Certificate with or without seeking rehearing (or did not 
vote), then the Series B Members that voted to accept such ATF FERC Certificate shall be free to 
proceed with the construction of MVP Southgate under this Agreement (but only if one of EQT or 
USG so elects to proceed), such vote being deemed the requisite vote of the Series B Management 
Committee, and the Series B Member(s) that voted to reject such ATF FERC Certificate shall be 
deemed to have Withdrawn from Series B, with such deemed Withdrawal being considered a 
“Deemed Withdrawal Event” for purposes of Section 10.02(e) of the Agreement. Subject to the 
terms of this Agreement, those Series B Members that elect to proceed with the construction of 
MVP Southgate shall be firmly committed to the construction of MVP Southgate and the 
construction of MVP Southgate shall not be subject to any conditions precedent. In the event no 
Series B Member votes to accept the order issuing the ATF FERC Certificate for MVP Southgate, 
then such vote shall be a Dissolution Event with respect to Series B and Series B shall terminate 
and wind up pursuant to Article 12 of the Agreement. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in 
this Agreement, a deemed Withdrawal pursuant to this Section 1.03(c) of this Schedule I-B shall 
carry no connotation or implication that the Withdrawn Member has breached this Agreement or 
otherwise acted contrary to the intent of this Agreement, it being understood that (i) each Series B 
Member is completely free to cast its vote as it wishes with respect to the matters set forth in this 
Section 1.03(c) of this Schedule I-B and (ii) the concept of “deemed Withdrawal” is merely a 
convenient technique for permitting the continued development of MVP Southgate by the Series 
B Members that desire to continue such development.

1.04 Performance Assurances. Each Series B Member shall deliver, or cause to be 
delivered on such Series B Member’s behalf, to the Series:

(a) Within [***] Business Days of the Effective Date (or, with respect to a New 
Member admitted after the Effective Date and prior to the In-Service Date with respect to MVP 
Southgate, within [***] Business Days of such admission), for the period up to the issuance of the 
FERC’s initial release to the Series to commence construction pursuant to the ATF FERC Certificate 
with respect to MVP Southgate (the “Southgate Initial Release”), Performance Assurances equal 
to such Member’s share of $[***] (calculated based on such Member’s Sharing Ratio in respect of 
Series B Membership Interests); and

(b) Within 10 Business Days of the date of the Southgate Initial Release (or, with 
respect to a New Member admitted after the date of the Southgate Initial Release, within 10 Business 
Days of such admission), for the period following the Southgate Initial Release and up to the In-
Service Date for MVP Southgate, Performance Assurances equal to [***]% of an amount equal to 
such Member’s Sharing Ratio in respect of Series B Membership Interests multiplied by the 
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remaining obligations under the applicable Construction Budget and less any security posted by 
such Member, or Member’s Affiliate, under any Approved Precedent Agreement).

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 1.04, at no time prior to the In-Service 
Date for MVP Southgate will a Series B Member’s Performance Assurance obligation be less than 
such Series B Member’s share of $[***] (calculated based on such Member’s Sharing Ratio in 
respect of Series B Membership Interests). The Performance Assurances posted by a Member 
pursuant to this Schedule I-B shall be reduced (A) at the end of each Quarter, to reflect [***]% of 
such Member’s actual Capital Contributions made to the Company during such Quarter in respect 
of the Series B Membership Interests, (B) to reflect any Performance Assurances posted by any 
New Members holding Series B Membership Interests, and (C) in connection with a Disposition 
of all or a portion of such Member’s Series B Membership Interest, to reflect the replacement 
Performance Assurances to be posted by the Assignee of such Series B Membership Interest pursuant 
to this Schedule I-B.

1.05 Amendment of this Series Schedule. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in 
the Agreement and except as otherwise agreed in writing, this Schedule I-B may only be amended 
by a Supermajority Interest of the Representatives of the Series B Management Committee; 
provided, however, any amendment or restatement of this Schedule I-B that is materially adverse 
to any Series B Member in a manner that is disproportionate to such Series B Member’s interest 
(as compared to the interest of other Series B Members) shall (a) if the affected Member is a Series 
B Founding Member, require the written consent or approval of such Series B Founding Member; 
or (b) if the affected Member is not a Series B Founding Member, require the written consent or 
approval of a majority of all Series B Members similarly adversely affected.

1.06 Interpretation. Unless the context otherwise requires, as used in this Schedule I-
B, (a) references to Articles and Section refer to the Articles and Sections of this Schedule I-B and 
(b) capitalized terms not otherwise defined in this Schedule I-B have the meanings given to such 
terms in the Agreement.

1.07 [Intentionally omitted].  

1.08 Series B Founding Members. The Founding Members with respect to Series B 
shall be EQT, USG and any other Person who EQT and USG mutually agree should be a Founding 
Member with respect to Series B (the “Series B Founding Members”).

1.09 COM Matters. The COM Agreement applicable to Series B shall be that certain 
Construction, Operation and Management Agreement, dated as of the date hereof (as amended from 
time to time, the “Series B COM Agreement”), by and between Series B and the Existing Operator. 
The Owner Performance Rights with respect to Series B shall be those matters set forth in Section 
4.4 of the Series B COM Agreement and the COM Approval Matters with respect to Series B shall 
be those matters described in the Series B COM Agreement.

1.10 [Intentionally omitted].  
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ARTICLE 2  
GOVERNANCE PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO SERIES B MEMBERS

2.01 General. Subject to Section 6.03 of the Agreement, with respect to matters relating 
to Series B, management is fully vested in the Series B Founding Members as set forth in 
Section 2.02. The Series B Management Committee shall be comprised of one Representative for 
each Series B Founding Member, which Representative shall have a vote equal to the designating 
Series B Founding Member’s Sharing Ratio in respect of Series B Membership Interests (each 
Series B Founding Member entitled to participate in the Series B Management Committee at a given 
time, a “Series B Management Committee Member”). To facilitate the orderly and efficient 
management of Series B, the Series B Founding Members’ Representatives shall act (a) collectively 
as a “committee of the whole” pursuant to Section 2.02, and (b) through the delegation of certain 
duties and authority to the Operator under the Series B COM Agreement.

2.02 Management Committee. The Series B Founding Members shall act collectively 
through meetings as a “committee of the whole,” which is hereby named the “Series B Management 
Committee.” Except as expressly set forth in the Agreement, the Series B Management Committee 
shall have voting rights only with respect to matters that are solely and exclusively related to Series 
B or MVP Southgate and shall not have any voting rights with respect to matters that affect one or 
more Series. Decisions or actions taken by the Series B Management Committee in accordance 
with the provisions of this Schedule I-B and the Agreement shall constitute decisions or actions by 
the Company and each Series and shall be binding on each Member, Representative, and employee 
of the Company and each Series, subject to any other approvals required under the Agreement and 
any other Series Schedule. The Series B Management Committee shall conduct its affairs in 
accordance with the following provisions and the other provisions of this Agreement:

(a) Representatives. To facilitate the orderly and efficient conduct of Series B 
Management Committee meetings, each Series B Management Committee Member (together with 
its Affiliates, if applicable) shall notify the other Series B Management Committee Member(s), 
from time to time, of the identity of (A) its Representative, and (B) at least one, but not more than 
two, Alternate Representatives. [***] The initial Representative and Alternate Representatives of 
each Series B Management Committee Member are set forth above in this Schedule I-B. A Series 
B Management Committee Member may designate a different Representative or Alternate 
Representatives for any meeting of the Series B Management Committee by notifying the other 
Series B Management Committee Member(s) at least [***] Business Days prior to the scheduled 
date for such meeting; provided that, if giving such advance notice is not feasible, then such new 
Representative or Alternate Representatives shall present written evidence of his or her authority 
at the commencement of such meeting.

(b) Time and Place of Meetings. The Series B Management Committee shall 
meet quarterly, subject to more or less frequent meetings upon approval of the Series B Management 
Committee. Notice of, and an agenda for, all Series B Management Committee meetings shall be 
provided by the Representatives to all Series B Founding Members at least five Days prior to the 
date of each meeting, together with proposed minutes of the previous Series B Management 
Committee meeting (if such minutes have not been previously ratified). Among other items, the 
agenda will provide for a discussion of (i) the results of operations, including explanations of 
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significant variances in revenues, expenses and cash flow activities and (ii) amounts due for 
contractual obligations that will impact Available Cash. Special meetings of the Series B 
Management Committee may be called at such times, and in such manner, as any Series B 
Management Committee Member reasonably deems necessary. Any Series B Management 
Committee Member calling for any such special meeting shall notify the Representatives, who in 
turn shall notify all Series B Management Committee Members of the date and agenda for such 
meeting at least five Days prior to the date of such meeting. Such five-Day period may be shortened 
by the Series B Management Committee, acting through a Supermajority Interest. All meetings of 
the Series B Management Committee shall be held at a location agreed upon by the Representatives. 
Attendance of a Representative of a Series B Management Committee Member at a meeting of the 
Series B Management Committee shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except where 
such Representative attends the meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of 
any business on the ground that the meeting is not lawfully called or convened.

(c) Quorum. The presence of Representative(s) of Series B Management 
Committee Members representing a Supermajority Interest shall constitute a quorum for the 
transaction of business at any meeting of the Series B Management Committee; provided, that for 
any matter set forth in Section 2.02(e) of this Schedule I-B, the presence of Representatives of Series 
B Management Committee Members necessary to action pursuant thereto shall be required for a 
quorum to be present. 

(d) Voting.

(i) Voting by Sharing Ratios. Subject to Section 2.02(f) and Section 
6.05(e) of the Agreement, each Representative shall be entitled to vote on all matters submitted to 
a vote of the Series B Management Committee in accordance with the respective Sharing Ratio in 
respect of Series B Membership Interests of the Series B Management Committee Member that 
designated such Representative. Except for matters set forth in Section 2.02(e), (A) the approval 
of [***] the Representatives comprising the Series B Management Committee will be necessary 
for the approval of any and all actions submitted to the Series B Management Committee and (B) 
no vote shall be required for matters delegated to the Operator pursuant to the Series B COM 
Agreement. 

(ii) DISCLAIMER OF DUTIES. WITH RESPECT TO ANY VOTE, 
CONSENT OR APPROVAL AT ANY MEETING OF THE SERIES B MANAGEMENT 
COMMITTEE OR OTHERWISE UNDER THIS AGREEMENT, EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT 
OTHERWISE EXPRESSLY PROVIDED IN SECTION 2.02(f) AND SECTION 6.05(e) OF THE 
AGREEMENT, EACH REPRESENTATIVE MAY GRANT OR WITHHOLD SUCH VOTE, 
CONSENT OR APPROVAL IN ITS SOLE DISCRETION. THE PROVISIONS OF THIS 
SECTION 2.02(d)(ii) SHALL APPLY NOTWITHSTANDING THE NEGLIGENCE, GROSS 
NEGLIGENCE, WILLFUL MISCONDUCT, STRICT LIABILITY OR OTHER FAULT OR 
RESPONSIBILITY OF A SERIES A MEMBER OR ITS REPRESENTATIVE.

(iii) Exclusion of Certain Members and Their Sharing Ratios. With respect 
to any vote, consent or approval, any Breaching Member or Withdrawn Member (and any 
Representative of such Breaching Member or Withdrawn Member) shall be excluded from such 
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decision (as contemplated by Section 10.03(b)), and the Sharing Ratio in respect of Series B 
Membership Interests of such Breaching Member or Withdrawn Member shall be disregarded in 
calculating the voting thresholds in Section 2.02(d)(i). In addition, if any other provision of this 
Agreement (for the avoidance of doubt, including this Schedule I-B) provides that a Supermajority 
Interest is to be calculated without reference to the Sharing Ratio in respect of Series B Membership 
Interests of a particular Series B Management Committee Member, then the applicable voting 
threshold shall be deemed adjusted accordingly. 

(e) Special Approval Matters. Notwithstanding any other provision of this 
Agreement, none of the following actions may be taken by, or on behalf of, the Company without 
first obtaining the approval of the Representatives of the Series B Management Committee Members 
holding at least [***]% of the Sharing Ratios in respect of Series B Membership Interests held by 
all Series B Management Committee Members:

(i) entering into, amending in any material respect, or terminating any 
Material Contract relating to MVP Southgate, or taking any action that results in a material default 
under any such Material Contract;

(ii) approving any material loans made by the Series or the provision of 
any material financial guarantees by the Series, except to the extent such material loans or material 
financial guarantees have been specifically included in and approved as part of a Construction 
Budget, an Initial Operating Budget, or any subsequent annual Capital Budget or Operating Budget 
that has been approved by the Series B Management Committee;

(iii) placing or permitting any liens or other encumbrances (other than 
Permitted Encumbrances) to exist on the assets of the Series relating to MVP Southgate; 

(iv) [***]

(v) [***]

(vi) [***]

(vii) except as otherwise provided in Section 4.01(a)(ii) of the Agreement, 
making a Capital Call or otherwise requiring any Series B Member to make any Capital Contribution 
to Series B, except to the extent such Capital Call or Capital Contribution has been specifically 
included in and approved as part of a Construction Budget, an Initial Operating Budget, or any 
subsequent annual Capital Budget or Operating Budget that has been approved by the Series B 
Management Committee;

(viii) [***]

(ix) [***]

(x) [***]

(xi) [***]
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(xii) [***]

(xiii) [***]

(xiv) the formation of any subcommittee of the Series B Management 
Committee pursuant to Section 6.02(f) of the Agreement; 

(xv) the Disposition or abandonment of all or substantially all of the assets 
of Series B, or of the material assets related to the Series B Membership Interests other than any 
Disposition(s) in the ordinary course of business;

(xvi) [***]

(xvii) [***]

(xviii) [***]

(xix) [***] 

(xx) considering at a meeting of the Series B Management Committee a 
material matter not on the agenda for that meeting;

(xxi) commencement, conduct or settlement of any suit, action or 
proceeding or arbitration to the extent related to Series B, in each case to the extent involving in 
excess of $500,000;

(xxii) making any material tax elections or any material decisions relating 
to material tax returns pertaining only to Series B, as determined in the reasonable judgment of the 
Series B Operator, acting in good faith; and

(xxiii) any approval, determination or finding by the Series B Management 
Committee pursuant to Sections 1.03(a) or (b) of this Schedule I-B.

(f) Reasonableness. In any matter proposed to the Series B Management 
Committee pursuant to [***].

2.03 Delivery of Operating Budget. Unless provided otherwise in the Series B COM 
Agreement, on or prior to [***] of each year, the Operator under the Series B COM Agreement 
shall deliver draft annual Operating Budget(s) for Series B for the following year to each of the 
Representatives of the Series B Management Committee Members, which Representatives will 
have [***] Days to provide comments (the “Series B Comment Deadline”) on such draft annual 
Operating Budgets (such comments, the “Series B Representative Budget Comments”). Such 
Operator shall make a good faith effort to respond to, and incorporate into such draft annual Operating 
Budgets prepared by such Operator, the Series B Representative Budget Comments and shall deliver 
to each of such Representatives the final annual Operating Budgets prepared by such Operator for 
the following year on or before [***] (the “Series B December Deadline”) of each year; provided, 
however, that, if the board of directors of such Operator has not convened to approve such annual 
Operating Budgets by [***] of a given year, then the Series B December Deadline shall be extended 
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to [***] of such year; provided, further, that, if the meeting of the board of directors of such Operator 
to approve such annual Operating Budgets is scheduled prior to the Series B Comment Deadline, 
such Operator shall promptly notify such Representatives in writing of the date and time of such 
meeting (but no less than [***] Business Days in advance of such meeting), and such Representatives 
shall use reasonable efforts to provide the Series B Representative Budget Comments in advance 
of such meeting. The Operator under the Series B COM Agreement and such Representatives shall 
work together in good faith to cause the Operating Budget for Series B to be approved by [***] of 
such year.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank. Signature page follows.]
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 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Schedule I-B as of 
the date first set forth above. By executing this Schedule I-B, the undersigned acknowledge that 
this Schedule I-B and the attributes of Series B Membership Interests, and the rights, benefits, 
privileges, obligations, duties and liabilities relating thereto, set forth herein have been duly approved 
and adopted in accordance with the Agreement.

SERIES B MEMBERS:

MVP  HOLDCO, LLC

By: /s/ David W. Gray                                    
Name: David W. Gray
Title:   Senior Vice President

US MARCELLUS GAS
INFRASTRUCTURE, LLC

By: /s/ Matthew J. Schafer                             
Name: Matthew J. Schafer
Title:   Vice President

RGC MIDSTREAM, LLC

By: /s/ John S. D'Orazio                                 
Name: John S. D'Orazio
Title:   President and CEO

CON EDISON GAS PIPELINE AND
STORAGE, LLC

By: Con Edison Transmission, Inc., its sole
member

By: /s/ Joseph P. Oates                                  
Name: Joseph P. Oates
Title:   President and CEO
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Exhibit 10.2
GUARANTY

THIS GUARANTY (this “Guaranty”), dated as April 20, 2018 (the “Effective Date”), is made by 
RGC RESOURCES, INC. (“Guarantor”), in favor of MOUNTAIN VALLEY PIPELINE, LLC, 
SERIES B (“Company” or “Series B”).  

RECITALS:

A. WHEREAS, RGC MIDSTREAM, LLC (the “Obligor”), each other member of the 
Company (“Other Member(s)”) and the Company have entered into that certain Third 
Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Mountain Valley Pipeline, 
LLC, dated as of April 6, 2015 (the “LLC Agreement”), and Schedule I-B thereto, dated 
April 6, 2018 (together with the LLC Agreement, the “Agreement”), whereby Obligor and 
Other Member(s) each became members of the Company (and any term defined in the 
Agreement and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to it in the 
Agreement); 

B. WHEREAS, Obligor is required to provide performance assurance to the Company to secure 
Obligor’s Series B Obligations (defined below);

C. WHEREAS, Guarantor is a Qualified Guarantor as of the Effective Date and has agreed to 
issue this Guaranty in order to fulfill Obligor’s obligations under the Agreement; and

D. WHEREAS, Guarantor will directly or indirectly benefit from the Agreement among the 
Company, Obligor and Other Member(s).

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing premises and as an inducement for 
Company’s execution, delivery and performance of the Agreement, and for other good and valuable 
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, Guarantor hereby 
agrees for the benefit of the Company as follows:

*  *    *

1. GUARANTY.  Subject to the terms and provisions hereof, Guarantor hereby absolutely 
and irrevocably guarantees the timely payment of the “Series B Obligations,” with such 
term to mean, with respect to the period from the date hereof to the date of the Southgate 
Initial Release or until this Guaranty is earlier terminated pursuant to Section 8 hereof, 
Obligor’s obligations to make Capital Contributions to the Company under the Agreement, 
subject to a limit equal to $153,000.00 in the aggregate for all such Capital Contributions 
(the “Aggregate Limit”), which Aggregate Limit, without further action of the Company 
or Guarantor, shall be automatically reduced (i) to reflect any Performance Assurances 
posted by any New Members of Series B and (ii) in connection with a Disposition of all or 
a portion of Obligor’s Membership Interest in Series B, to reflect the replacement 
Performance Assurances to be posted by the Assignee of such Series B Membership Interest.  
In no event shall Guarantor be subject hereunder to consequential, exemplary, indirect, 
incidental, special, or punitive damages howsoever arising under this Guaranty.
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2. DEMANDS AND PAYMENT.  

a. If Obligor fails to pay any Series B Obligation to the Company when such Series B 
Obligation is due and owing under the Agreement (an “Overdue Obligation”), the 
Company may present a written demand to Guarantor calling for Guarantor’s 
payment of such Overdue Obligation pursuant to this Guaranty (a “Payment 
Demand”). 

b. Guarantor’s obligation hereunder to pay any particular Overdue Obligation(s) to the 
Company is conditioned upon Guarantor’s receipt of a Payment Demand from the 
Company satisfying the following requirements: (i) such Payment Demand must 
identify the specific Overdue Obligation(s) covered by such demand and the specific 
date(s) upon which such Overdue Obligation(s) became due and owing under the 
Agreement; (ii) such Payment Demand must be delivered to Guarantor in accordance 
with Section 9 below; and (iii) the specific Overdue Obligation(s) addressed by such 
Payment Demand must remain due and unpaid at the time of such delivery to 
Guarantor.  

c. After issuing a Payment Demand in accordance with the requirements specified in 
Section 2(b) above, the Company shall not be required to issue any further notices 
or make any further demands with respect to the Overdue Obligation(s) specified in 
that Payment Demand, and Guarantor shall be required to make payment with respect 
to the Overdue Obligation(s) specified in that Payment Demand within five (5) 
Business Days after Guarantor receives such demand unless the Obligor pays such 
Series B Obligation within such period.

3. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES.  Guarantor represents and warrants that:

a. It is a corporation duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia and has the organizational power and authority to 
execute, deliver and carry out the terms and provisions of the Guaranty; 

b. No authorization, approval, consent or order of, or registration or filing with, any 
court or other governmental body having jurisdiction over Guarantor is required on 
the part of Guarantor for the execution and delivery of this Guaranty; and

c. This Guaranty constitutes a valid and legally binding agreement of Guarantor, 
enforceable against Guarantor in accordance with the terms hereof, except as the 
enforceability thereof may be limited by the effect of any applicable bankruptcy, 
insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws affecting creditors' rights 
generally and by general principles of equity.
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4. RESERVATION OF CERTAIN DEFENSES.  Without limiting Guarantor’s own defenses 
and rights hereunder, Guarantor reserves to itself all rights, setoffs, counterclaims and other 
defenses to which the applicable Obligor is or may be entitled arising from or out of the 
Agreement, except for defenses (if any) based upon the bankruptcy, insolvency, dissolution 
or liquidation of such Obligor or any lack of power or authority of such Obligor to enter 
into and/or perform the Agreement.

5. AMENDMENT OF GUARANTY.  No term or provision of this Guaranty shall be 
amended, modified, altered, waived or supplemented except in a writing signed by Guarantor 
and the Company.

6. WAIVERS AND CONSENTS.  Subject to and in accordance with the terms and provisions 
of this Guaranty:

a. Except as required in Section 2 above, Guarantor hereby waives (i) notice of 
acceptance of this Guaranty; (ii) presentment and demand concerning the liabilities 
of Guarantor; and (iii) any right to require that any action or proceeding be brought 
against Obligor or any other person, or to require that the Company seek enforcement 
of any performance against Obligor or any other person, prior to any action against 
Guarantor under the terms hereof.

b. No delay by the Company in the exercise of (or failure by the Company to exercise) 
any rights hereunder shall operate as a waiver of such rights, a waiver of any other 
rights or a release of Guarantor from its obligations hereunder (with the 
understanding, however, that the foregoing shall not be deemed to constitute a waiver 
by Guarantor of any rights or defenses which Guarantor may at any time have 
pursuant to or in connection with any applicable statutes of limitation).

c. Without notice to or the consent of Guarantor, and without impairing or releasing 
Guarantor’s obligations under this Guaranty, the Company may: (i) subject to the 
Aggregate Limit, change the manner, place or terms for payment of all or any of the 
Series B Obligations (including renewals, extensions or other alterations of the Series 
B Obligations); (ii) release Obligor or any person (other than Guarantor) from 
liability for payment of all or any of the Series B Obligations; or (iii) receive, 
substitute, surrender, exchange or release any collateral or other security for any or 
all of the Series B Obligations.

7. REINSTATEMENT.  Guarantor agrees that this Guaranty shall continue to be effective or 
shall be reinstated, as the case may be, if all or any part of any payment made hereunder is 
at any time avoided or rescinded or must otherwise be restored or repaid by the Company 
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as a result of the bankruptcy or insolvency of the Obligor, all as though such payments had 
not been made.

8. TERMINATION.  This Guaranty and the Guarantor’s obligations hereunder will terminate 
automatically and immediately on the earlier to occur of (i) the date of the Southgate Initial 
Release, and (ii) the date that is two years after the Effective Date.

9. NOTICE.  Any Payment Demand, notice, request, instruction, correspondence or other 
document to be given hereunder (herein collectively called “Notice”) by the Company to 
Guarantor, or by Guarantor to the Company, as applicable, shall be in writing and may be 
delivered either by (i) U.S. certified mail with postage prepaid and return receipt requested, 
or (ii) recognized nationwide courier service with delivery receipt requested, in either case 
to be delivered to the following address (or to such other U.S. address as may be specified 
via Notice provided by Guarantor or the Company, as applicable, to the other in accordance 
with the requirements of this Section 9):

TO GUARANTOR: TO COMPANY:
RGC Resources, Inc.
519 Kimball Avenue NE
Roanoke, Virginia 24016
Attn: Paul Nester
Phone: 540-777-3837

Mountain Valley Pipeline, LLC, Series B
c/o MVP Holdco, LLC
EQT Plaza
625 Liberty Avenue
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15222
Attn: David Gray
Phone: (412) 553-5700

[Tel: (540) 777-3853 -- for use in connection 
with courier deliveries]

[Tel: (412) 553--7781 for use in connection 
with courier deliveries]

Any Notice given in accordance with this Section 9 will (i) if delivered during the recipient's normal 
business hours on any given Business Day, be deemed received by the designated recipient on such 
date, and (ii) if not delivered during the recipient's normal business hours on any given Business 
Day, be deemed received by the designated recipient at the start of the recipient's normal business 
hours on the next Business Day after such delivery. 

10. MISCELLANEOUS. 
 

a. Article 11 and Section 13.07 of the Agreement are incorporated herein and apply to 
this Guaranty as if it was the “Agreement” referenced therein, mutatis mutandis. 
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b. This Guaranty shall be binding upon Guarantor and its successors and permitted 
assigns and inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the Company and its 
successors and permitted assigns.  Guarantor may not assign this Guaranty in part 
or in whole without the prior written consent of the Company.  The Company may 
not assign its rights or benefits under this Guaranty in part or in whole without the 
prior written consent of Guarantor. 

c. This Guaranty embodies the entire agreement and understanding between Guarantor 
and the Company and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings relating 
to the subject matter hereof; provided, that for the avoidance of doubt, this Guaranty 
does not replace, modify or supersede any guaranty made in respect of the Mainline 
Facilities (as defined in the Agreement).  

d. The headings in this Guaranty are for purposes of reference only and shall not affect 
the meaning hereof.  Words importing the singular number hereunder shall include 
the plural number and vice versa, and any pronouns used herein shall be deemed to 
cover all genders.  The term "person" as used herein means any individual, 
corporation, partnership, joint venture, limited liability company, association, joint-
stock company, trust, unincorporated association, or government (or any agency or 
political subdivision thereof).

e. Wherever possible, any provision in this Guaranty which is prohibited or 
unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective only 
to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the 
remaining provisions hereof, and any such prohibition or unenforceability in any 
one jurisdiction shall not invalidate or render unenforceable such provision in any 
other jurisdiction.

f. Guarantor agrees that it shall have no right of subrogation against Obligor, or 
otherwise directly hold any Membership Interest, in each case arising from 
Guarantor’s performance of any Series B Obligation.  By its acceptance of this 
Guaranty, the Company agrees that any performance of any Series B Obligation by 
Guarantor shall, for all purposes as between the Company, the Company and the 
Members, be deemed performance by Obligor; and Guarantor agrees that any 
performance of any Series B Obligation by Guarantor shall, for all purposes as 
between Guarantor, Obligor and all Persons Controlled by Guarantor, be considered 
a Capital Contribution of the entire amount by Guarantor through one or more 
Persons Controlled by Guarantor and ultimately to Obligor. 



Series B Guaranty (RGC)

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Guarantor has executed this Guaranty on April 20, 2018, but it is 
effective as of the Effective Date.

RGC RESOURCES, INC.

By: /s/ John S. D'Orazio                       

Name: John S. D'Orazio                       
Title: President and CEO                      



RGC RESOURCES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, John S. D'Orazio, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of RGC Resources, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a 
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements 
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly 
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, 
and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls 
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial 
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in 
which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial 
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report 
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period 
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred 
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) 
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial 
reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control 
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or 
persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over 
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, 
summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role 
in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 7, 2018   /s/ John S. D'Orazio  

  President and Chief Executive Officer  

  (Principal Executive Officer)  



RGC RESOURCES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Paul W. Nester, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of RGC Resources, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a 
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements 
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly 
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, 
and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls 
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial 
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in 
which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial 
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report 
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period 
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred 
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) 
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial 
reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control 
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or 
persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over 
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, 
summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role 
in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 7, 2018   /s/ Paul W. Nester  

 
Vice President, Secretary, Treasurer

and Chief Financial Officer  

  (Principal Financial Officer)  



RGC RESOURCES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of RGC Resources, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended 
March 31, 2018 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, John S. D'Orazio, 
President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify to my knowledge, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted 
pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; 
and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result 
of operations of the Company.

/s/ John S. D'Orazio
John S. D'Orazio
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: May 7, 2018



RGC RESOURCES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of RGC Resources, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended 
March 31, 2018 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Paul W. Nester, 
Vice President, Secretary, Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify to my knowledge, pursuant to 18 
U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; 
and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result 
of operations of the Company.

/s/ Paul W. Nester
Paul W. Nester
Vice President, Secretary, Treasurer
and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: May 7, 2018
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